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Enthusiasm for the future of our business grew steadily
throughout 2005. By year's end, that enthusiasm was bolstered
by confidence that the strategy we have been driving for the

last five years had, indeed, brought Engelhard to the threshold of
anew era of significant earnings growth.

As we had communicated, 2006 would be the inflection point
of our overall strategic growth plan.

Others saw the value building in Engelhard and came to share
our view that our investments in both organic growth initiatives and
strategic acquisitions were about to pay off. Among them

was the Germany-based chemical company BASF AG, which
made an unsolicited proposal to acquire control of the company
at a price of $37 per share.

On January 23, 2006, Engelhard’s Board of Directors rejected
BASF’s unsolicited tender offer as being inadequate and
opportunistic and authorized your management team to explore
strategic alternatives, including sale of the company, to

seek to maximize shareholder value. As of this writing, that
process continues.

To fully appreciate the enthusiasm over the future of our business,
it helps to look back over where we've been. That reveals the
implementation of a strategy to transform our enterprise based

“on adifferent idea of what Engelhard truly is — and, even more

a

o

important, all it can be.

In October of 2000, we began a change process. Roughly three
months later, in February of 2001, we communicated a new
strategic context for Engelhard:

We are a surface and materials science company - those are our
core competencies;

Propelied by the strategic context of being technology based and
market driven;

Enabled by ingenuity;

Enhanced by a passion for productivity; and

LLeveraged through a seamlessly integrated, decentralized
operating culture.

Strategically, that is who we are. That defines the
Engelhard brand.

Implementing any change in strategy or culture is difficult.
Driving such a shift in the market cycle that greeted us in 2001
was an extraordinary challenge, but the organization was
committed and the new direction proved itself by enabling us to
neutralize the impact of a prolonged industry down cycle.

Coincident with that strategic direction, we focused on a more
balanced financial discipline. As a result, we:
= Increased our free cash flow from a traditional $40 million to
$50 million per year to comfortably more than $100 million per vear;
= Reinstituted share-buy-back initiatives and, with continued
support from our Board of Directors, stayed ahead of dilution and
moderately reduced share count;
= Raised our dividend twice in the past few years;
= Strengthened our balance sheet with our debt-to-capital ratio
remaining around 30%; and
invested significantly in both research and development and
strategic bolt-on acquisitions.

Our strategic focus has been to leverage our core competencies
in surface and materials science seamlessly across the
enterprise and to expand our served-market base. We drive
that technology by being technology based and market driven,
and we make it sustainable through a passion for productivity.

The rationale behind our strategic context is simple - growth.
Early in this process, we performed a critical self assessment.
it was apparent that some legacy served markets — such as
paper and petrochemicals — are cyclical and exhibit fundamental
market growth below our expectations. Some of our businesses
were too narrowly defined to meet our expectations, while others
were simply inconsistent with our strategic direction.

Driving our competencies in surface and materials science into new
applications and markets is a vehicle to alter the historical
growth profile of aur portfolio, neutralize cyclicality and open new
pathways for growth. Engelhard has a commonality of assets,
technologies and capabilities that enable us to create market
opportunities and value across business units.

As we refined and executed this strategic context, it became
apparent that our Materials Services business provided value
leverage. However, our legacy position in precious metal fabrication
was inconsistent with our growing competencies. We exited
several such fabrication businesses and, in 2005, shut down
manufacturing operations in Carteret, N.J,

Excluding metal value, those units totaled more than $300 million
in revenues and contributed $14 million in earnings before
income taxes at their peak. They are gone, but we invested the
proceeds from their sale in higher-margin businesses.

On the growth side, we identified technology and market
opportunities, which we consotidated into 15 key platforms. Then,
to enhance focus, we created a hierarchy of growth initiatives.



Today, diesel-emission control, energy and fuel materials,
personal care and cosmetics, separations, and polymers are
initiatives from those platforms that have achieved critical
mass. You can read more about these areas in the special section
that follows this letter.

Last year, we continued to meet our commitment to deliver balanced
financial resuits and enhance shareholder value. In 2005, we:

= Generated free cash flow in excess of $100 million (after dividends -

and before a voluntary pension contribution) despite increased
working capital demands, higher capital spending and a one-cent-
per-share dividend increase;

= Delivered 7% earnings growth despite the six-cent-per-share
negative impact resulting from the liguidation of the former
Engethard-CLAL joint venture’s assets in 2004, higher natural gas
costs and the impact of a severe and prolonged hurricane season;

= Maintained our return on invested capital at 13%, wellin
excess of our weighted cost of capital, and delivered a return
on average equity of 17%;

= Maintained 13% operating margins in our technology segments; and

= Generated more than $200 million in sales from new technologies.

From an operations perspective, strong technology positions
and an intense focus on productivity supported earnings growth in
most markets. Let me give you just a few examples of operating
accomplishments in 2005 and their longer-term influence on value.

In Environmental Technologies, we:

= Expanded capacity in China and continued to work with our joint
venture partners in other parts of Asia to improve Engelhard’s
position in that rapidly growing region of the world;

- Became the first supplier to commercialize palladium-containing
catalyst technology for light-duty diesel applications;

= Continued to leverage our global automotive catalyst position
as gains in the European diesel markets more than offset softness
in North American gasoline markets; and

= Demonstrated strong performance in heavy-duty diesel OEM
markets as our investments over the past few years continued to
drive results.

in Process Technologies, we:

= Increased our fluid cracking catalyst (FCC) output to meet
increased demand for high-yield, premium catalysts based on
our revolutionary DMS technology platform;

= Commercialized our next generation FCC technology, NaphthaMax 1,
further enhancing Engelhard’s technology leadership in this market;

= Acquired the operations of Nanjing Chemical Industry Corporation
(NCIC), expanding our technology offering to the world energy and
chemical-process markets and increasing our presence in Ching;
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= Expanded our Fischer-Tropsch gas-to-liquids technology lead
and added syngas capability from NCIC to our growing gas-based
energy and fuels portfolio; and

= Commercialized polyethylene catalyst technology, providing growth
leverage to our existing capabilities in polypropylene.

In Appearance and Performance Technologies, we:

« Completed and successfully integrated the acquisition of
Coletica, S.A., broadening the operating platform and market
reach of our personal care materials business; and

= Redirected our assets in Middle Georgia to higher-margin specialty
kaolin and petroleum-refining catalyst markets.

And, through our Ventures group, we:

= Acquired Almatis AC, expanding the company’s technology portfolio
to include catalyst supports and alumina-based adsorbents
and desiccants; and

= Secured customer commitments for our new proppants plant
scheduled to start up in the second half of this year. Part of
Engelhard’s expanding play in energy and fuel materials, proppants
improve the productivity of oil and gas wells.

These are just a few examples of short-term successes in 2005
that we expect will deliver long-term vaiue to our shareholders.

Looking ahead, our business plan calls for double-digit earnings
growth from our technology segments, strong free cash flow
generation and a 13% return on invested capital in 2008. We expect
balanced performance across our technology segments and
ongoing pricing and productivity initiatives to provide a strong
underlying financial base over our five-year business plan period.

In the 2006 — 2010 timeframe, our business plan, developedin
August of 2005, calls for earnings per share growth of approximately
16%, revenue growth of 8% per year, more than 300 basis points of
operating margin improvement, cumulative free cash flow of well
more than $500 million and return on invested capital of 14% to 15%.

Numbers like these fuel our excitement and optimism, and,
we hope, yours as well. For these numbers translate into value -
and wealth — for you, our shareholders.

Sincerely,

Barry W. Perry
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 24, 2006
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Cleaner Alr

You probably know Engelhard as a pioneer of clean air technology. In 1975,
we introduced the first catalytic converter for gasoline engines. But you may not know
about our multi-million-dollar investment in new diesel emission-control technology.

Diesel engines run more efficiently than their gasoline counterparts,
but they generate more pollution. The soot and harmful gases untreated diesels emit
have become prime targets for increasingly stringent air quality regulations
worldwide, From Boston to Berlin to Beijing, and many places in between, a growing
number of truck and automakers are turning to Engelhard to help them deliver
cleaner burning, more fuel-efficient performance.

This year alone, for example, European regulations are calling for a
30% reduction in nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions from heavy-duty diesel vehicles.
Over the next several years, they're demanding an additional 40%.

Progressively stricter regulations over the next 10 years and beyond are expected to
fuel even more exciting new Engelhard technologies....and some very significant
growth for our Environmental Technologies business.

For years, we've been preparing for this growing demand by making significant
investments in research and development, engine-testing facilities and
improved manufacturing processes. That investment is already paying off with
ingenious solutions, such as selective catalytic reduction technology, diesel oxidation
catalysts and catalytic soct filters, to name just a few.

Each new regulation requires new technology to enable compliance. Our ability to
deliver this new technology time and time again is how we provide value to our
customers and attain growth for ourselves.

And vehicle emissions are just one target for our ingenuity. Whatever the source
of pellution — from lawnmaowers, chainsaws and restaurant ovens, to oil refineries
and gas-turbine power plants — Engelhard technologies are helping clear the air.
Which is why we continue to dramatically expand our play in emission control...
with a single goal in mind: to make business, and the world,
awhole ot healthier.
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For over half a century, we've delivered the catalysts that help fuel our world.

What you may not know is how rising global demand for energy has driven our expansion
into a broad range of new technologies - from enabling technologies for more
cost-effective fuels to materials technology for the exploration, generation, storage
and environmentally responsible usage of energy.

In 2000, we launched NaphthaMax, a revolutionary catalyst that boosted petroleumn
refiners’ yields by up to 2%. This past year, we introduced NaphthaMax /1,
which increases yields a further 2%. This adds up to about 100,000 gallons per day
more gasoline per average refinery. In anindustry where technology
improvements are measured in tenths of a percent, boosting yields by up to 4% in four
years is big news.

Rising oil and gas prices are spurring demand for a wide variety of new energy
sources. One of our mare exciting new opportunities involves proppants,
highly spherical particles of sand that help improve the productivity of oil and gas walls.
Double-digit growth in market demand for proppants has outstripped available supply
and forced suppliers to put customers on allocation. Our entry into proppants
represents yet ancther example of how we leverage our competencies in surface and
materials science to develop technology to serve a major growing market.

And there’s more. We're now a leading global supplier of critical catalyst technology
used to convert natural gas into cleaner-burning, synthetic diesel fuel,
and our 2005 acquisition of the synthesis gas (syngas) catalyst business of China’s
Nanjing Chemical Industry Corporation makes us a global supplier of this critical
energy enhancer. Syngas is fast becoming a high-value component for gas-to-liguids
processes, coal-to-liquids conversion and fuel cells.

There's no end in sight. We're focusing our R&D efforts on new, longer-lasting
batteries, conversion of coal-to-liquid fuels, catalysts and adsorbents that convert
bio-based substances into fuel, and solar energy storage. Just some of the growing
variety of new ways we're working to power our growth ...
and our energy-hungry world.
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Our special-effect and color-enhancing pigments, as well as specialized

inorganic materials, have long been highly valued by manufacturers of cosmetics
and personal care products. What you may not know are the many ways we're
broadening our capabilities and technologies in the burgeoning personal care market.

Like the cosmetics industry, we're quick to spot important trends —
and just as quick to capitalize on them. Several years ago, two in particular caught our
eye: the aging “baby boomer” generation and rising economic prosperity in Asia.

What do those two trends have in common? Beauty. Baby boomers by the millions are
looking to maintain a healthier, fresher, more youthful appearance. Asian women

of all ages are striving to achieve their own beauty ideal. Both groups represent a large
segment of the world’s population. And they are willing to spend significant sums to
achieve their goals. Naturally, Engelhard has positioned itself to help.

To capitalize on these trends, we acquired two innovative, successful
manufacturers of active ingredients and skin-care materials used in applications like
anti-wrinkle creams, sun protectants, moisturizers and complexion enhancers.

Now, the cosmetic industry’s use of Engelhard personal care
technologies is expanding. In 2005 alone, for example, one U.S. manufacturer with
1,700 stores launched a line of skin-care products made with five different Engelhard
personal care materials.

Human skin presents just one more surface — and another enormous
growth opportunity — on which to practice our development and testing capabilities.
And it represents just one more example of how our surface and materials science
delivers unique and measurable benefits on a sub-micron level . ..
and tremendous value on a global scale.
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Stronger Portfolio

Growth. It's the goal of any successful enterprise. But what you may not
know is the particular way in which we view — and pursue — our growth potential
at Engelhard.

Basically, we see two kinds of business growth. One is consistent
and sustainable. The other rises and falls with the tides of circumstance. We focus on the
former. And we go after it in two ways. First, organically, by growing from within,
Second, by acauiring companies and capabilities that fit naturally with and complement
our strategy and lines of business.

We grow organically by investing in our own research and development
to expand our technology toolbox. We also grow organically through our numerous
research partnerships with companies, laboratories and universities around the globe.
You won't find a stronger opponent to the “not-invented-here” mentality
than Engelhard. Why? Because in our business, the sharing of ideas and knowledge
opens new doors for growth —more than might be possible to open by going it alone.

We also grow through strategic acquisition. We choose our opportunities
wisely and ensure each company or capability we buy meshes with our strengths and
offers long-term market potential.

In 2005, we expanded our successful track record of acquisitions.
We acquired and quickly integrated three companies — Almatis AC, Coletica, S.A.
and the syngas catalysis business of the Nanjing Chemical Industry Corporation (NCIC).
Almatis gives us added capabilities in moisture control and catalysis for natural gas,
petrochemical and other markets. Coletica, a French maker of performance-based,
skin-care compounds, boosts our capabilities in active ingredients for
cosmetics and personal care. NCIC adds to our capabilities for meeting the growing
global demand for cleaner fuels.
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How far and how high can our expertise in surface and materials science take us?
Quite frankly we see no limits to what we can dream up, create or improve
upon by employing that know-how.
We've gathered a tremendous collection of assets, technologies and capabilities
that enable us to create market opportunities and value in virtually every aspect
of our business. From the world of energy, to the world of cosmetics and
personal care, to the environment of the planet itself, we see an ever-widening array
of new uses for our existing capabilities and plenty of new markets and new
technologies to explore.
Take our expanding role in petroleum refining, for example. We've
always served that industry by delivering the fluid cracking catalysts that help refiners
turn crude oil into gasoline and other fuels. What you may not know is that,
several years ago, we saw the opportunity to meet another pressing need —to reduce
nitrogen oxides and other harmful emissions from gasoline production processes.
To do that, we turned to our core competencies and tapped years of experience in our
Environmental Technologies group. That experience helped us develop a
range of ingenious new additives that destroy pollutants while enhancing the efficiency
of our catalysts. These solutions are based on kaolin technologies we originally
developed for paper-coating applications. Who would have thought that
a technology used by the paper industry could help reduce harmful refinery emissions?
We did. Which only goes to demonstrate the tremendous value and power of Engelhard.
Surprising? Not to us. As far as we're concerned, the value we can create
with our technologies and ingenuity knows no bounds. After all, when you view the
world under a microscope, it's a pretty big place.
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Financiai Condition and Results of Operations

Uniess otherwise indicated, all per-share amounts are pre-
sented as diluted earnings per share, as calculated under
SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.”

For adiscussion of the Company’s critical accounting policies
and estimates, see page 44.

Overview

The Company develops, manufactures and markets value-
adding technologies based on surface and materials science
for a wide spectrum of served markets. The Company also pro-
vides its technology segments, their customers and others
with precious and base metals and relatea services. The
Company’s businesses are organized into four reportable seg-
ments that are discussed individually below. Additional
detailed descriptive material is included in Note 20, “Business
Segment and Geographic Area Data.”

One of the strengths of the Company is that its segments serve
diverse markets, which is important for assessing the variabil-
ity of future cash flows. The following economic comments
a.so provide a useful context for evaluating the Company’s per-
formance: (1} woridwide auto builds continue to be relatively
flat, albeit at fairly high levels ~ industry growth for auto-
emission catalysts will benefit from tougher environmental reg-
ulation throughout the world over the next 5-10 years as well as
developing economies, especially new Asian production;

(2) more stringent diesel-emission regulations are being
phased in, affording the Company additional opportunities for
catalyst solutions; (3) woridwide petroleum refineries are gen-
erally operating close to capacity generating demand for the
extra yields provided by the Company’s advanced fluid crack-
ing catalysts and performance additives; (4) markets for effect
pigments, colors and active ingredients in cosmetics, auto fin-
ishes and coatings have remained positive during the recent
economic downturns and tend to be less cyclical; however, the
Company is currently experiencing growing competition from
Asian producers; {5) the coated, free-sheet paper market has
strengthened, but market share loss continues to negatively
impact the Company; and (8) inflationary pressures for raw
materials and energy, particularly natural gas, are expected to
have a negative impact across the Company’s technology seg-
ments compared to the recent low inflationary period, which
the Company will attempt to mitigate via price increases.

Results of Operations

The information in the discussion of each segment’s results
discussed below is derived directly from the internal financial
reporting system used for management purposes. ltems allo-
cated to each segment’s results include the majority of corpo-
rate operating expenses. Unallocated items include interest
expense, interest income, certain royalty income, sale of pre-
cious metals accounted for under the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method, certain special charges and credits, income taxes,
certain information technology development costs and other
miscellaneous corporate items.

In 2005, the Company discontinuad operations at its Carteret,
N.J. manufaciuring facility. The discussion below excludes the
impact of these discontinued operations. Prior period operating
earnings of the Environmental Technologies segment reflect
the reclassification of the facility as a discontinued operation.

Environmental Technologies

The majority of this segment’s sales is derived from technolo-
gies to control harmful emissions from mobile sources, includ-
ing gasoline- and diesal-powered passenger cars, sport-utility
vehicles, trucks, buses and motorcycles. This segment’s
customers are driven Dy increasingly stringent environmental
regulations, for which the Company provides sophisticated
emission-contrel technologies. The remainder of this segment’s
sales is derived from products sold into a variety of industrial
markets, including aerospace, power generation, process
industries, temperature sensing and utility engines. The Company
supplies these industrial markets with sophisticated emission-
control technologies, high-value material products made
primarily from platinum group metals and thermal spray and
coating technologies.

Results of Operations

% change % change
2004 to 2003 to

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004
Sales $1,008.7 $883.3 9$814.8 142% 8.4%
Operating earnings

before special

items 1408 1381 1222 20% 6.9%
Special

charge (credit) - 0.2) 5.2

Operatingearnings 1409 1383 1240 19%

Discussion Results from this segment were as expected,
driven primarily by operations serving the overseas mobile-
source environmental markets.

Revenues from mobile-source markets increased 16% in 2005
compared with 2004. Approximately 85% of this increase was
due to increased pass-through substrate costs. Substrate costs
were higher primarily due to increased demand for catalyzed
soot filters (CSF) for the European light-duty diesel market.
This also increased the segment’s working capital require-
ments by approximately $50 million, which is about half of the
overall increase in this segment’s working capital requirements
of $100 million compared to last year. This trend of increasing
substrate costs, revenues and associated working capital
requirements is expected to continue in the near term, as the
Company continues o grow its CSF business. The Company
serves a wide customer base, and changes in the mix of sales
to these markets are common. In 2005 compared with 2004,
sales to North American automotive customers decreased
significantly, while sales to European and Asian automotive
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continued

customers increased. in Morth America, demand for the vehi-
cles for which the Company provides catalytic solutions
ceclined more rapidly than the overali cemand for lignt-duty
vehicles in North America. The Company expects this trend to
continue near-term. The Company continues to experiencs
imoroved market penetration from operations located in
emerging marketis sucn as Ching, incia, Brazi! and Thailand.
Saies {from these emerging market operations increased over
20% in 2005 compared (o 2004. Sales to the motorcycle market
more tnan doubled, but represant less than 2% of the seg-
ment’s sales. Sales of catalyst o the heavy-duty ciese! original
eauinment manufacturers (O=Ms) were flat compared {o last
vezr, as U.S. regulaicry reguirements wili change for 2007
mods! yeer vehicles, and overali demanc for these vehicles
remained reigtivaly flai in 20058. Diesel reirofit sales, wiich are
largely depencent on government furding for projacts,
declinec modesty.

Operaiing earrings from mobile-source markets cecreased
1% in 2005 compzarec with 2004. Operating earnings from
ligni-duty markeis were consistan’ with the above menticned
seles mix, as increased earnings from Curopean and emerging
markeis ware offset by decreased earnings from U.S. light duty
marke’s. Miodest procuctivity improvementis were ciisst by
nicher selling, genera! anc administrative exvenses driven by
nigner heavy-duly diesel research and developmen: expenses
of $2 million and higher tad dezt expense of $1 milfon dueto
the nankrupicy of Delphi. The Company continues {0 assess
counterparly risk on sales to tihe North American attomotive
market and estabiish credit I'mits anc assess coilectibility
agcorcingly. meavy-auty ciesei sarnings were down due to the
aforementioned diese! research and deveiopment expense of
$2.0 miliion and absence of warranty reversals of $1.5 miliion,
which occurred in 2004. Sales to the motorcycle market now
contribuie {o sarnings, with oberating margin percentages
similar fc these experiencad in other mobile source markets.
The Company serves the iarge Asian markets of Japan and
Korea tnrough joint ventures accounted icr under the ecuity
metnod. Accordingly, the results of tnose cperations, refiesting
centinued strengin in the Asian markets, ereincluded on the
aguity earnings lire.

Sales to indusirial markels increased 7% in 2005 compeared
with 2004, Approximartely nalf of this increase was to the
temperaiure-sensing market. The Companry continuss to inves!?
in the operations serving the temoeraiure-sensing market, and
enticinales significan? growih from this smel markel. Sales to
the aerosnece market increesed, while sales of catalysi io the
smell engine market ceclined due to the loss of 2 customer.
Resulis from the Company’s Carteret, N.J. manufaciuring facil-
ity are no longer included in this discussion, as these results
are now inc.uced in ciscentinued operations.

COnereting earnings from industiria’ mearkets increased in 203
comparad with 2004. Zarnings {rom szles tc most served mar-
kets were nigner. Notadly, earnings from sales of ozone con-
veriting catalyst to the aerospace industry, increased on nigher

34

volumes sold. The temperature-sansing markat represenis a
niche growth area for the Company, anc experienced highar
earnings, although volumes need to increase substantially to
maet the Company's long term growth orojections. While sales
and earnings from the Company’s therma: sarey and coating
operations serving the aerospace and power generation mar-
kets imoroved modestiy in 2005, more work needs o be dons,
and tne Company augmented operational management in
2305. The Comoany expects continued naar-term imorovemnent
in overall earnings from industrial markets.

Outlook Please see ihe saction labeled “Key Assumptions” on
page 48 for a2 detalled discussion of the Company’s basis for
the discussion neiow.

Demand for the Commnany’s pregducts soid 1¢ mohile-source
markets is expected to remain ai 2005 ieveis for the first half
of 2003, with 2 stronger second naif relative to 2005, as cus-
tomeis ramp up for the 2007 mode! year. Worldwice auto-
mobile builds for 2005 are forecast to grow at 4%, and ai 2%
CAGR through 2010. The Company exdacts 2 3% CAGRIn
light-duty automotive catalyst sales through 2010, drivency
ihe aforementioned growin in auiomobie ouilds, penetration
in the lignt-duly clesel market, anc siricter wor.dwide environ-
mental reguiations. Demand for diesel-emission technologies
is exvected to increase, as stricter regulations Yor light-duty
2n¢ neavy-duty venicies come into effect, and more light-cduty
vehicles are sold. Additionally, the Company expecis an
increase in market share from the light-duty diesai markeis.
Siese! retrofit markets are expected (0 remain at currentieveis
driven by local politica! pressure to reduce emissions from
existing vehicles in uran areas. Demand for the Companry's
technology tc mobile-source markets is subject tc changss in
mix, the leve! of woridwide auto builds anc comsetitive pres-
sures. Tne Company mainiains a strong technology positicn in
these markets and coniinues 10 invest significarily in researct
and development.

‘1 businesses serving stationary-sourcs markels, demand is
exneacted to remain soft for teciinologies related (o peak-cower
generaiion due to the current lack of funding for these projects.
The cverali power-generation industry has exoerienced difficulty
in recent years due to deregulalion and cyciicality. Tne
Company maintains the technical ability and capacity to serve
the power-generation market wnen demeand returns. T hess
businasses a!so serve the {ood service market. Sales {0 the food
service market are expacted (0 grow from approximeiely $3 mil-
lion in 2005 to $10 miltion in 2010, represeniing asout halfthe
growih exnected from this Business.

The Company’s thermal spray operation, which serves the
nower-generatiorn and aerospace marikets, nas seen a mozes:
improvement in demand. The Company expects this trand 0
continue, out does not expect *hase mearketstereturnio
ore-20C1 levels. in response, this operatior will focus on cost
recduction efiorts and wii continue io develop endliceations of
its technology for previcusly unserved mearikels.



Other industrial markets served include temperature-sensing.
The Company has positioned itself via acquisition in 2004 and
internal development to participate in the projected 6% world-
wide growth of the temperature-sensing market through 2010.
The Company aiso expects an increase in market share from
the temperature-sensing markets.

2004 compared with 2003 Sales to mobile-source markets
increased 10% in 2004 compared with 2003. Approximately
half this increase related to higher substrate costs. Substrate
costs rose in 2004 due to an increase in demand for emission-
control systems for diesel engines. Foreign currency translation
of sales of the Company’s foreign operations accounted for
40% of the sales increase to mobile-source markets in 2004
compared with 2003. In 2004 compared with 2003, increased
saies to diesel engine OEMs were largely offset by decreased
sales to the diesel retrofit market, which, in 2003, included low-
margin sa'es from a canning facility the Company closed in 2003.

Operating earnings from mobile-source markets increased 9%
in 2004 compared with 2003. The largest reason for this
increase was absence of a $4.6 million restructuring charge
recorded in 2003. Favorable impacts from foreign currency
translation of $4.7 million and reversal of warranty reserves of
$1.5 million were mostly offset by higher information technol-
ogy expenses of $4.0 million and higher diesel research and
development expense of $1.4 million. In 2004, profits from
mobile-source diesel markets increased while profits from
other mobile-source markets decreased compared with 20083.
These improvements were partially offset by a decline in earn-
ings from diesel retrofit markets. In 2003, the Company experi-
enced strong profitability from a diesel retrofit project in Hong
Kong, which was completed early in 2004. Operating earnings
from traditional light-duty vehicle markets declined in 2004.
Although light-duty automobile builds in North America and
Europe were flat in 2004 compared with 2003, operating earn-
ings declined due to the mix of vehicle platforms for which the
Company provided catalyst.

Sales to industrial product markets decreased 4% as a decline
in sales to power-generation customers more than offset
improved sales to the aerospace, temperature-sensing and
refining markets. The decline in demand from the power-
generation market was expected, and costs were reduced
accordingly. Earnings from industrial product markets
improved significantly in 2004 compared with 2003 primarily
due to productivity initiatives. Earnings from the aerospace
market improved versus the prior year, but have not returned to
levels experienced prior to 2001. Profits from temperature
sensing markets were flat in 2004 versus 2003.

Process Technologies

The Process Technologies segment enables cusiomers to
make their processes more productive, efficient, environmen-
tally sound and safer through the supply of advanced chemi-
cal-process catalysts, additives and sorbents.

Results of Operations
% change % change
2004t0 2003 to
(in miltions) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004
Sales $687.1 $68152 $568.2 11.7% 8.1%

Operating earnings

before special

items 98.0 87.3 985 12.3% -114%
Special charge - - 26
Operating earnings 98.0 87.3 958 123% -9.0%

Discussion This segment experienced strong results in 2005
as productivity improvements coupled with continuing demand
in operations serving the petroleum-refining business yielded
strong results, and catalyst sales to the major chemical mar-
kets increased.

Sales to the petroleum-refining market increased 10% in 2005
compared with 2004. Higher volumes and prices of petroleum-
refining catalysts drove the improvement, as demand remained
strong for catalyst based on the Company’s Distributed Matrix
Structure (DMS) techinology plaiform. DMS technology aliows
refiners to increase yields, and accordingly, these products sell
at premium prices. in 2005, the Company completed a produc-
tivity initiative that reduced the cost, and increased the capac-
ity of the Company’s DMS products. The Company operates at
or near capacity in these operations. Approximately 80% of the
Company’s product mix to this market is now DMS-pased. in
2005, the Company implemented price increases and energy
surcharges to this market, which accounted for approximately
$3 million of increased revenues. The Company experienced
decreased demand in the year for certain older product offer-
ings. Demand for these older product offerings is expected to
remain at current levels for the near-term, and decrease over
the long-term. Sales of additives, which have been a source of
growth over the past two years, increased significantly, due to
increased fourth quarter volumes of product sold to potential
new customers who are assessing the effectiveness of these
additives in their processes.

Operating earnings from products sold o petroleum-refining
markets increased in 2005 compared with 2004 primarily due
to the aforementioned increase in additive volumes and
improved pricing and volumes of catalysts sold. These improve-
ments were partially offset by higher natural gas costs of
approximately $5 million, net of the aforementioned energy
surcharges, other Hurricane Kairina impacts (see the section
on Hurricane and Natural Gas Impacts), higher selling, general
and administrative expense of approximately $3 million and
higher raw material costs. During 2004, strong demand for
DMS technology began to exceed existing capacity at the
operating facilities that produce these producis. In the second
quarter of 2005, the Company completed and implemented a
project to reduce costs and increase capacity at these facili-
ties, resulting in lower per-unit manufacturing costs compared
to 2004. The Company plans to maintain an asset utilization
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continued

raie of approximately 80% for DVIS offerings for the foresee-

aodle future.

Sales of catalysts to the chemical-process markets increased
13% in 2005 compared with 2004, The increase in revenues
came from the oleochemical, petrochemical and fine chemicai
markets, and wes pariiglly offset by cecreased sales io the
polyolefins markets. Sales of precious metal included in prod-
ucts sold accounted for approximately $7 miliion of ine
increzse in revenues. The second-guarier acquisition of the
caialyst business of Nanjing Chemical Industry Corocration
accountec for $8 million of increased revenues. Jemand in
2005 is expecied to increase compared o 2005, s cusiomers
continue to drive more volume througn thelr reactors with
cepacity uilization rates near SC%. Volumes of polyprooylene
cetalysis were fiat in 2005 compared witn 2004, Tigatness in
the Asian supcly of monomer in the first naif of 2605 and scme
cecreasec domastic demand negatively impacied the Company's
revenues from nroducts scid to the oolyolefins market. Price
increases initiated in 2004 and 2005 accounted for $5 mitiion of
nigher revenues from the chemicel-process markets.

Cpereting earnings from proaucts soic tc cnemicel-precess
markets were higher in 2305 compared witn 2004, s al! served
markets experienced improved resuiis. The aforementioned
price increases and the positive resuiis of productivity initia-
tives were somewnat offset by higher selling, general and
adminisirative expense snending of approximately $5 million
end higher raw material cosis. Margins as a percent of saies
were somewnat lower due to higher sales of lower margin
nrogucts, and tne impact of higher precious metal costs wnich
are passed through (o cusiomers, but are inciuced in revenue
anc cos: of saies.

u ; se see tne section label ! ssumptions” o
Outlook Please se2 tne section iabeled “Key Assumiptions” on
nage 49 for & detailed discussion of tne Company’s basis for

the ciscussion oeiow.

“he ouliook for operations serving tne petroieum-refining mar-
keis is strong for 2006 and beyonc. Demand for aremium-
pricec catalysts and additivas is expecied {0 remain nigh due
to external faciors, including high cruce-oi prices, absence of
aacitionel worlowide refining capacity, increased acemanc for
gesoiine end environmential-fuel compliance. The Company
oonerates at utliization rates of eoproximately 90%, and there-
fere nea-term growin is cegendent upon maximizing the oro’-
itebility of the Company’s nroduct mix. The Company continues
to invest inresearch and development to maintain the competi-
tive atvaniage carived from its unigue DMS techinology plat-
forim, es demonstraied oy the recent introcduction of the next
generation fluid cracking catalyst, NaphthalMax ll. Cver the
long term, sales of refining catelys? are expected to grow mod-
estly at approximately 2% CAGR through 2010, Additives sol¢
to ihese merkets remein a growtn aree, and the Company
expects significant growtn through 20130, driven predominantly
by new product offerings, as existing additives ere not
expeciad ic increase at growin rates exonerienced inrecent
years. Acditionally, the Company expects to leverage existing
technologies and market oresence to serve ine ciese!, distillate
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and petrochemical feedsiock markats. These nawly served
markets are exsected to contrinute aporoximeisly $38 million
in revenuss in 2C10.

The outiook for operations serving chemicai-2rocess markets
is good for 2008, as sales levais experienced in the secena nalf
of 2005 to the Company's exisiing customer base are expecied
to continue. Long-term growin to existing markeis will be reia-
tively mocest, wniie growin to oravicusly unservea npetro-
chemical markets, the emerging gas economy cetalyst marset,
and continued expansion into the polyeinylene catalyst market
wil! drive overal! ravenue growth cf 8% CAGR. Growthinthe
nolyprooyiene market will be diiven by increased commarciai
relztionships and licensing arrangements.

2004 compared with 2003 Szies of cateiyst end 2dditives 0 ihe
petroleum-refining market increasad in 2004 compe i

2C03. Theincrease was criven by sirong aemand for products
cerived from the Company’s DVS technoiogy plaiform. Higher

velumes of oetrolsum-refining acditives aisc vositively
impacted sales. These improverenis were medastly offsel
oy cecreased demend for olcer procuct cfferings disdleced by

ZV.S technoiogy.

Onerating earnings from 2rocucts scld to petroleum-refining
markets increased in 2804 comparec with 2CC3. Profits from
increased demand for CMS technoiogies and othier additives
were paitialiy offset by highar informatlicn technciogy cests of
approximately $2 mition, nighar raw materiel cosis of agproxi-
maiely 83 milion and the impect of a carticularly severe hurii-
cane season. During 2004, streng demand fer DVIS technoicgy
began to exceed existing capacity at the operating facility that
oroauces these sroducts. As g resui?, oiher asssets were uti-
lized to meet the additicnal cemend, resu'iing in nigher trans-
ortation, production-scneduling and assel-Utilization costs.
Cperating eainings for 2004 also were negatively impecied by

¢

Qg

v

$1.1 miliion compared with 2033 cue o the timing of customer
crders for certain oider technologies.

o

Szles of catalysts to the chemical-nrocess markats increased
medestly in 2004 comparea witn 2003. The increass resuliec
from a currency-exchange impact of epgroximaialy $8 million
and a chanrge in droduct mix, wick wes tartiziy offset by
$7.5 miliion of price recucticns in older custom catelyst tech-
nologies. Volumes of Lynx olysrepyiene catalysis increasad in
2C04 compared with 2003 as marke! accepiance continuec
and excanced capacity at tne Company’s fasliity in tarragona,
Spain came on-line.

Onerating earnings from progucts so.d 10 chemical-process
markels cecreased significantly, criven orimarily by ine above-
meantioned price recuction of $7.5 miltion, nigher raw material
costs of eoproximately $8 miliior, a changs i1 sroduct mix and
higher information technoiogy costs of approximately $3 rriflion.
Thesefactors were nartially o''set by & faverablie impact fror
currency exchange of anproximaiely $3 milion and absence
restructuring expenses incluced inthe special cherge refer-
anced in the teble on nage 35.
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Appearance and Performance Technologies

The Appearance and Performance Technologies segment
provides coatings and pigment extenders, effect materials,
personal care active ingredients and performance additives
that enable its customers to market enhanced image and
functionality in their products. This segment serves a broad
array of end markets, including cosmetics and personal care,
coetings, plastics, automotive, packaging, construction and
paper. The segment’s products help customers improve the
look, functionality, performance and overall cost of their
products. In addition, the segment is the internal supply
source of precursors for most of the Company’s advanced
petroieum-refining catalysts.

Results of Operations

% change % change
2004to  2003to

(i_nrl!illions) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004

Sales $726.1 $600.2 $653.8 52% 5.6%
Operating sarnings '

before special

items 65.6 75.1 773 -126% -2.8%
Special charge - 6.6 7.8
Operating earnings 65.6 685 695 42% -14%

Discussion Results from this segment were down, as higher
costs in operations serving the paper and effect materials mar-
kets more than offset the impact of higher revenues from the
personal care actives and specialty minerals markets.

Sales from the Company’s mireral-based operations increased
1% in 2005 compared with 2004. This modest increase is due.
to improved sales of kaolin-based products to non-paper spe-
ciaity markets and higher attapulgite volumes mostly offset by
lower volumes of kaolin-based products to the paper market.
Lower sales to the paper market were partially attributable to
customer strikes in Finland and Canada. The Company has
implemented price increases end energy surcharges for
mineral-based products late ir 2005, and has seen some posi-
tive results, but expects 2006 pricing to be substantially better
than 2005. Overall, volumes to the paper market were off
approximaiely 8% versus last year. The Company continues to
focus on non-paper kaolin markets to maximize cash flows
from these assets. These markets include plastics, construc-
tion, automotive, agriculture, coatings and refining catalysts.

Operating earnings from mineral-based products decreased
significantly in 2005 compared with 2004 in spite of absence of
restructuring charges totaling $8.6 million in 2004. Earnings
from kaolin-based products to the paper market decreased

as a result of higher natural gas prices, exacerbated by
Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, of approximately $12 million in
2005 compared to 2004. The Company has initiated price
increases and energy surcharges to these markets, and
expects significant improvement in 2006. Increased sales of
kaolin-based products to specialty markets yielded improved

results. Cash flows from kaolin-based operations remain sub-
stantial, and these assets continue to be monitored with
respect to SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”

Sales of effect materials, colors and personal care actives col-
lectively increased 10% in 2005 compared with 2004. Earlier in
the year, the Company strengthened its position in the per-
sonal care market by acquiring Coletica, S.A., a French com-
pany that develops performance-based, skin-care compounds
and related technologies. In 2004, the Company acquired The
Collaborative Group, a domestic company serving similar mar-
kets. These operations, along with certain previously existing
operations, serve the personal care markets. The recent acqui-
sitions accounted for $44 million of sales increases in 2005
compared to 2004. Effect materials sales were lower due to
lower sales of cosmetic-grade borosilicate products compared
to strong volumes in 2004, lower cosmetic mica sales, and
lower iridescent film sales due to competitive pressure in Asia.
Colorant sales were down modestly in 2005 compared to 2004,
as a significant customer built inventory late in 2004, resulting
in lower volumes for 2005.

Operating earnings from personal care actives increased in
2005, while earnings from effect materials and colorant mar-
kets decreased compared to 2004. Increased earnings from
the above mentioned personal care acquisitions of $7.7 million
were partially offset by lower volumes of colorants, lower
effect materials sales, discussed above, and increased operat-
ing costs.

Outlook Please see the section labeled “Key Assumptions” on
page 49 for a detailed discussion of the Company’s basis for
the discussion below.

Earnings from the sale of minerals-based products are
expected to improve in 2006 as the Company expects signifi-
cantly improved pricing from paper customers, and contin-
ued diversification away from traditional paper markets. In
addition to price increases, the Company has also imple-
mented energy surcharges to paper and other kaolin cus-
tomers. These operations are currently profitable, and
generate significant cash flows. The Company expects these
operations to remain profitable, but changes in volumes, oric-
ing or energy costs could cause this situation to change.
These businesses experience significant competition from
Brazilian and other kaolin producers and not-in-kind competi-
tion from caicium carbonate. The Company expects modest
long-term growth from these operations as a result of diversi-
fication efforts, specifically penetration into crop protectants
and other high-margin kaolin applications.

The Company i5 in the process of implementing EITF 04-8,
“Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred during Production in
the Mining Industry.” As a result of EITF 04-6, the Company
expects an equity charge of approximately $28 million in the
first quarter of 2006. The Company does not expect this standard
to have an impact on the Company’s future cash flows.
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continued

ntinvesiments in assats serving tne personai care marxet
\pe 1ed o improve earnings, es the Company continues
ther deveion iis position in this market. The Company’s
wo recent acguisitions serving these mart <ets are sucstantially
:Tf'ecra led and are positioned i increase revenues due {o their
omboined giobal presence. in 2010, the Company exoects rev-
enues from these operztions to be coudie thelr current levals

re er
fur

¢is long-term growth from oserations serv-
’zef als and colorants markels to grow at
aoproximately 8% CACR through 2210. The Cor moany wi'l con-
in g comoetitive risks, inciuding increesing Dres-
{rom producers in Asia, througn cost managemant,
‘nnovation and continued expansion of its markat oresenc

Iay
inChire.

2004 compared with 2003 Saies of minerais-da
cucwgsea 1% in 2004 cempared with 2003 as cdacreassd vol-
Lmas 1o the paper market were mostly cffset by significant

seies ¢rowin of non- p— oer kaolin appiications. In iate 2003, the
Company attemndied to maintain pricing and implement en
eneigy surcharge. Certain paner customers responded by
contrecting witn other kaolin providers, anc the Company’s
marie! share decreasec in 2004. During 2004, the Cempany
retiorelized certain products for the paper marke: 2ng aggres-
sively pursued oher specialty, kaolin-based applications. Sales
cfkac'in-besacd products to markets other than paser
increased significentiy in 2004 comparad with 2003.

sed groducis

Cgerating earnings from minerals-based producs dacreased
26% in 2334 compared witn 2023, Inciudad in the 2004 resuits
is & restructuring charg° 07 $8.6 miliicnrelated to co“so"d:tio-w
of ceriain manufaciuring fachities that i; “'uded asset imoair-
mant charges of $5.3 wll.m anc severance charges of $1.3 mil-
tion. Resulis for 2008 inciude a charge of $7.8 miltion for the fair
velue of remaining iease cosis of certain minerals-storage facii-
fles vo*":)any ceasec o use. These businesses incurred
...g‘"ﬂ* nfcrmetion technology cosis of approximeta! y$3m -
don in 2304 comparec with 2033. Cecreased earnings fro
'r:r‘ ral-basec sroducts o the paper market were par‘tiaiiy off-
el by eerrings from minerzl-based products te other markets
as discussed ebove.

sct materia's, colors and persona: care actives
increzsed 13% in 2004 compared 2003. In Ju'y of 2004,
tne Company sirengthened its oos'hoﬂ intire personal care
marxel oy ecquiring The Coligborative Group, Lid., inciuding
its who!ly ownac supsidiary Coliaberative Laboratories, :nc.
Tris eccouniec for approximately 25% of the increases in saies
?ewec+ materials, colors and personal care actives. Salas
{ efiect materials and colors were strong to other served

Szies of e™f
1

arkets inciud ‘”’Ci cosmeziics, automgctive, coetings, plastics

m
and construction.
Cperaiing earnings from effect materials, colors and personal

cere ectives increased approximately 4% in 2304 compared
with 2803, dus primariiy 1o the above-mentioned acouisition.
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The impact of higher volumes mentionad above was cifset
hy increased information technology costs of aporoximately
$3 miliion and higher costs associated with product deveaiop-
ment and commercializetion.

Materials Services

The Matsrials Services segment serves the Company’s tech-
rology segmenis, tneir customers and cthers witn precious
and base metais and related services. This is a distributior and
materials services business that DUTC"‘ ses and selis precious
metlals, base metals, other commodities and relzted Drocucts
and services. it doas so under a variety of pricing enc dc‘ivﬁry
arrangemen:s structurad ic meet the logistice, financial and
price-risk managament recuirements of the uomoany its cus-
tomers and suppiiers. Aaditionally, it cifers the relatec serv-
ices of precious-metai refining and sterage, and oroducss
precious-metai selts and solutions.

Results of Operations

% change % change
2004to 2003 to

(i mitions) 2005 2004 2003 _ 2005 2004
Sales $2,096.3 $1,825.0 $7,5¢8.2 10.6% 1i8.6%
Cperating earnings 284 68 iC1 68.0% €5.3%

Discussion Sales for this segmentinclude substantially eli the
Company’s sales of metals to industria! cusiomers of all seg-
ments. Sales aisc inciude fees invoiced for services rendered
{e.g. refining charges). 3ecause of the logistical and hedging
nature of much of th's business and tre significant precious
meta! values included in both sales and cost of sales, gross
margins fend to o iow in reiation to the Company's technology
sagments, as does capital empioyed. This effect also damg-
ens the gross margin percentages of the Company as a whole,
but improves the return on investiment,

While many customers cf the Company’s siatinum-group-
metal catalysts purchase the matal from Maierials Servicss,
some cnoose to deliver metal from cther sources prior to man-
ufacture. In such cases, nrecious metal valuss are not inciuded
in sales. The mix of such arrangements and extent of market
price fiuctuations can significantiy affect ine reperiec level of
sales and cost of sales. Consequently, there is no necassary
direct correlation beiween yam’~L0-year changesinreporied
seles and oparating earnings. Tha revenue increase

in 2005 was due to higher prices and voiumes of piatinum
group metals.

Onerating earnings in 2004 include $3.5 miilion of lega! provi-
sions related to i'tigation, white 2005 included recovery of
$O 7 million of looal fees resuiting from settlement of litigation.
carnings from metal sourcing operations increased 1% n
005 cemparad with 2004 due to increasec platinum group
etal orices and velumes pariially driven by demand related
to pending diesal regulations. These earnings and volumss are



at levels higher than the Company anticipates going forward.
Refining and related service cperations were improved com-
pared with the same pericd last year. Increased volumes and
improved operating efficiencies at the Company’s refinery
drove the improvement. The Company’s operations within the
Process Technologies segment serving the petrochemical
industry are an indicator of refining volume, as customers
requiring new catalyst generally refine their spent catalyst
upon change out.

Outlook Operating earnings from this segment are expected to
approach $20 million in 2008 as strong demand for platinum
group metais is expected to continue. Sourcing and recycling
opportunities are difficult to predict, but the Company maintains
industry knowledge to seek out and capitalize on opportunities.

2004 compared with 2003 Operating earnings in 2004 include
$3.6 million of legal provisions related to litigation. Operating
earnings in 2003 benefited from a contract settlement of

$9.3 million and reversal of a $2.8 million accrual that is no
longer necessary. Earnings from metal sourcing operations
improved in 2004 compared with 2003. Refining and related
service operations also improved in 2004 compared with 2003
as the Company's U.S. refinery resolved certain performance
difficulties. These refining operations, which are strategically
important to the operations of the Company’s Environmental
Technologies and Process Technologies segments, returned
to profitability.

Ventures

Piease see the section labeled “Key Assumptions” on page 49
for a detailed discussion of the Company’s basis for the dis-
cussion below.

The Ventures group, which is not a reportable segment as

defined in SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segment of an
Enterprise and Related Information,” develops opportunities

Acquisitions

that leverage attractive markets, new technologies and the
Company’s core competencies in surface and materials sci-
ence. Through its existing Separation Systems business, this
group also serves a broad array of end markets with adsor-
bents, agents and desiccants which purify liquids and gases.
In September 2005, the Company acquired U.S.-based Almatis
AC, Inc,, a major developer and producer of alumina-based
adsorbents and purification catalysts for approximately

$65 million. In addition, this group is currently developing
market positions that will serve the oil and gas field services,
fuel cell and battery materials markets in the future. Current
expectations for the oil and gas field services market include
opening a plant in the second half of 2006, while fuel cell and
battery material remain in development stages. In 2005, this
group earned $6.1 million of operating earnings on $76.0 mil-
lion of revenues.

Hurricane and Natural Gas Impacts

In the current year, the Company experienced a negative eco-
nomic impact from Hurricanes Katrina and Rita. The Company
operates a number of facilities in Georgia, and some facilities in
Louisiana, Mississippi and Texas that were affected by these
hurricanes. Additionally, many of the Company’s suppliers,
customers and logistics netwark providers were directly
impacted by these hurricanes. Direct impacts from these hurri-
canes, such as customer and supplier force majeure declara-
tions, lost production time and facility damage, are readily
quantifiable and were approximately $1 million. indirect
impacts, such as higher natural gas and other energy costs,
higher raw material costs as a result of supplier difficulties,
higher logistics costs due to fuel and disrupted distribution
networks and short-term productivity costs, exist but are not
readily quantifiable. Already high natural gas prices further
increased because of Gulf Coast hurricanes. Natural gas prices
negatively impacted the Company by approximately $20 mil-
lion in 2005 compared with 2004.

Counter party Business arrangement

Transaction date Business opportunity

Almatis AC, Inc.
catalyst business for $65 million

Nanjing Chemical
Industry Corporation

Coletica, S.A. Acquired manufacturing, research and

development and distribution facilities for

$73 million, net of cash acquired

The Collaborative

Group, Lid. development facilities for $62 million

Piatinum Sensors, Stk Acquired manufacturing and distribution
facilities for $6.6 million

Acquired alumina-based adsorbents and

Acquired syngas catalyst business for $20 million

Acgquired manufacturing and research and

September 2005 Expand adsorbent and purification
portfolio to include aluminas

June 2005 Expand syngas growth strategy

March 2005 Expand personal care actives business
to include major European presence

July 2004 Expand personal care business to
include active ingredients

April 2004 Expand temperature-sensing

business globally
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Consolidated Gross Profit

Cress orofit as 2 perceniace of seles was 15.5% in 2005, com-

) 15.2% in 2004 anc 17.2% in 2003. The fclowing

SDTESENIS 0SS mcxg 7 perceniages of the Meaterizls
erland the Comzany’s technoicgy segmants

= Lo, et D e $4 —
[Znvirenmentel, Process ahd Anoeararce and Perfor: .r:"*o

Maieriais Services 29% 25% 23%
Technciogy segments and the

“AL Clher” calegory 26.3% 27.8% 28.7%
“cle: Compary - 156% 162% 17.2%
Theovera: cagresse in 2005 compared (0 2004 was primarily
cue o ower margins inall technoiogy segmen’s (see
Vanagement's Discussicn and Anzlysis seclions on
znvironmentai 7ecnnologies, Srocess Tecnnoiog es, and
Appearerce ang Performance “Dc'“ﬂo'oo’es forfurther discus-
sion), zertigly offset by Righer mergins in the Materiels
Services segment (see Vianegeme h.’s Ciscussion and

Anclysis seciion on Materials Services for e further ¢iscussion
onthe iack of correlation between sales and earnings in
rizls Services). As descrinec eariler, the iower margins on
: rials Services saies are ¢riven by Ihe inclusicn of ine vaius
¢’ orecious metais in coln sales and cest of saies. The trend of
: marging inthe Envirenmental Techneiogies segment
nreugh 2005 is nrimarily a resuit of cataiyzed soot
i ulsirate costs, whicn are nassed through ic cus-
omers see \/.;r*a ement’s Discussion and Analysis sectionen
zi Techncicgies). Gress profit as a percentage of
cied to imorove in 2008, as impraved prif‘i“* gon
xeoli .-base I progucts so.d te the paper market will impactthe
Aspezrance anc Performence Technoiogies segment.

Selling, Administrative and Other Expenses

Selling, administrative and cther expenses were $419.4 miliion
in 20C5 comparsc 'wi'i'h $38¢.7 miliion in 2004 and $351.8 milion
in 2CC3. The increase in 2005 was primarily due (o incremental
coeraling excenses from a\,cw ‘sitions o7 $718.0 million, higher
comnenseiion anc empioyes anefit costs of $1C.8 million,
increzssd resgerch and deve ‘.comu.  exsense of $8.3 mition,
increzsed information! ecmo:coy expenses of $4.1 mitlion,
cartially offset by decreased reni expense of $3.0 miliion and
decreasad legal fees of $3.2 mition.

“’“e ‘ncreese in 2004 was primarily cue to increased benelit

nd pension expenses of $8.7 mh;o“ increased reseerch and
"°ve ooment exnensas of $5.8 mililon, incrementai Sarbanes-
Oxley compliance related excenses of eporoximately $5 miltion,
$3 miilion in incrementai operaiing exsenses from the
Coilaborative acguisition, inc*eased freignt, shipping, and rali-
cerrelated exnenses of $2.8 million, increased lega! fees of
$2.5 million and the impact of f lcreign currency iransletionon
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2005 2004 2003

seiling, adminisirative and otnher expensss ¢f approximeately
$2 mitlion nartially offset by higher royalty income of $4.8 rnil-
lion and lower cag dedtexpense of $3.53 milicr.

The Company exoects saling, agminisirative end clner
exgenses to increase (n 2803 compared 10 2003, Key grivers

witi be im new SFAS Ne. 123(R}, "Share-Basad Payment,”

reguirements regarding stcck ontion exdense, formation
tachne! gy penses, iui-year coeratis ge';* nses from mc
acguisitions e in ,‘auo*‘ary imzesion otlure sen e‘ anc

nin 2205 com-
nin2C033.

J’Ly inearnings ¢’ affia‘es was $32.5
red to $37.6 miiion in 2004 end 039.4 :

2 Company recognized earn! gs from its Asiap icint veniures

’\ = Cwmccjz Cornoratior and =eesun c-Ence‘.vrc) of
$30.8: fienin 2004 enc $18.2 millionin

C03.7heC uom*‘any ”Jci’ icinates in tnese [oim veniures prme-

iy to serve the Japansse ancd Korees modile-source environ-
*ﬂemai markets. Tnestreng imsrovernents from 28303 threugh
2CC5ere orime !.y due io imgroved sales o these mebile-
source merkets. The Coma ny meinteins active alilances with
these joint veniures to improve its overal zosttionin thess mar-
kets. During the first quarier of 2305, the Compzany exchange
a 7.5% interest in its Chinese aui'cmo‘; ve calziyst epearations
for approximately 2.6% of N.=. Chemcet Corooration (NZCC), 2
susicly-iradad jeint veniure. This transacticn wes recorded as
ar exchange of similar productive asseis in accordgance with
AR3 29, “Accounting fer Nonmoneiary transaciions.” The
Company also acguired an adaitional 80.7% of N=CC through
public tender offer. These transacticns increase the Company’s
ownership nercentage in N=CC from 38.8% 10 42.1%. “he
Company exnecis earnings from thess operations to remain at
current leve's, as tne Japanese anc Korean auiomotive mar-
<ets are not anticipated ‘o grow substantiany.

The Company currently owns 45% of =. Driifnout & Zeon's
Edelmetaalbediiien, a former subsidiary of Engeinard-CLAL.
The Company recognized earnings from this ioint venture anc
related holdings of $C.1 million i1 2C05, $7.8 mitFon in 2004 and
$19.6 million in 2C03. Prior years’ earnings resulied primarily
from the sale of platinum inventories at favorabie prices, reai-
ized gains on the saie of aninactiva factiity, and the strengihen-
ing of the Zuro versus the U.S. dciier. The Company has
sudstantially liguiczted this joint venture and related holdings.

Interest Income and Expense

h verest exnense increased to $33.7 million in 2305 compared
/ith $23.7 miilion in 2004 due e boin higher short-term bor-
xOng rates and higher average debti jevels, vartialiy offset by
the issuance of yen-denomiratad notes at iow interest rates.
interest income increased to $8.2 milicn in 2C05 comparad

wiin $5.2 miiiion in 2004. Higher debt leve's wme driven oy
acguisitions anc working captta raguireman’



Income Taxes

The worldwide income tax expense was $59.1 million in 2005
compared with $57.4 million in 2004 and $65.2 million in 2003.

The effective tax rate was 198.3% in 2005, 19.5% in 2004 and
21.6% in 2003.

The Company believes that its effective tax rate on future
recurring business operations will be approximately 24%.

The Company’s effective tax rate is dependent upon many fac-
tors including {1) the impact of enacted tax laws in jurisdictions
in which the Company operates, (2) the amount of earnings by
jurisdiction due to varying tax rates by country, (3) the amount
of depletion deductions related to the Company’s mining activi-
ties, (4) the ability to utilize minimum tax credits, foreign tax
credits and research and development tax credits, (5) the abil-
ity to utilize state tax net operating losses and various state tax
cred'is and (6) the amount of extraterritorial income and
domestic production related benefits.

in respect of certain provisions of the American Jobs Creation
Act of 2004, the Company decided not to repatriate certain of{-
shore earnings from its foreign subsidiaries at a reduced tax
rate due to iis intention to increase its investments outside of
the United States.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a $2.7 miltion
reduction of tax expense resulting from an agreement with the
IRS relating to the audit of the Company's tax return for 2001.
The Company is currently under examination for the 2002 and
20083 tax periods with the IRS, and the Company also seeks
resolution with tax authorities in foreign jurisdictions in which
the Company operates.

In the second quarter, the Company recorded a benefit of

$5.7 million related to prior tax periods in the Netherlands and
atax expense of $3.3 million related to prior tax periods in
Germany, due to changes in estimates based upon information
obtained during the audif process.

In the third quarier, as a result of the Company filing its 2004
federal income tax return, the Company recorded a tax benefit
of approximately $6 million associated with the American Jobs
Creation Act {the “Act”) in respect of foreign tax credits relating
to its minority investments in certain foreign corporations
which had previously been subject to a valuation allowance. in
addition, due to the expiration of a tax closing agreement cov-
ering the tax years 1898-2004 with the state of New Jersey,
which the state has not agreed to extend to 2005 and beyond,
the Company recorded an additional state income tax expense
of approximately $2 million (after federal income tax effect}.

In the fourth quarter, the Company recorded a net tax benefit of
approximately $5.2 million. Of this amount, $4.7 million relates
to the reversal of a FTC valuation allowance based upon earnings
and profit analyses and foreign source income analyses for
2005, both of which were completed in the fourth quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity Working capital was $513.8 miliion at December 31,
2005, compared with $659.8 million at December 31, 2004. The
current ratio was 1.3 and 1.7 at December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004, respectively. This reflects the Company’s
utilization of existing cash balances to fund three acquisitions
(see Note 5, “Acquisitions”). Also impacting the current ratio
are corresponding increases in the Company’s committed
metal positions and hedged metal obligations, and an increase
in the working capitai requirements of the Company’s
Environmental Technologies segment. The overall working
capital of the Company’s technology segments (Environmental
Technologies, Process Technologies and Appearance and
Performance Technologies) has not been subject to significant
fluctuations from period to period; however, in the current year,
Environmental Technologies has experienced a fundamental
increase in working capital employed of approximately

$100 million. This increase is primarily due to Environmental
Technologies’ recent market penetration into catalyzed soot fil-
ter (CSF) technology for light-duty diese! applications to the
mobile-source environmental markets (see Environmental
Technologies section for further discussion). This trend is
expected to continue, and will negatively impact net cash pro-
vided by operating activities through 2006. The working capital
of the Materials Services segment may vary due to the timing
of metal contracts, but is monitored closely by senior manage-
ment. In the recent period, committed metal positions and
hedged metal obligations have increased due to the effects of
higher prices and usage, a shift in the mix of metals and inclusion
of significant advances made for the purchase of precious metals
that have been received but for which the final price has yet to be
determined. While iong-term working capital requirements can-
not be readily predicted, it is expected that they will grow propor-
tionally with the revenues of the technology segments.

On March 7, 2005, the Company replaced existing committed
credit facilities with a new $800 million, five-year committed
credit facility. This facility is available for general corporate pur-
poses, including, without limitation, to provide liquidity support
for the issuance of commercial paper and acquisition financ-
ing. As of December 31, 2005, the Company had $28.0 million
of commercial paper outstanding, all of which matured on
January 3, 2006.

In May 2005, the Company entered into a five-year committed
credit facility for approximately $33 mitlion {270 million Chinese
Renminbi) with three major foreign banks. The facility is avail-
able for general corporate purposes for various subsidiaries
within China. In addition, in March 2006 the Company replaced
an existing $12 million credit facility with a new $17 million,
five-year committed, dual currency revolving credit facility for
its Environmental Technologies business within China.

On August 12, 2005, the Company issued a third tranche of
Japanese yen 5.5 billion notes (approximately $50 million)
bearing a coupon of 0.75% in the private placement market.
in addition to the low coupon rate, these notes serve as an
effective net investment hedge of a portion of the Company's
yen-denominated investments.
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The Compeny mainiains g she'f registraticn of $45C milionio
faclitets ihe "“o*’waaﬁy s adhity i .o raise Casn Tov §enera. corpe-
rete purseses. The Comnany mainteins investment-grad
crecit ratings thet it consicers imgoriant for cosi-effactive and
reacy access io the caditel f‘*”m s. Should the umﬂoauy s
aiing droo oelow invesimen: grade, the Company woulc
experience higher caniia! cost s and mey incur cifficulty in

‘neenuery of 2008, 3ASF anncuncec atencer citerforaiiof
'siangding shares of the Company’s stock, for $37.CC per
then, the Compgany’s stock has traded ebove
; nare. As a result, many empioyaes and forme
emo'ovws exercised vested stock opiions resuiting in pre-
ceads of $59.7 million and an increzse in the shares ouistand-
ng o" 2.8 million as of February 21, 2006. As a resuit ol ine
BASF Cifer, the Co*woa*y wes reguired to fund a trust account
Tor ceitain previously unfunced retirement £rograms for cur-
rentand o*rﬂar senior executives and cirectors, resutingine
cash paymen:t to this trust of approximately $1711 milicnin
Jenuary 2005 Shouid a change in contro! of the Company
occurata e of $37.00 per share, acditional casih payments
of app(oxz. ! v.y $85 miiiion wiii be cue o certain employees.

ne Company’s available casn and unused commitied cradit

lines represent 2 measure of the Company’s shori-term liquidity
position. The Company’s Maierials Services segment provides

ufticient cash to fund the Company’s commitied metai posi-
tions, as discussed in the canlial resources section. The
Ccmpany baiieves that its shori-term liguidity position is suffi-
cient to meet ithe casn recuirements of tne Company. ~ e
Compary’s invesiment grade rat/ng, $450 mion sheif -egistra-
tion and access to debt and eguity markets are sufficient to
meet the iong-term liguicity reguirements of the Company.

Capital resources +he Company’s technolcgy segments repre-
sam' the *‘vos“‘ significant internal capiial resource ¢f the

aglet:A ny ne Cempany’s techinoiogy segments contain busi-
resses that generate significant cash flow. Cash flows from the
Materials Services segment tend to fluctuate from period to
veriod due to the timing of metal contracis. The “All Othar” cat-
egory includes the Ventures group, the Strategic Technologies
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roup end otine co*oo*axe functiors, wnich coliectively use
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Netceash provided oy oae*au*” activities was $258.% milicnin
2005 compared with $323.4 milion in 2004, The Compeny vol-
unterily coniributed $5C million to iis Q"“"""S is cefined benefit
D°“ISiO”I plans inresponse s economic fasicrs in QVO’ The
Znvironmenta: Tecnnologies sagment experiznced reguced
zsh ficws from overations of averoximately $1C0 million ori-
mar.ty cduetoanincrease inworking cesiial reguiraments
associztec wilth ine segment’s dlese’ calelyzed soct ilter busi-
ness. Other veriances In cash fiows rom cperaiing activilies

cccurred inihe Vateris's Services segment c
changes in metea, positions used o faciiials enis of
the Company, its meiz! customers and sussiar :\cte 25,
“Sunzlemental informetion,” for Veteria! Se: ions).

pet-w
Veteriels Services routinel ye'x grsintogvariely of arrange-
ments for the sgurcing of metels. Generally, iransactions are
nedged on e daily basis. Fecging is eccomzlisned primarily
whrough forwarg, fuiure ang option co*t.fec 'S, -ow*—*vor, in
cicsely monitored si‘tuauons for wnich exposure laveis hav
peen set by senior managemen?, the Cempany, frcm timeto
time, nolus large unhedged incusiria) commodity positions
that are sublect o fulure marke! orice fiuciuations. These posi-
tions are inciuded in commitied meteal cesitions, along with
hedgea metal heigings. Tne buik of hedgec meta coiigetions
renresent spof short positions. Cihe waA in clossly ronitored
situations, these positions are nedgad *nrough forward pur-
cinases. Uniess 2 forward ccunferpany feils to periorm, ther
is no price risk for these transections. .n edditien, the aggre-
gate fair value of derivatives in e icss nosition is reseriedin
necged metal obiigations (Cerivatives in 2 geln positicnars
included in commitied meial positions). \/n“c' a's Servicas
woriks to ensure tnat the Company anc its cusiomers havs an
uwmtcm_oieoa source of metals, primarily olatinum group met-
a's, utilizing supnly contracis and commocities markeis
around the world. Commitied metal positicns may inciuge sig-
nificant advances made for ihe purchass of orecious meials
that have been delivered o the Comdany but for wnich ire final
purchase price has not yei been agtermined. As of Secember 31,
2005, the fair value of precious metal received but not priced
exceeced orovisional paymenrts by $138.8 miliicn.

The Company’s joint ventures operaie incepencenily of addi-
tional Company financing. These joini veniures returned
$15.4 milfion of casn to the Company in 20C5. The Company
anticinates cash proceeds from s joint ventures to remein at
this leval in 2008.

Tne Company 2iso depends upon access {o ¢sbl and equily
marke's, as ciscussed in theiicuid’ty section, s a2 scurce of cash.

The Company continues to invest currently to ceveiop fuiure
sources of cash througn self-investment, alilances, licensing
agreemenis and acauisitions. Notabiy, during 2005, the



Company invested $108.2 million in research and development,
$141.6 million in capital projects and $165.0 million in acquisi-
tions and other investments. Capital expenditures for 2006 are
expected to approximate $150 million. Acquisitions during
2035 included approximately $73 million, net of cash acquired,
for the acquisition of Coletica, S.A. and related holdings (see
Note 5, “Acquisitions”). In the second quarter of 2005, the
Company acquired the catalyst business of Nanjing Chemical
industry Corporation (NCIC) for approximately $20 million (see
Note 5, “Acquisitions”). The Company has paid $14 million of
this to date, and expects to pay the remaining $6 million due to
the former owners of NCIC in 2008. in the third quarter of 2005,
the Company acquired Almatis AC, Inc. for a total purchase
price of $65 million (see Note 5, “Acquisitions”). The Company
actively pursues investment opportunities that meet risk and
return criteria set by senior management. The Company

expects to find opportunities in the future and will act upon
these opportunities accordingly.

In addition to investment opportunities, the Company will
return value to the shareholders through eftective capital
structure management. This is done through share buy-back
programs and dividends. In 2005, the Company purchased
approximately 2.1 million outstanding shares of common
stock, net of stock options exercised. In May 2005, the
Company’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase
program of 6 million shares. In addition, the Company’s Board
of Directors approved an increase in the quarterly dividend
from $0.11 per share to $0.12 per share in the first quarter of
2005. The Company expects to find future investment opporiu-
nities, and will be able to reduce the future amount of shares
purchased when this occurs.

The following table is a representation of the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005 (the notes below provide fur-

ther detail with regard to the Company’s contractual obligations):

Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations Less than Two-three Ec-);r—fi;reiﬂ 7 -—h;lge?a_n
(in millions) Total one year years years five years
Short-term borrowings $ 488 $ 488 $ - $ - $ -
Accounts payable 562.0 562.0 - - -
Other current liabilities 265.4 265.4 - - -
Hedged metal obligations 640.8 640.8 - - -
Long-term debt, including interest payments(@ 764.4 140.1 33.1 1705 420.7
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the balance sheet under GAAP®) 31841 1.0 452 3901 2338
Purchase obligations — metal supply contracts() 5,355.4 874.8 1,823.4 1,328.6 1,328.6
Pool accounts©) 455.2 455.2 - - -
Operating leases 180.1 249 487 449 61.6
PGM leases(® 108.3 108.3 - - -
Other purchase obligations(® 100.3 82.4 17.9 - -
Total contractual obligations $8,799.8 $3,203.7 $1,583.1 $2,044.7

$1,958.3

(@) Future interest payments calculated using the December 31, 2005 LIBOR rate and foreign exchange rates as of December 31, 2005.

(b) Amounts relate to postretirement/postemployment obligations (see Note 17, "Benefits,” for further detail), with the remainder consisting of executive deferred com-
pensation, SFAS No. 143 asset retirement obligations (see Note 4, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” for further detail) and the long-term portion of the
environmental reserve (see Note 22, “Environmental Costs,” for further detail). The ‘More than five years' category includes $81.7 million related to the Company’s
minimum pension liability (see Note 17, “Benefits”), as well as $58.1 million of other noncurrent liabilities for which the timing of payment is not readily determinable.

(¢} These amounts reflect minimum purchase obligations for the purchase of platinum group metals (PGM) assuming the December 31, 2005 prices for the various met-
als continue into the specified future periods. However, these are not fixed price arrangements; the prices are based on future market prices. As a result, the

Company wiil be able to hedge the purchases with sales at those future prices.

(d) Represents the December 31, 2005 value of precious metals deposited with the Company, principally for the manufacture of catalysts utilizing those metals.
(&) Represents the December 31, 2005 value of PGM which the Company has leased from third parties and then onward leased to industrial customers.
(f) Amounts primarily refate to purchase orders for raw material purchases and warehousing- and transportation-related costs.
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continued

,

in the normai course o business, the Company incurs obiiga-
tions with regard to contract completion, reguleiory comnl-
ance and procuct cerformance, Under certain circumstances,
inese obligations are supporied through the issuance of letter
of credit. At December 31, 2005, the 2ggregate outstanaing
emount of ietters of cradit supporting such cbilgziions
amounied (o $121.4 miion, of which $114.7 ¢
in less than one year, $1.0 milion wil expire in two 1o three
years, $C.2 millon will sxoire in four to five years and $5.5 mi'-
ficn will exnire after five years.

The Company has not engaged in any iransaciion within the
vast 12 monihs, end nes no agreement or otner contractual
arrangement, {o which an entity unconsclidated wiin tne
Company is g perty that would constituie an off-palance shaet
arrangemant, s such term is defined in ‘tem 308(a}{4)(ii) of
Regulation S-X.

Credit Risk

The Company believes that its financial instruments ¢o nct ren-
rasent a concentration of credit risk becausa tha Company
dezals witin a variety of meior banks worldwice and its eccoun's
receivable are spread among a number of mejor indusiries,
cusiomers and geographic areas. A ceniralized cred't commii-
tee reviews significant credit transactiors and risk-management
issues before granting cradit, and an appropriate isvel of
reserves is maintained. in addition, the Company, througn iis
credit commities and credit gepartmeant, monitors the status of
woridwide accoun's receivadle and tne financia! condition of
its customers {o halp ensure coflections and tc minimize losses.

The Company may enter into transactions in which it advances
funas efter receipt of metal as provisional payment for ine metal
which is to 2a finaily priced unaer market-basead pricing formulae
inat will resuli in a determination of that price. if the final price
is less than the provisional orice paid, the supplier wil be obli-
geted to return the difference to the Company. Tnerefore, if the
marke! price (and the anticipated final price) falls belcw the
orovisional orice, the Comnany is exnosead to the potential
credii risk essociated with the possidility of non-payment by
the supnlier, although no payment is due untit after the final
orice is ceterminec. As of Decemoer 31, 2005, ine aggregate
market value of metals purchased under a contract for winich &
orovisionel price hac beer paid wes in excess of the amounts
aclvanced by 2 toial of $138.2 mitlion. As a result, this amount
was recordec in commitied metal positions and accounis
payable at Dacember 31, 2005, and no credit risk existed.

Commitments and Contingencies

For information ebou: commiimants and contingencies, see
Note 22, “Environmenta: Costs” and Note 23, “Litigation and
Ceniingencies.”

Dividends and Capital Stock

Common stock dividends oaid were $0.48 per share in 2005,
$0.44 ner share in 2004 and $0.41 ner share in 20C3.

44

Peru Update
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Other Matters

See Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Paiicies,” fora
discussicn of new ascounting prenouncement

Related Party Transactions

Ses Note 18, “Relatec Parly Transactions,” for 2 Ciscussion of
reiated pariy iransactions.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Cartain key policies and estimates are exziained seiow (o
assist in uncerstending the Company’s corsolidaied financial
statemenis. More detalled expianations may e found else-
where in Management’s Discussion ana Analysis of -irancial
Condition anc Fesulis of Coeraticns sactign ang in the Notes
to Consclidatec Financiai Statements.

Sales Asignificant portion of consol’deied net sales reoresent
the sale of platinum group metais to industrial cusicmers who
ouy the metals irom Materials Services in conneciion with
proeducts manuiactured oy the Environmental and Process
Technologies segments. Accordingly, aimost all of these sales
are reporied in the Vateria!s Services segment, with a limited
amount included in Snvironmenial and Process Technologies’
redorted szles. ecause metal price leveis may vary wicely,
there is no consistent relationship betwesn consoiidaiad saies
and gross provit.

3ecause ihe timing of the purcnase of spot meials often does
not coincide witn the timing of the subseguent sales to indus-
trial users, Vaierizls Services neads te hedge price risk,
usually by saling forwaid (i.e., for ‘uture delivery) o investment-
grade trading entities, incustria! companies or on fuiures
exchanges. if a surplus of physicai metal develops, Meaterials
Services may also seii spot and buy forward to balance therisk
position. Cther than nedges entered ino with industiial
customers, sales related to these hedging transactions are not
included in reporied sales, as they are not meaningiul in an
incustriat context.

Customers of the Environmente! and Process Technolcgies
segmenis who purchase products that imorove efficiency and
yields are often unabie to preciseiy predici the dates that cata-
fysts will be required. Acceoraingly, they may request that ored-
uct that nas alreacy been orderad, manufactiured and
prepared for shioment at the agreed upcn cate be temporerily
held by the Company untit that customer’s manufaciuring facil-
ity is prepared to accept the new charge of catalyst. in cases



where the customer requests the Company te hold the goods,
agrees o be invoiced and to pay the invoices on normal terms,
as well as to accept title to the goods, the Company will recog-
nize the sale prior to shipment. Stringent procedures and con-
trols are in place to ensure that these sales are only recognized
in accordance with the applicable revenue recognition guidance.

Mark-to-market Maierials Services procures physical metal
from third parties for resale and enters into forward contracts
and other relatively straight-forward hedging derivatives that
are recorded as either assets or liabilities at their fair value. By
acting in its capacity as a distributor and materials service
provider to the Company’s technology businesses and their
customers and by taking closely monitored unhedged positions
as descripbed below, Materials Services takes on the attributes
of a dealer in commodities. Both spct metal and derivative
instruments used in hedging (i.e., forwards, futures, swaps and
options) are stated at fair value. The Company values platinum,
palladium, gold and silver based on the daily closing New York
Mercantile Exchange setilement prices. There are no so-called
“terminal” markets for rhodium. The Company values rhodium
based upon prices published in METALS WEEK, an inde-
pendent trade journal. Values for base metals come from the
closing prices of the London Metals Exchange.

In closely monitored situations, for which exposure levels and
transaction size limits have been set by senior management,
the Company holds unhedged metal positions that are subject
to future market fluctuations. Such positions may include
varying levels of derivative instruments. At times, these posi-
tions can be significant. All unhedged metal transactions are
monitored and marked-to-market daily. This metal that has
not been hedged is therefore subject to price risk and is dis-
closed in Note 12, “Committed Metal Positions and Hedged
Metal Obligations.”

The fair values of Materials Services’ various spot and deriva-
tive positions are included in committed metal positions on the
asset side of the consolidated balance sheet and hedged
metal obligations on the liability side. The credit (performance)
risk associated with the fair value of derivatives in a gain posi-
tion is greatly mitigated tnrough the selection of investment-
grece counterparties.

Precious metals Most of the platinum group metals used by
Environmental and Process Technologies to manufacture prod-
ucts are provided in advance by the customers. The customers
often purchase these metals from Materials Services, but they
may aiso be shipped in from other sources.

Certain quantities of precious metals are carried at historical
cost using the LIFO method. Because most of the metal was
acquired some time ago, the market value of this metal, while
fluctuating from year to year, has generally been substantially
above cost. While this excess of market over cost is useful in
evaluating the consolidated balance sheet from a credit per-
spective, the annual changes are not reflected in the income
statement except to the extent that periodic liquidations of
LIFO layers produce book profits. LIFO liquidation profits are
separately disclosed and not included in the operating earnings

of the technology or Materials Services segments but are
included in the “All Other” category.

Provision for environmental remediation With the oversight of
environmental agencies, the Company is currently preparing,
has under review, or is implementing environmental investiga-
tions and cleanup plans at several currently or formerly owned
and/or operated sites, including Plainville, Massachusetts. The
Company continues to investigate and remediate contamina-
tion at Plainville under a 1993 agreement with the United
States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The Company
continues to address decommissioning issues at Plainville
under authority delegated by the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

In addition, as of December 31, 2005, 14 sites have been iden-
tified at which the Company believes liability as a potentially
responsible party is probable under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1880, as amended, or similar state laws (collectively referred to
as Superfund) for the cleanup of contamination and natural
resource damages resulting from the historic disposal of haz-
ardous substances allegedly generated by the Company,
among others. Superfund imposes strict, joint and several lia-
bility under certain circumstances. in many cases, the dollar
amount of the claim is unspecified and claims have been
asserted against a number of other entities for the same relief
sought from the Company. Based on existing information, the
Company believes that it is a de minimis contributor of haz-
ardous substances at a number of the sites referenced above.
Subject to the reopening of existing settlement agreements for
extraordinary circumstances, discovery of new information or
natural resource damages, the Company has settled a number
of other cleanup proceedings. The Company has also
responded to information requests from EPA and state regula-
tory authorities in connection with other Superfund sites.

The accruals for environmental cleanup-related costs reported
in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2005 and
2004 were $18.0 mitlion and $19.1 million, respectively, includ-
ing $0.1 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004 for Superfund
sites. These amounts represent those undiscounted costs that
the Company believes are probable and reasonably estimable.
Based on currently available information and analysis, the
Company'’s accrual represents approximately 38% of what it
believes are the reasonably possible environmental cleanup-
related costs of a noncapital nature. The estimate of reasonably
possible costs is less certain than the probable estimate upon
which the accrual is based.

Cash payments for environmental cleanup-related matters
were $1.2 million in 2005, $1.3 million in 2004 and $1.8 million in
2003. In 2003, the Company recognized a $2.0 million liability
for a facility in France.

For the past three-year period, environmentai-related capital
projects have averaged less than 10% of the Company'’s total
capital expenditure programs, and the expense of environ-
mental compliance (e.g., environmental testing, permits, con-
sultants and in-house staff) was not material.
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continued

There can ve no assurances thet environmental iaws and regu-
lations wiil not changs or that the Company wili not incur signif-
icant costs in the future to comp!ly witin such laws and
raguiations. Based on existing information and current environ-
mentel iaws and regulations, cash payments for environmanta’
cleenun-relatea maiters are projacted to be $2.5 mitfon for
23803, wnich has aiready been accrusc. Further, the Compeany
anticipates that the amounts of capitalized environmenta!l oioj-
ecis end ihe expense of environmeniai compliance wil: apgrox-
imate curren: levels. The Company has an Environmantal,
Health ana Safety (E-&S) depariment that implements and
assesses compliance (o oolicies, proceduras and corirols
zround the Company’s environmental exposures and vossidble
Haoilities. These poiicies, procedures anc controls ere intendec
ic assure that the Corporate ZH&S depariment is aware of ali
issues thet may have a poiential impact on the Ccmpany.

While it is not possible to precict with ceriainty, management
teiieves environmental cieanup-reiated reserves at

December 31, 2005 are reasonadle anc aedeguate, and environ-
mentel matters are not expecied to have 2 material adverse
effeci on financia! condition. However, if these matiers are
resowvad in a manner different from the sstimates, they coud
nave a materiai adverse effect on the Company’s operating
resuiis or cash fiows.

Goodwill As of December 31, 2005, ine Company nad

$420.7 million of gocdwil! that, based on imoairment tesiing In
2C05, is not impaired. In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other intangible Assets,” the Comaany com-
dletes an impairment {est of goocwill annually, or more fre-
guently if an event occurs or circumstances change thet woud
more likeiy than not reduce tne fair vaiue of its reporting units
celow tneir carrying vaiue. Tne impairment test reguires the
Compeny o estimate the fair values of i{s reporling units,
which is cone by using a ciscounted cash flow modal.
Significant estimates used in the Company’s discounied cash
fiow model include future cash fiows and iong-term rates of
growth of its reporting units and a discount rate based on the
Company’s weignted-average cost of capital. Assumptions
used in cetermining future cash fiows inciude current and
expecied market cenditions and future sales forecasts.

Anproximately 95% of the Company’s goodwiii is attributabis
to reporting units with fair values that excead the carrying val-
ues of the reporting units by a substantial margin. The use of
different estimates and assumptions, within ine range of pre-
dicteble nossinilities, emoloyed in the discounted cash flow
mode: that measures the fair value of these reporiing units,
would not be expected to resu'tin an impairment of goodwill.
The remaining 5% of the goodwili resides in reporting units
witn fair values that modestly exceed the carrying vaiues of the
reporting uniis. The use of different estimates and assump-
iions employed in the discounted cash flow modei that meas-
ures the fair value of these reporting urits cou'd result in an
impairment of goodwill. However, the maximum value exposed
tc changes in estimates and assumptions, based uoon the cur-
rent range of predictable possibilities, is $192.8 million. Included
in this amount is $15.9 milfion of goodwill acquired with the
industrial procucts business within the Envircnmental
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Technoiogies segment and $4.0 milion of goocwi! relzled to

Certain long-lived assets in accordance wita SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the mpairment or Dispesz! of Long-Lived
Assets,” the Company reviews 'is oroverty, nlantand equ -
ment for impairment whenevsy evenis or circumstarces irci-
cate that tneir carrying amount may not g racoverabie.
impairment reviews reguire a comparison of the esli;
fuiure undiscountec cash flows to the cerrying vaius of the
assetl. \f the total of ine undiscounted casn flows is less than
tne carrying value, an impairment charge is recorded for the
aifference between the estimated fair velie ena tha cairying
vaiue of the zsset. Significant assumptions usaed intne
Compa fu

nv's undiscounted casn flow model include future cash
fiows atiributed o the group of assets, the group of 2ssets
subject to the impairment and the time neriod for wnich the
assets will be held and used. Assumptlions used in determining
future casn fiows inciude current arnd expecied markei cendi-
tions and future sales forecasts. The use ¢f ¢ifferent estimeies
or assumptions within the Company’s undisccunied casn flow
modei cou.d resulf in undiscounied cash ficws lower than the
current value of the Cempany’s asse's, thereby requiring tne
need to compare the carrying vaiues ic thelr fairvaiues. The
use of different estimates or assumptions when determin ng
the fair value of the Company’s property, plent 2nd eguicment
may result in different values {or cur proverty, niant and eguip-
ment, and any relatec impairment charges.

Income taxes As of December 31, 2005, net deferred iax
assets are approximately $106.1 million. The Compzny deter-
mines its current and deferred taxes in accordance with SFAS
No. 109, “Accounting for income Taxes.” The taex effsct of the
reversa. of tax differences is recorded at rales curr
enactec for each jurisdiction in which it operates. 7o the extent
that temporary cifferences will resuit in future tax senefit. t
Compeny must estimate the timing of their reversel, and
whnether taxable operating income in future periods wit! be suf-
ficient to fuily recognize any deferred iax asse’s of the
Company. The future impact on income taxes from earnings
tnat may resuit from using different assumations and/or esti-
mates cannot be reasonably quantified due o the number of
scenarics and variables that are present.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company nad epproximataly
$400.0 milion of state net operaling loss carryforwards that
expire at various intervals between 2006 and 2025. Vhe oroba-
bility of not being able to utilize these net operaling 10ss carry-
forwards is low under a wide range of scenarios. Due {o shortenec
available carryover periods in certain stale jurisdiciionrs, the
Company has recorded a valuation aliowance of apgroximaisly
$52 million of the state net onerating loss carryforwerds.

it is the Company’s policy {0 establish reservas for faxes that
may beceme payabie in fulure years as a resull of tax examina-
tions. The Company establishes reserves for taxes bassd upon
management’s assessment of {ax exposures under 2pdlicedble
accounting principles and proncuncements. The tax reserves



are analyzed on a quarterly basis and adjustments are
recorded as events occur that warrant changes to individual
exposure items and to the overall tax reserve balance. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company has recorded appropriate
reserves for tax exposures it has determined are probable.

The Company is regularly audited by the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) and the various foreign and state tax authorities
in the jurisdictions in which the Company does business. The
IRS has examinad the Company’s tax returns through 2001 and
it is currently examining the Company’s tax returns for 2002
and 2008.

Pensions and other postretirement/postemployment costs The
Company’s employee pension and other postretirement/
postemployment benefit costs and obligations are dependent
on its assumpftions used by aciuvaries in calculating such
amounts. These assumptions include discounti rates, salary
growth, expected returns on plan assets, retirement rates,
mortality rates and other factors. The discount rate assumption
reflects the rate that the liabilities could be settled on the
measurement date of September 30th. The Company based
this discount rate on investment vields available on AA-rated
corperate long-term bond yields. The duration of the AA bonds
closely matches the duration of the Company’s pension liabil-
ity. The salary growth assumptions reflect the Company’s
long-term actual experience, the near-term outlook and
assumed inflation. The health care cost trend assumptions are
developed based on historical cost data, the near-term outlook
and an assessment of likely long-term trends. Retirement rates
are based primarily on actual plan experience. Mortality rates
are based on published data. Actual results that differ from the
Company’s assumptions are accumulated and amortized over
future periods and, therefore, generally affect recognized
expense and recorded obligations in such future periods. While
the Company believes that the assumptions used are appropriate,
significant differences in actual experience or significant
changes in assumptions would affect pension and other
postretirement/postemployment benefit costs and obligations.

The Company has determined that its net pension cost is pro-
jected to be approximately $41 million in 2006, compared with
$33 million in 2005 and $26 million in 2004. Based on a review
of the current environment, the Company used a long-term rate
of return assumption of 8.9% (domestic) and 7% (foreign) to
value its net periodic pension expense in 2005 and expects to
maintain these assumptions in 2006. A 1% change in the long-
term rate of return assumption would increase or decrease net
periodic pension expense by approximately $8 million in 2006,
The Company lowered its domestic discount rate for determin-
ing net periodic pension expense from 6.25% in 2004 to 6.0%
in 2005. Further adjustments are being made in 2006 to iower
the domestic rate to 5.5%. This adjustment reflects industry
trends and the current interest rate environment. A 25 basis-
point increase in the discount rate would decrease pension
expense by approximately $3 million in 2006 and decrease the
2005 projected benefit obligation (PBO) by approximately

$25 million. A 25 basis-point decrease in the discount rate

would increase pension expense by approximately $3 million in
2006 and increase the 2005 PBO by approximately $27 mitlion.
The Company used September 30, 2005 as the measurement
date for its assets and liabilities. Assets on this date were

$640 million. The value of the assets increased to $551 million
at December 31, 2005. The Company expects its postretirement/
postemployment benefit costs to be $12 million in 2006.

Forward-looking Statements

This document contains forward-looking statemenis within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements relate to analyses and other informa-
tion that are based on forecasts of future resulis and estimates
of amounts not yet determinable. These statements also relate
to future prospects, developments and business strategies.
These forward-looking statements are identified by their use of
terms and phrases such as “anticipate,” “belisve,” “could,” “esti-
mate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,”
“will” and similar terms and phrases, including references to
assumptions. A summary of key assumptions used to develop
these forward-looking statements is included on page 49
under the caption “Key Assumptions.” These forward-looking
statements involve risks and unceitainties, internal and exter-
nal, that may cause the Company’s actual future activities and
results of operations to be materially different from those sug-
gested or described in this document. A discussion of these
risk factors is included below under the caption “Risk Factors.”
Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance upon these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of their dates.

HIRTS

"« FITS o«

Risk Factors

Internal risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results
to differ materially and negatively impact the Company include:

= The Company’s ability to achieve and execute internal business
plans. The Company is engaged in growth and productivity ini-
tiatives in all technology segments. Specifically, the Company
has major growth initiatives in businesses serving the personal
care, energy materials, polyethylene, diesel emissions and
gas-to-tiquids markets. These initiatives represent forays into
relatively new markets for the Company, and therefore are sub-
ject to greater risk than the Company’s traditional markets.
Additionally, failure to commercialize proprietary and other
technologies or to acquire businesses or licensing agreements
to serve targeted markets would negatively impact

the Company.

= Future divestitures and restructurings. The Company may
experience changes in market conditions that cause the
Company to consider divesting or restructuring operations,
which could impact future earnings.

= The success of research and development activities and

the speed with which regulatory authorizations and product
launches may be achieved. The Company’s future cash flows
depend upon the creation, acquisition and commercialization
of new technologies to replace obsolete technologies.
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Manufacturmg difficulties, property loss, or casualty loss.
/-\ii 'TOuCK"l tne Comzary meintains cusiness inlerrupticn insur-
ance, tng Sompeany is cependent Upon INe operating success
.‘ ] menu! a" acilities, and oes o~ma‘..:a’n racundan:
esa meanufec! u ing facities wouid cause
g d mage customer

’*1*«/~,'
-1

1

Capamtyconstramts So*ﬂeo the Company’s dusinesszss
coeraie nesr current capacity levels, nctabiv cperaticns sarv-
ing the pelroisum refining coergiions. Sﬂou ¢ demend forcer-
‘zin oroguctis increzse, ’f:c Comzeany woult exgerfence
sheri-term ¢itficuty ymes ting the incres ec’ demend, hin
growin opporit ni"uos.

o

: Product quality deficiencies. Company’s procucisere
CMera’;y e Xe! b;sac ugon specifications agress upon with
cusicmers. teliure to meet thase spwf'z‘ica’tio:ts couit nega-

tively impastthe! O‘HCE."y

- The impact of physical inventory losses, particularly with
regard to precious and base metals. Althcugh the Company
maintains property and Vasmuy insurance, the Comzeany
holds la:’ge pn.ys.ca! quaniiiies of brecious and base melals,
cfien for the account of third pariies. These guantities are sub-

£

ject toioss oy tneft end manufacturing inefficiency.

:

L|t|gat|on and legal claims. T re Compary is currently engaged
invarious lege! cisputes, inclucing litigation related to tha
BASF Offer Urfavorable resoiution of these disputes would
ne gafweiv imoact tne Company. Stil unicentified fuiure egal

aims could a:so negetively impact the Compeany.
g ; !

= Contingencies related to actua! or alleged environmental
contamination to which the Company may be a party (see
Note 22, “Environmental Cosis”).

= Uncertainty regarding the outcome of the BASF Offer may
affect the Company’s stock price and future business. The uncer-
teinty as {c trhe outcome of the BAS= Cffer may havean
adverse effect on employee retention anc recru tme'ﬁ and may
nagatively impact supolier and cusiomer relationship

= Exposure to product liability lawsuits. As a manufaciurer,
‘e Company is sudject tc end-user sroduct fability Figation
a2ssocizied with the Company’s producis.

Zxterralrisks, unceriainiies and changes in market condiiions
tnat could cause aciual results to differ materially and nega-
tively impact the Company include:

= Competitive pricing or product development activities
affecting demand for our products. The Comoany cperales in

a number of markets winere overcapacity, low-priced foreign
compatiiors, and other faciors crezie e situation wnere com-
oe‘tii‘ors compete for business by recucing their prices, nctably
the kaolin to paner market, some effect pigments n“ark\,Ls e
colorant markel, ceriain chemical process markets ang certain
componenis of the mobile-source environmental marssis.
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= Qverall demand for the Company’s products, whichis
dependent on the demand for our customers’ products. As &
sudpiier of materigis i¢ other manufacturers, the Comdany s
denandentupen ine marikets Tor its cusicmars’ srecucts.
Nctably, some North American automedile sroducers ’Mve
recently experienced financia! gifficuitizs "‘c gecreased proc-
uct cemand. Additionally, tecanoiocgical ecvances Zy i m:
""‘IC not-in-kindg comaetitors coul ".wc”"’ﬂe Semzany's cur-
entproducts obsoista,

= Changes in the solvency and quuidity of our customers.
Aithougn the Company bellgves it hes cC!C’J.LZ ‘e cregii poilicies,
me crecitwortniness of Cusicmars Cou g Changs. \_N“ teincus-

cmers of tne Company, wno sudsly saris tothe North Amarican
zutomodiie oroducars, have recertiy excerienced fingncial -
flculties, inc vc ~g benkrunicy. 3ankrusicy of other cusiomers
remains 2 threat. These customers represant & sudstantial por-
tion cf the Znvirenmental Tecnnologies segent’s Husiness.
The Company actively establishas znd meniicrs credit imits
to al cusiomers.

= Fluctuations in the supply and prices of precious and base met-
als and fluctuations in the relationships between forward prices
to spot prices. Ths Compeny cepends upon a reiiebis scuice of
zrecious mete's, used 1 the manuteciure of its producis, f
itseif and its customers. Tnese grecious metals are sourcag
from a fimited number of sungiier ’-\decre:se {1 e c.Va. [aD'r—
ity of these precious metals coud impact ine B £
Cempany. in ciosely monitered situgtions, ior wi!
ievels and transection size iimits have Doan ssi: «sy ssmo. menr-
agemen, ithe Company hoids unhadged metal positions inal
are sudjact to future market fiuctuations. 8uch positions may
incluce varying levels of derivative instruments, At timss, trese
positions can oe significant. Significant crhanges in markst
prices coulc negaiively impact the Company.

= A decrease in the availability or an increase in the cost of
energy, notably natural gas. The Company consumes mere than
11 milion MM37TUs of natural gas annually. Compered with
other sources ofenemy nature! gas is sudiect to volaifily in
availakiiity and price, cue to trgnsnortation, precessing and
storage reguiwrements. Recent hurricanss impacting m Guf
Coast have ¢riven up naiura! gas pricss end haveiimiled ava”—
abil'ty. A proiongac continuation of these nigner oricss, abse
tre ebility to recover these costs viz 37ice increzses or enai cy
surcharges, wili negatively imoact the Compary. Changes
couid includz customer and product reticnatizaticn, plant clo-
sures and asset impairments, particuarly incartain *n.’m/,a!s
operations serving ihe paner market.

= The availability and price of rare earth compounds. 7
Compnany uses cartain rare earth comasounas, preduced in Em-
ited locations worldwide.

= The availability of substrates. 'n the =nvironmental
Technologies segment, the Compzany nurchasses iarg quamr
ties of catalyst substrates from a mitec num>ber of supp iers.
These substrates are specificatiy designed anc manufactured
to reguirements established by the Company’s customers. An



inability to obtain substrates in sufficient volumes to meet cus-
tomer demand would negatively impact the Company.

= The availability and price of other raw materials. The
Company’s products contain a broad array of raw materials for
which increases in price or decreases in availability could neg-
atively impact the Company.

= The impact of increased empioyee benefit costs and/or the
resultant impact on employee relations and human resources.
The Company employs approximately 7,100 employees world-
wide and is subject to recent adverse trends in benefit costs,
notably pension and medical benefits.

= Higher interest rates. A portion of the Company’s debtis
exposed to short-term interest rate fluctuations. Anincrease in
lorg-term debt rates would impact the Company when the cur-
rent long-term debt instruments mature, or if the Company
requires additional long-term debt.

= Changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Comparny
regularly enters into transactions denominated in foreign cur-
rencies, and accordingly is exposed to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. The Company's policy is to hedge the
risks associated with monetary assets and liabilities resulting
from these transactions. Additionally, the Company has signifi-
cant foreign currency investments and earnings, which are
subject to changes in foreign currency exchange rates upon
translation into U.S. dollars.

= Geographic expansions not developing as anticipated. The
Company expects markets in Asia to fuel growth for many
served markets. China’s expected growth exceeds that of most
developed countries, and failure of that growth to materialize
would negatively impact the Company.

= Economic downturns and inflation. The diversity of the
Company's markets has substantially insulated the Company’s
profitability from economic downturns in recent years. The
Company is exposed to overall economic conditions. Recent
inflationary pressures have resulted in higher material costs.
The inability of the Company to pass these higher costs to cus-
tomers via price increases and surcharges would have a nega-
tive impact on the Company.

= Increased levels of worldwide political instability, as the
Company operates primarily in the United States, the European
community, Asia, the Russian Federation, South Africa and Brazil.
Much of the Company’s identified growth prospects are foreign
markets. As such, the Company expects continued foreign
investiment and, therefore, increased exposure to foreign politi-
cal instability. Additionally, the worldwide threat of terrorism can
directly and indirectly impact the Company’s foreign and
domestic profitability.

= The impact of the repeal of the U.S. export sales tax incentive
and the enactment of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.
The Company has decided not to repatriate any amounts from
its foreign subsidiaries at a reduced tax rate under the Act due

to its intention to increase its investments outside of the
United States.

= Government legislation and/or regulation particularly on envi-
ronmental and taxation matters. The Company maintains manu-
facturing facilities and, as a result, is subject to environmental
laws and regulations. The Company will be impacted by
changes in these laws and regulations. The Company operates
in tax jurisdictions throughout the world, and, as aresult, is
subject to changes in tax laws, notably in the United States,
the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, {taly,
Switzerland, France, Spain, South Africa, Brazil, Mexico, Ching,
Korea, Japan, India and Thailand.

= A slowdown in the expected rate of environmental regulations.
The Company’s Environmental Technologies segment’s cus-
tomers, and to a lesser extent, the Process Technologies seg-
ment’s customers, are generally driven by increasingly stringent
environmental regulations. A slowdown or repeal of regulations
could negatively impact the Company.

° The impact of natural disasters. Natural disasters causing
damage to the Company and our customers and suppliers
would negatively impact the Company.

Key Assumptions

The Company does not as a matter of course make detailed
public projections as to future performance or earnings. After
BASF commenced its $37.00 per share tender offer, the Board
of Directors, on January 20, 2008, unanimously determined
that the BASF Offer was inadeqguate and not in the best interest
of the Company’s stockholders (other than BASF and its affili-
ates). This determination was in part based on the Board'’s
belief that the offer did not fully reflect the value of the
Company’s businesses, particularly its future growth
prospects. As a result, the Company decided {o publicly
release information regarding its annual management opera-
tion plans that was developed in August 2005, prior to the
BASF Offer. The key assumptions used in developing these
plans, arranged by businesses within the Company’s seg-
ments, are set forth below. .

The Company’s internal financial forecasts are prepared solely
for internal use and capital budgeting and other management
decisions and are subjective in many respects and thus sus-
ceptible to interpretations and periodic revisions based on
actual experience and business developments. The projec-
tions were not prepared with a view to public disclosure or
compliance with the published guidelines of the SEC or the
guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants regarding projections or forecasts. The
Company’s independent accountants have not examined,
compiled or otherwise applied procedures to the projections
and, accordingly, do not express an opinion or any other form
of assurance with respect to the projections.

The projections also reflect numerous assumptions made
by management of the Company with respect to industry
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formeance, gereral business, econgmic, market and financia!
ther aii

o
conau.o"s and otner matters, ail of whicn are crf icult to predict

and many of wnich are beyond the Company’s conirol.
Accorcc‘ gly, there can be ne assurance “hat the assumpiions

ein prco* zring the orojections wiil orove accurate. it is

~ b
3 attihere [‘ be aifferances petween actuza! and pro-
cted resuits, and actual resuils may be meterialiy greater or

~

essinanincss coniainedinthe “*o’ec?:ons. Theinciusion of tha
crojections nerein shevid not be regarded as 2n indication that
the Compary or its affiiizies or reprasentziives considered or

censicers the proections nerein should be ratied unon as sucn.

D a"*y nor any of its affiliaies or representaiives
8s any representeticns e any carson regar rc-
: erfc mence of the Compeany compared (o the
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intne projections.

Environmental Technologies
Light duty vehicles

= _ight duty vehicle builds wi: grow globally at 2% over the
o.an oe**ocﬁ from 62 miliion vehicles in 2005 ic 68 million by
2019, driven primarily by incraasing living stancards in emerg-
ing markcts.

¢ Nortn America with strictest regulation and largest engines

averages aimost three cetalysts per vehicie. Zurope, with

increasing penetration rates of catalyzed soot fi'ters (CSF;} will
increase LO suo.’my over two catalysts per vehicle. Tightening
regulatory stancarcs in developing couniries wili bring the aver-
age in these regions uo io one catalyst ner vehicle.

= ‘ncreesingly sirict reguiatory standards and fiuctuating ore-
cicus metal nricing wili require more eavanced technology with
related velue pricing.

= Net effect of the above is that the global market for light duty
mission coniro! catelysts will grow at a 5% CACGR, from

SS i.5 bitlion in 2005 10 $1.9 billion by 2010. Of the $1.8 bilifon in

201C, $1.4 bitlion reiates to gasoline with the remaining $0.5 bil-

lion reiating to lignt-duty ciesel, primarily in Zurope.

« Gasoline:

@ G'obal segment will grow from 103 million catalysts in
2005 15 mitlion by 2010, 2 2.2% CAGR, with an average
ceta lyS!. m;nufac.urmg charge of $12 per catalyst.

> North America end turope wiil show minimal growth with
vapan and Korea flat. Miost of the growth will ceme from
emerging markets, ied by China.

= Siricter regulations will be adopied in the emerging mar-
kets over the pian period. China and 'ndia wili begin Eurc 3
this year and Euro 4 by 2008-10. Brazi! wiil adopt a US Tier 2
pro g am in 2002, Russia will begin to imdlement Zuro 2 this

yeer and Euro 3 by 2008.

50

i P

« Lignht-cduty ¢!

103
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= Zurepe, which accounts for 75% of ine r"amm, wiil Grow
rom 8.4 millon vehicles in 2335 to aimest 12 mition by 201G, 2
5% CAGR. Alarge percertaga of the remaining 25% is ore-

duced in Japan and Korea for experiinio curone,

= The diggest driver for this growih is the Ciese! penetration
rate growing from 46% inis year 1o 3% by 2040,

Tne catelyst marketfor ”o}"’(—dui’y gieseisinZurcpeiscur-
rently forecested to be almost $430 miliion by the enc of
207G, The largest growth oo
adoption rate of CSFs.

riun ’v isthe acceleraied

new

C)

¢ Euro 4, which begen phasing in during 2004 {2
pletto “ns) has not been filter (CS-) foreing. .?‘-.'owev

Eur cpean couniries cecams aware that amlien
standards were Deing exceaeded it urban erees, 1
due to particuiate matier. 2riving restriciions o“ unfiliered
vehicies were discussed as & possibie solution which
oromated OEMs to “voiuntarily” insial fiiters,

= Awareness of particulate maiter has O'Ccc. e zUt
acce'erate the adoption of Eure 5 for light-cuty o;ssel (rw.ow
projected for 2008). Zuro 5 reduces particuiaie emissions by
80% vs. Zuro 4 and will te filter forcing for 2 majority of
diese! vehicles.

share in Europe from 24% ic

= Grow the Company’s mariket s
35% by 2008.

Heavy-duty diesel

« Heavy-duty diese! engine demanc wiil increase cnly 1% per
year, from 1.6 mifiion engines in 2005 to .7 miilion engines in
2010 in the U.S., Europe and Japan.

= However, t.gn tening reguiaticns will increase the catalyst
market from 1.4 miilion units in 2005 tc 5 millicn ”:’.f*‘:s in 2010.

= Revenues {ex-PCGM/ex-substirate) are orgjecied to grow from
$100 million in 2005 o0 $330 mi'iion in 2010.

= For On-Road, US 2007 & 2010, Euro 4 & 5 and Japan 2005 &
2038 are “On Track” for implementation.

rLt a¥aVel

= Successful fieet testing of USJ7 emission systems in 2005.

= Non-vanadium SCR wi!! be required in U.S., Eurove
and Japan.

= curopean tax incentive programs wii: drive early adoption
of CSFs.

= New off-road regu'ations begin in 2038 and are nci inciuded
in revenues or earnings estimates.



Stationary source

= The Food Service market will grow from $3 million in 2005 to
$10 million in 2010 driven by pending charbroiler regulations
(2007). Adaresses fine particulate control and health and
safety benefits for ventless ovens.

« Successful development of differentiated mercury sorbent
tecnnology for coal-fired power plants assumed for 2008-2010.

Temperature sensing

: Market will grow from $225 milfion in 2005 to $300 million in
2010, 2a CAGR of 6%.

= The Company will improve on its 8% market share through
three growtn strategies:

« Accelerate optical thermometry commercialization by
penetrating new markets.

= Continue Asia geographic expansion.

= Add waier thermocouple technology o compleie the
Company temperature measuremeni portfolio.

Process Technologies
Chemicals

= (Gas economy catalyst market forecast to approximate
$350 mitlion in 2008 with a CAGR of 15%.

= Additional Gas economy catalyst growth from:

P

a Planned expansion from current “gas-to-liquids”
(GTL} customer.

o Leveraging Fischer-Tropsch catalyst technology to other
major GTL players.

= Leverage our syngas position from Nanjing acquisition.
= Successful entry into unserved petrochemical markets,
including ethane-based styrene, ethane-based acetic acid,
oropane-based acrylic acid and propane-based propylene
oxide, based on current commercial agreements.
= Growth rates for catalyst markets for oleochemicals, petro-
chemicals and fine chemicals range from 2% to 10% over the
olan period.

Petroleum refining

= FCC additives growth approximating 22% over the
plan period.

= Underlying market growth of 10% over the pian period.

= Additional growth from the expansion into environmental and
gasoline conversion additive technologies to meet increasing
global demands of propylene and petrochemical feedstocks
and regulatory compliance.

= Entry into new refining market areas by leveraging the Com-
pany’s technology through prospective iicensing agreements,
including hydrocracking, deep catalytic cracking and reforming.

= FCC market growth only projected at 2% over the plan
period with additional income from productivity gains.

= Natural gas price used was $7.25 per MMBTU. Adverse vari-
ances are expected to be substantially covered by surcharges
and other pricing actions.

Polyolefins
= Polypropylene growth approximating 26% over the plan period.

= Assumed growth of 7% over the plan period in proprietary
catalyst representing underlying market growtn of 5-56%

and remaining growth through differentiation and acceleration
of our technology development into the packaging and

film markets.

= Growth in volume from new licenses.
= Continuation of entry into polyethylene market.

Appearance and Performance Technologies
Personal care materials

= 7% growih per year in delivery systems for personal care
through 2008. In the case of commodity vitamins (30% of mar-
ket) where we don't participate, the rate is 5%. For more spe-
cialized actives, such as unigue exiracts from plants, the
growth rate is closer to 10%.

= Additional revenues/earnings from expanding the oroduct
offerings globally from the acquisitions made in the U.S. and
France in 2004 and 2005.

= Additional earnings from optimizing synergies in technology,
manufacturing and sales as we continue to integrate the
two acquisitions.

Effects
= Market for effects pigments in cosmetics and personal care
will grow at 7% per year. The market growth rate for industrial

applications will be 4-5%. Growth in the automotive market
will be lower.
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continuea

© Zxpeancing curinnovetion track info new sregrams deyend
Ticaenc QO“CS'RC«—._e gless, bismuth and fiim by ‘ocusing

resezrch end aevelopment on technelogy platferms and aweay

from line extensions wii add $15 miticn te revenues by 2070.

« Ces:reductions witl add $1C millicn to sarnings by 2070,
= Fazsterinnovation and an epdiications lalb in China will work
o counter Chinese compeiition, end cest management.
Kaolin

= Recover$ilm revenue znc $4 mitlonin earnings
from custome Fimand anc Canada

« $24 milton inrevenue in 2070 from Décer Growth Program

{ecoretive laminate pager market with supstituiion for Ti0g).
Croo protectantis (Surround) will 2do $28 miiion of revenuss
eng $10 million of earnings by 2010

« Cost raguction initiatives wilt add $12 mifion in earnings

= Ngiural gaes oric useci wes $7.25 per MMBTU. Adverse vari-
&NCes are exneciad o e sutstantially coverec by surcharges
and other pricing ecticns.

Ventures
= Aluminz business acguired in 2005 accounts for $72 milion of
2010 opereating sarnings with modest growth rates.

o D'ODOQZ’LS accounris for $8 midion of 28010 operating earn-
ngs enc depends mestiy on continued cemanc from th

£ -
Jze.fgy sector.

= Asepircl weler ireaiment are slated to generate $7 miliion of
ooereting earnings by 2010 related {o healih regiremants.

- \o;m*w inciuced inrevenues anc e
Dams and sattery materials program

nfngs for ceramic srog-

Corporate

s Shere buy-back programs, enabled by operating cash fiows,
wili offsst the dilutive imzact of empioyee denefit plans. Diluted
shares ouistanding for Operating Fian period are 122 million.

= The avarage eifective iax rate for tne Cperating Pian period
is 23%, with the 2070 pericd at 24%.

o Zguity earnings from the Company’s ecuity method joint ven-
fures, which primarily serve the Japanese and Korean automo-
tive cetalyst markets, nave conservatively been he!d constant
threughout tne plan period, desoiie 2 25% CAGR over the past
three yeers.
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Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosure about Market Risk

Market Risk Sensitive Transactions
The Company is exposed o market risks arls “.g :
chenges in interest rates, foreign currency excheange rates
anrd commedity crices. in ine normal cou 'se o DLs"zess, the
Compeny usss e veriety o' tecnnicuss anc insiruments,
z“ﬂ'..avmc derivetives, as part of its overali risk-managen-ent
tretegy. Tne Company enters into agrivative agresmentis
wi"rh a giverse group of major financial and otner institutions
with ingividually determined credit limiis 16 recuce exnosure
o therisk of ncnpe:'formance oy counterpariies.

Interestrate risk The Comoeany usss a sensitivity anzlysis to
assess the market risk of its cebi-related financial insirumenis
and cerivatives. Viarket risk is definad here as ine votential
change in the fair vaiue of dedt resulling from an adverse
movemsant in interes: rates. The fairvaive clf ine Cc-"npany‘s
;o;a‘ ceht was $584.2 milior anc $520.8 milion at

Zecember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, besec on prevailing
mie«’e& rates at those dates. A 10C basis-pointincreesein
interest rates could result in a reduction in the fair vaiue of tota!
aebt of $8.1 million at Decemier 31, 2035, comoared with
$13.5 m'iiion at Decemboer 31, 2204,

he Compary a:50 uses in‘erest rate derivatives that are desig-
nated as fair value hedges to he!p achieve its fixed and fleating
rete cebt objectives. The Company currerily has threg interest
rete swap agreements with a fotal nctiona! value of $15C miliion
maturing in May 2013. These agreements effectively change
fixed rate cebt obi’gaﬁ‘ons into floating rate deot obiigaiicns.
The total notiong! values and maiurily daies of tnesz agree-
ments are egual to the face values and the maturity C.:aleu of
the related debt instruments. For these fair vaive hedges, there
was no gain or loss recognized Trom hedged firm commitments
no longer qualifying as fair value nedges fer ine years ending
Deceamber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2093.

n December 2005, the Company entered info an interest raie
cerivetive contract, referred to as a Ferward lats Agreement
(FRA) coniract. This derivative ecmom‘cai?y he d ed the
Comnany’s interesi rate exposure for the May 5 =
rate reset undger two U.S. daliar to Euro cross- currency in erest
rate derivative swap agreemenis.

In September 2305, the Company terminatec two interest rate
swap agreements, with a totai notiona! vaiue of $1C0 miliion
maturing in August 2008, that were designaled as fair value
hedges. The accumuiated gain of $7.4 milkon resu'ting from the
termination of these two interest rate swap agreemenis will be
amortized to earnings over the remaining term of the underly-
ing debt instrument.

'n June 2005, the Company terminated two lﬁieres’r rate swap
agreements, with a fota! notionaf vafue of $120 miition maiuring
in June 2028, that were designaied as fair vaiue hedges. The
termination of thase two interesi rate swap agreements



resulted in an accumulated gain of $20.1 million that will be
amortized to earnings over the remaining term of the underly-
ing debt instrument.

In January 2005, the Company entered into two additional FRA
cortrects, which economically hedged the Company’s interest
rate exposure for the May 16, 2005 and the June 1, 2005 LIBOR
rate reset under two pre-existing interest rate swap agreements.
The FRA coniracts were terminated in March 2005 due to favor-
able market conditions and the gain was reflected in earnings.

in January 2005, the Company entered into a derivative agree-
ment with a total notional value of $74.7 million maturing in
January 2012. This agreement effectively changes a rental
obligation that varies directly with short-term commercial
paper rates 10 a fixed payment obligation. The total notional
value and other terms of this agreement are equal to the rental
payments and other terms of an operating lease for mach'nery
and eguipment used in the Process Technologies segment that
was renewed in January 2005. This derivative is designated as
& cash flow hedge, and as such, it is marked-to-market with
the gain/loss reflecied in other comprehensive income. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company reported an after tax gain of
$1.2 million in accumulated other comprehensive income.
There was no gain or loss reclassified from accumulated com-
prenensive income into earnings as a result of the discontinu-
ance of cash flow hedges due to the probability of the original
forecasted iransactions not occurring or hedge ineffectiveness.

in June 2004, the Company entered into two additional FRA
contracts, which economically hedged the Company’s interest
rate exposure for the December 1, 2004 LIBOR rate reset under
a pre-existing interest rate swap agreement. This FRA is
markec-to-market with the gain/loss being reflected in earnings.

In Miarch 2004, the Company entered into a FRA contract,
which hedged the Company’s interest rate exposure for the
May 15, 2004 LIBOR rate reset under a pre-existing interest
rate swap agreement.

Approximately 33% and 76% of the Company’s borrowings
nad variable interest rates as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
net of related interest rate swaps, respectively.

Foreign currency exchange rate risk The Company uses a
variety of strategies, including foreign currency derivative
contracts, to minimize or eliminate foreign currency exchange
rate risk associated with its foreign currency transactions,
including metal-related transactions denominated in other
than U.S. dollars.

The Company uses a sensitivity analysis {0 assess the market
risk associated with its foreign currency derivative contracts.
Market risk is defined here as the potential change in fair value
resulting from an adverse movement in foreign currency
exchange rates. A 10% adverse movement in foreign currency
rates could result in a net loss of $19.2 million at December 31,
2005, compared with $18€.5 million at December 31, 2004, on
the Company’s foreign currency derivative contracts. However,

since the Company limits the use of foreign currency derivative
contracts to the hedging of coniractual anc anticipated foreign
currency payables and receivables, this loss in fair value for
those contracts generally would be offset by a gain in the value
of the underlying payable or receivable.

A 10% adverse movement in foreign currency rates could result
in an unrealized loss of $42.8 million at December 31, 2005,
compared with $59.1 million at December 31, 2004, on the
Company’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries and affiliates.
However, since the Company views these investments as long
term, the Company would not expect such a gain or loss to be
realized in the near term.

Commodity price risk [n closely monitored situations, for which
exposure levels and transaction size limits have been set by
senior management, the Company, from time to time, holds
large, unhedged industrial commodity positions that are sub-
ject to market price fluctuations. Such positions may include
varying levels of derivative commodity instruments. All
unhedged industrial commodity transactions are monitored
and marked-to-market daily. All other industrial commodity
transactions are hedged on a daily basis, using forward, future,
option or swap contracts to substantially eliminate the exposure
to pricerisk. These positions are also marked-to-market daily.

The Company performed a “value-at-risk” analysis on all of its
metal-related commodity assets and liabilities. The “value-at-
risk” calculation is a statistical model that uses historical price
and volatility data to predict market risk on a one-day interval
with a 85% confidence level. While the “value-at-risk” models
are relatively sophisticated, the quantitative information gener-
ated is limited by the historical information used in the calcula-
tion. For example, the volatility in the platinum and palladium
markets in 2001 and 2000 was much greater than historical
norms. Therefore, the Company uses this model only as a sup-
plement to other risk management tools and not as a substitute
for the experience and judgment of senior management and
dealers who have extensive knowledge of the markets and
adjust positions and revise strategies as the markets change.
Based on the “value-at-risk” analysis in the contexi of a 85%
confidence level, the maximum potential one-day loss in fair
value was approximately $4.8 million at December 31, 2005,
compared with $2.3 million as of December 31, 2004. The
actual one-day changes in fair value of the Company’s metal-
related commodity assets and liabilities never exceeded the
average of the “value-at-risk” amounts as of the yearly open
and close for each of the Company’s 2005 and 2004 fiscal years.

The Company is also exposed to commodity price risk on the
unhedged portion of its natural gas purchases related to its
purchase of natural gas that is used in the manufacture of its
products. As of December 31, 2005, the Company has hedged
approximatety 30% of its expected natural gas purchases for
2008. At December 31, 2005, a uniform one-dollar increase in
the price of natural gas would result in a decrease in operating
earnings of approximately $8.2 million for the year ending
December 31, 2006 based upon the Company’s unhedged por-
tion of its expected natural gas purchases for 20086.
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2005 2004 2008 2002
$4,597.0 $4,135.1 $3,587.8 $3,753.6
246.3 2372 2374 ars
2.05 .83 1.8€ .34
2.02 1.89 ©.83 1.37
3,879.0 3.178.8 2,833.C 30287
4305 513.7 3805 247.8
1,489.2 1,414.3 1,285.4 w772
0.48 C.44 G.41 TAS
17.0%  178% 22.39 85%

Nzt earnings from continuing operations in 2005 include a tax provision benefit of $2.7 miitlion resulting from an agreement with the Intarnal Revenue Service wiih

raspect (o the Sompany's tax returns for 2001,

Net earnings from contiruing operations in 2004 include the faliowing: a tax provision benefit of $8.0 million resulting from an agree
Service with resnect to the Company’s tax raturns for 1888 through 2003, a charge of $4.1 million resuiting from the consolidation of certain mancfaciur

ment raached wiin ine inernal Revenue
ng oneraiions (o

improve efficiency and a credit of $0.8 million related to the reversal of prior year special charge accruals (see Note 8, “Speciai Charges and Cradits,” for further detail).
Net earnings from continuing operations in 2003 include the following: a royalty settlement gain of $17.6 million, a charge of $4.8 million for the fair vaiue of the rernaining

lease costs of certain minerals-storage facilities that the Company ceased to use and restructuring charges of $5.6 million (see Note 8

, “Special Charges ang Credits,”

for further detail). In addition, a transition charge of $2.3 miliion was recorded on January 1, 2003 as the cumulative effect of an accounting change (see Note 4,

“Acccunting for Assei Retirement Obligations,” for furiher detail).

Net earrings from continuing operations in 2002 include ihe following: an impairment charge of $57.7 million associated with the
ge of $4.1 million associated wiih an investment in fual-cell developer Plug Power Inc., & charge of $1.9 million related to a manuiacturing consolization

imnairment char
pian ang 2 $5.8 millien insurance settlement gain.

Engelhara-CLAL jolnt venture, 2n

‘es provide mo**mwm related io the adopiion of Statement of ~inanciz: Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 1
set Retirement Chiigations” (see Nale 4, “Accounting for Asset Retiremen: Coligations,” for further cae.az.}.
(§ in miilions, excapt per—snare :.mox.ms) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
re cumulative e™ect of
$246.3 $237.2 $238.4 $171.4 $225.5
accounting orincinie, net of tax of $7,380 - - £.3) - -
s _3__ ¢23r 2 $237.1 $171.4 $225.5
re mugtiveefeciof
e charge inaccouniing o*mc:’p!e $2.05 $7.63 $1.¢1 $1.24 $1.73
Cumugtivesliectclachange inac - - 1€.C2 - -
Zernings pershare from coni $2.05 $1.63 $1.88 $7.34 $7.73
—a"n'“f's ow share from cont c
Zarnings from continuing operations pefore cumuative eflect of
c.Cf!"':".\__;».; ‘neaccounting princizie $2.02 $..88 $7.88 $.37 $1.71
ve g 'ecioanic,"ange in accounti; G - - 2.02) ~ -
_za s s per shaie from C ) o:;e:a*rms—‘ uis $2.02 $1.82 $1.85 $1.37 $1.71
Zro forme amounts assuming tne Drovisicns of STFAS No. 743 were apc!ied retroactively:

o ~ o 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Neteearnings from continuing opsrations $246.3 $237.2 $23¢.4 $170.8 $225.C
3esic ezrnings per share from continuing operaticns 2.05 1.83 .81 733 .73
Silutec earnings per share from continuing operaticns 2.02 1.89 ©.8 .37 1.70
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(3 in millions, except per-share amounts)

2005

Net sales

Gross profit

Net earnings

Basic earnings per share
Dijuted earnings per share
2004

Net sales

Gross profit

Net earnings

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

wd Aegeed eI W AR EEaa B el I 3 2 WP e Wl L W O v.l
"~ Frst  sSecond  Third  Fourth
quarter quarter quarter quarter
$1,018.7 $1,008.2 $1,208.3 $1,271.8
168.7 185.4 174.6 189.3
58.0 579 58.5 63.9
0.48 0.48 0.49 0.53
0.47 0.47 0.48 0.53
$1,031.1 $1,098.3 $995.4 $1,010.3
159.4 169.7 168.7 171.8
50.3 68.0 59.1 58.1
0.41 0.55 0.48 0.48
0.40 0.54‘ 0.47 0.47

Results in the first guarter 2005 include a tax provision benefit of $2.7 million resulting from an agreement reached with the internal Revenue Service with respect to the

Company’s tax returns for 2001.

Results in the second quarter 2004 include a tax provision benefit of $8.0 million resulting from an agreement reached with the Internal Revenue Service with respect to

the Company’s tax returns for 1998 through 2000.

Results in the fourth quarter 2004 include a charge of $6.6 million {34.1 million after tax) resulting from the consolidation of certain manufacturing operations to improve
efficiency and a credit of $1.3 million ($0.8 million after tax) related to the reversal of prior year special charges accruals (see Note 8, “Special Charges and Credits,” for

further detail).

The above amounts are calculated independently for each of the quarters presented. The sum of the quarters may not equal the full-year amounts.
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Year ended December 31 (in thousands, excent per-share amounts) e
Netsales $4,597,016
Costof seles _ S 3879014
Gross p profit B 718,002
Seliing, adminisireiive and cther expenses 419,397
Soecial charge (cregit), ne! -
"-5}\59}5{3&5 earnings R 298,605
—ouity inearnings of effiliates 32,564
LCss oninvestme (239)
‘nterestincome 8,205
Interest expense 7 o (33709
zarnings osfore fncome taxes 305,426
‘ncome lax expense 59,078
Netear mings S from ¢ con‘u:u_x:é 50°r" ions before cumuiativa efest of o
achange in accounting orinciple 246,348
Cumulaiive effect of 2 change in accounting zrinciple, net ol iax of §1,38C -
 Net t earnings from continu! 'so operations ) - ' 24h6'—3287
from ciscontinuad operations, nstoflax (8,108)
i __7 e $ 238242
Zernings per snare - basic:
Zarnings from continuing opereiions bsfore cumiylative effact of
2 change in accounting princivie $ 2.05
Cumulztive effect of a changein apcc;un’cing orincipie, net cftax -
 Eemn ings f‘zéﬁ:cow-‘ira; ‘ om‘: S o 2.05
~oss from ciscontinuad opereions, net of tax i - ) .07
o mmoso :*e—b;sc » . B i B o $ - 1.98
-a”n'ngs per share—diluied:
Earnings from continuing coerations before cumuiative effect of
acnenge in acceunting grincinie $ 2.02
_ Curnuletive effect of a change in accouning orinciple, netotiax -
Zam nings from continuing operations o 202
Loss from discortinusd operations, net of tax (0.07)
;;:-_72:”1"103 ner share - ¢ d T o _;:7 8 1.95
/—\verage nur‘ﬂbe' of shans Ou Lstmo.nc DESIC o 120 291
Averege numbe 122 215

=

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31 (in thousands) 2005 2004
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 41819 § 126,229
Receivables, net of allowances of $14,466 and $12,411, respectively 526,962 406,962
Committed metal positions 904,953 457,498
inventories 532,638 458,020
Other current assets B 145,392 140,740
Total current assats o 2,151,564 1,589,449
investmenis 204,495 179,160
Property, plant and equipment, net 936,193 902,751
Goodwill 400,719 330,798
Otherintangible assets, net and other noncurrent assets 186,007 176,434
Total assets $3878978 $3,178,592

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Short-term borrowings $ 48,784 $ 11,952
Current maturities of long-term debt 120,852 73
Accounts payable 561,955 375,343
Hedged metal obligations 640,812 292,880
Other current liabilites 265,359 249,418

Total current liabilities 1,637,762 929,667
Long-term debt 430,500 513,680
Other noncurrent liabilities ) ' 321,554 320,933

Total liabilities B 2389816 1,764,280

Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, no par value, 5,000 shares authorized but unissued - -

Common stock, $1 par value, 350,000 shares authorized and 147,295 shares issued 147,295 147,295
Additional paid-in capital 39,782 34,334
Retained earnings 1,980,893 1,800,531
Treasury stock, at cost, 27,172 and 25,393 shares, respectively (634,116) (572,815)
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)income 44,692) 4,967
Total shareholders’ equity 1,489,162 1,414,312
Total ligbilities and shareholders’ eqdity $3,878,978 $3,178,592

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Yzar ended December 371 (in thousanas)

2005

Cash flows from operating activities
Ngteazmirgs $238,242 ©233,328  $234,223

™

Adisstiments to recontie net earings to nat cash provicec Sy eperating activities:
126,933 ©24.257 124,378
5,463 3,783 5,357
239 £33 -
(17,167) 43,038 4,838
6,152 37,233 ©C7.3E0
B (101,768) 3,707 48,355
258094 323387 45884

(141,616) (23738  1193,357)
2 AR

soreasnacguitec

(165970) (8384  (*,000)
s (307,586) 8,820  (1C7.E09)

Cash flows from financing activities

Jroceess irom shori-ierm Sorrewings 31,163 - -

3 term Dorrewings - £3,252, [284.283)

73) .

48,945 108,288 130,224
(92,156) (173,227 (1185

23,395 24,423 32,880
(=

(57,880)

(51,575)

. @4eBUs eG4 (272.50T)
S S 11,4§8 - (44@?{'8} ‘;«-’:-,C??
(84,610) 38,342 2,843

o 126229 8788 43245
8 Mp19 8128220 § £7,889

Sze accomganying Noies to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Sharenocers’ zguity

{in thousands, except per-share amounts)

Common stock

Additional
paid-in Retained
capital earnings stock

Accumulated

other Total

Treasury Comprehensive comprehensive shareholders’

income {loss) incomg(loss) ) _equity

Balance at December 31, 2002
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Casn flow derivative adjustment,
net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Minimum pension liability adjustment,

net of tax
investment adjustment, net of tax
Other comprenensive income
Comprehensive income
Dividends ($0.471 per share)
Treasury stock acquired

Stock bonus and option plan transactions

$20,876 $1,436,637  $(412,451)

234,223

(51,576)
(119,558)
5,880 39,952

$(i15,180) 81,077,167

$234,223 234,203
(123)
77,787
21,120
507

89,311 98,311 09,311
$333,534

T (51,576)

(119,568)

45,842

Balance at December 31, 2003
Comprehensive income (ioss):
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Cash flow derivative adjustment,
net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Minimum pension liability adjustment,

net of tax
Investment adjustment, net of tax
Other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income
Divicends ($0.44 per share)
Treasury stock acquired

Stock bonus and option plan transactions

Balance at December 31, 2004
Comprehensive income (loss):
Net earnings
Cther comprehensive income (loss):
Cash flow derivative adjustment,
net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Minimum pension liability adjustment,

net of tax
Other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive income
Dividends ($.48 per share)
Treasury stock acquired

Stock bonus and option plan transactions

26,756 1,619,284 (492,057)

235,528

(54,281)
{113,027)
7,578 32,269

(15879) 1,285,399

$235,528 235,528
(1,569)
38,748
(16,008)
(325

20,845 20,846 20,846
$256,374

S (54,281)

(113,027)

39,847

34,334 1,800,531 (572,815)

238,242

(57,880)
(92,156)
5448 30,855

4957 1,414,312

$238,042 238,242

11,001
(49,927)

(10,733)
_(49,659)  (49,659)  (49,659)
$188,583
(57,880)
(92,156)
36,303

Batance at December 31, 2005

$39,782  $1080,893  $(634,116)

__$ (44,692) $1,489,162

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation The accompanying consclidated
financiai siaiements include the accounts of Engelnard
Corporetion ana its maijority-owned subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as Sngeihard or the Company). All significant inter-
company transactions anc balances have been eliminated in
consolidation. Certain prior year balances have been ieclassi-
fied to conform to current year nresentation, including the
impact of the discontinued operations of the Comoany’s
Carteret, N.J. facility (see Note 7, “Discontinued Operations”).

Use of estimates The preparation of financia! statements in
conformity with accounting princicles generally accepted in
ihe United States requires management to make estimates anc
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabi!ities at the date of
ine financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during ine reporting period. Actual results could
ditfer from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents Cash eguivalents include ali invest-
ments purchased with an originai maturity of three montns or iess.

Inventories inveniories are stated at the lower of cost or mar-
ket. The elements of inventory cost include direct labor and
materials, variable overhead and fixed manufacturing over-
head. The majority of the Company’s physical metal is carried
in commitied metal positions at fair value with the remainder
carried in inveniory at historical cost. The cost of owned pre-
cious metals included in inventory is determined using the last-
in, first-out (LIFQO) method of inventory valuation. The cost of
other inventories is principally determined using the firsi-in,
first-out (F1FO) method.

Property, plant and equipment Property, plant and equipment
are sitated at cost. Depreciation of buildings and equipment is
orovided primarily on a straighi-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. Buildings and building improvemenis
are depreciated over 20 years, whnile machinery and equipment
is depreciated based on lives varying from 3 to 10 years.
Depietion of mineral deposits and deferred mine development
costs is provided under the units-of-production method. Wnen
assetis are sold or retired, the cost and related accumuiated
depreciation is removed from the accounts, and any gain or
loss is included in earnings. The Company continualiy evalu-
aies the reasonableness of the carrying value of its fixed
assets. If the expected future undiscounted cash flows associ-
ated with these assets are less than their carrying value, the
assets are writien down to their fair vaiue. Repair and mainte-
nance costs are expensed as incurred.

Intangible assets ldentifiable intangibie assets, such as patents
and trademarks, are amortizec using the straignt-line method
over their estimated useful lives, wnich range from 3 to 15
years. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Gocedwiil end Cther
intangible Assets,” goodwill and other intangible assats that
nave indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for
imoairment at least annually.
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The Company continually evaluates tha reasos
cairying vaiue o7 its intangible assets. ~orits id
gible assets, animpairmen® wou'c be recogn: fin

expected future undiscounted cash flows are less than tnsir
carrying amounts. For goodwili and ciner intangidie assets that
have indefinite usefu! lives, an impairment wou!d e recegnized
if the carrying amount of a respective reporting unit exceeded

£ &

the fair velue of tnet reporting unit.

Committed metal positions and hedged metal obligations
Committed metal positions refiect the fair va'us of thelong
snot metai positions (0ther than LiFO inverlory) neld by the
Company plus the {air vaiue of contracts that are in a gain
position uncertaken to economically nedge orice exposures.

b
[ ’

Because most of the spot metal nas heen hecdged througn
forwaic/future salas or oiher derivative arrangemenis (8.g.,
swaps), it is referred io as being “committed,” alihough the
physical metial can be used dy the Company unti! such iime as
{ne sales are settled. The poriion of this metal that has not
peen hedged and, therefore, is sucject to price risk is dis-
cussed pelow and disclosed in Note 12, “Cemmitied Veial
Positions and Hedgec Metel Obiigations.”

The buix of hedged meial obiigzations regressnt spet short
sositions. Other than in the closely moniiored s'tuations noted
beiow, these positions are hedged through forward purchases
with investment grade counterparties. Uniess a forward coun-
terparty fails to perform, there is no price risk. n addition, the
aggregate fair value of derivatives in 2 loss position is reported
in hedgec metal odiigations (derivatives in a gain position are
incluced in commitied meta! positicns).

~
Y
p

For the purpose of determining wiether the Company is in a net
spot long or short position with respect {c 2 metal, purchasso
guantities received for which the Company is not exposead to
market price risk (because of provisiona! rather than final pric-
ing) are considered a2 component of its spot gositions.

To the extent metzi orices increase subsegusnt to a spoi pur-
chase that has been nedged, ihe Company will recognize a
gain as a result of marking the spot msta! to market while ait the
same time recognizing a loss re'ated to the fair vaive cf the
derivative instrument. As notec above, the aggregate fair value
of gerivatives in a loss position is classified as cart of hedged
metal obligations at the balance sheet date because ine
Company has incurred a lzoility to the counlerparty. Should
the reverse occur and metai orices decreese, the resuitant gain
on the derivative will be offset against the spot ioss within
commitied metal positions.

3oth spot meizai and derivative instruments usad in hedging
(i.e., forwarcs, futures, swaps and options) are siated at fair
value. If relevant listed market orices are not availahle, fair value
is determined based on other relevant factors, inciuding dealer
price quotations and price quctations in different markets,
including markets located in different geographic areas. Any
change in value, whether realized or unrealized, is recognized
as an adjustment to cost of sales in the neriod of the change.



In closely monitored situations, for which exposure levels and
transection size limits have been set by senior management, the
Company holds unhedged metal positions that are subject to
future market fluctuations. Such positions may include varying
levels of derivative instruments. At times, these positions can be
significant. All unhedged metel transactions are monitored and
marked-to-market daily. The metal that has not been hedged
and is therefore subject to price risk is disclosed in Note 12,
“Ccmmiited Metal Positions and Hedged Metal Obligations.”

Environmental costs in the ordinary course of business, lixe
most other industrial companies, the Company is subject to
extensive and changing federal, state, local and foreign envi-
ronmental laws and regulations and has made provisions for
the estimated financial impact of environmental cleanup-
relatec costs. The Company’s palicy is to accrue for environ-
mental cleanup-related costs of a noncapital nature when
those costs are believed to be probable and can be reasonably
estimated. Environmental cleanup costs are deemed probable
when litigation has commenced or a claim or an assessment
nas been asserted, or, based on available information, com-
mencement of litigation or assertion of a claim or an assess-
ment is probable, and, based on available information, itis
probable that the outcome of such litigation, claim or assess-
ment will be unfavorable. The gquantification of environmental
exposures reguires an assessment of many factors, including
changing laws and regulations, advancements in environmen-
tal technologies, the quality of information available related to
specific sites, the assessment stage of each site investigation,
preliminary findings and the length of time involved in remedia-
tion or settlement. For certain matters, the Company expects
to share costs with other parties. The Company does not
inciude anticipated recoveries from insurance carriers or other
third parties in its accruals for environmental liabilities. The
Company has an Environmental, Health and Safety (EH&S)
department that implements and assesses compliance with
policies, procedures and conirols around the Company’s envi-
ronmental exposures and possible liabilities. These policies,
procedures and controls are intended to assure that the
Corporate ZH&S department is aware of all EH&S issues that
may have a potential impact on the Company.

Revenue recognition Except for bill-and-hold situations dis-
cussed below, revenues are not recognized on sales of product
unless the goods are shipped and title has passed to the cus-
tomer. Sales of product include sales of catalysts, pigments,
performance aaditives, sorbents and precious metal sold to
industrial customers. Revenues for refining services are recog-
nized on the contractually agreed settlement date. In limited
situations, revenue is recognized on a bill-and-hold basis as
title passes 1o the customer before shipment of goods. These
bill-and-hold sales meet the criteria of Staff Accounting
3ulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,” for revenue recogni-
tion. Sales recognized on a bill-and-hold basis were approxi-
mately $13.8 million as of December 31, 2005, $15.3 million as
of December 31, 2004 and $19.4 million as of December 31,
2003. With regard to the balance classified as bill-and-hold
sales, the Company has collected $11.8 million of the out-
stancing balance as of February 23, 2008.

The Company accrues for warranty costs, sales returns and
other allowances, based on experience and other relevant fac-
tors, when sales are recognized.

Costs incurred by the Company for shipping and handling fees
are reported as cost of sales.

Sales and cost of sales Some of the Company’s businesses use
precious metals in their manufacturing processes. Precious
metals are included in sales and cost of sales if the metal has
been sold to the customer by the Company. Often, customers
supply the precicus metals for the manufactured product. In
those cases, precious-metals values are not included in sales
or cost of sales. The mix of such arrangements, the extent of
market-price fluctuations and the general price level of plat-
inum group and other metals can significantly aifect the
reported level of sales and cost of sales. Conseguently, there is
no direct correlation between year-to-year changes in reported
sales and operating earnings.

In addition to the cost of precious metals recognized as rev-
enues, cost of sales includes all manufacturing costs (raw
materials, direct labor and overhead). Cost of sales also
includes shipping and handling fees and warranties.

For all Materials Services activities, a gain or loss is recorded
as an element of cost of sales based on changes in the market
value of the Company’s positions.

Selling, administrative and other expenses The selling, adminis-
trative and other expenses line item in the “Consolidated
Statements of Earnings” includes management and adminis-
{rative compensation, research and development, professional
fees, information technology expenses, travel expenses,
administrative rent expenses, sales commissions and insur-
ance expenses.

Income taxes income taxes are based onincome (loss) for
financial reporting purposes and reflect a current tax liability
(assef) for the estimated taxes payable {recoverable} in the cur-
rent year tax return and changes in deferred taxes. Deferred
tax assets or liabilities are determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabili-
ties and are measured using enacted tax laws and rates. A val-
uation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if itis
determined that it is more likely than not that the asset will not
be realized.

Equity method of accounting The Company’s investments in
companies in which it has the ability to exercise significant
influence over operating and financial policies, generally 20%
to 50% owned, are accounted for using the equity method.
Accordingly, the Company’s share of the earnings of these
companies is included in consolidated net income. Investments
in nonsubsidiary companies in which the Company does not
have significant influence are carried at cost.

Foreign currency translation The functional currency for the

majority of the Company’s foreign operations is the applicable
local currency. The translation from the applicable foreign
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currencies 10 U.S. doliars is performed for balance sheet
accounts using current exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet cate and for revenue and expense acccunts using an
appropriete average excnange rate during the period. The
resuiting transiation adjustmenis are recorded as & compoient
of sharenolders’ equity. Gains or icsses resulting from foreign
currency transacticns are included in the Company’s
“Consoiidaied Statements cf Earnings.”

Stock option plans The Company adopted the disclosuie provi-
sions of SFAS No. 123, "Accouniing for Stock-3ased
Compensation” in 1685 and adooted SFAS No. 148,
“Accouniing for Stock-Based Compensetion — Transition and
Disclosure, an amendiment of Financial Accounting Stardards
Soarc (FASRE) Stetement No. 123,” in December 2002. The

- Company has apnlied the intrinsic-value-based method of
accounting prescrinped by Accounting Princip'es Board Opinion
(AP3) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock issued to Employess,” with
oro forma disclosure of net income and earnings Der share as if
ihe fair-value-based meihod prescrived by SFAS No. 123 hag
been eop.ied. in general, no compensation cost related to the
Company’s stock option plans is recognized in the Company’s
“Consoiidzied Statements of Earnings” as options are issued
at merket orice on the cate of grant. See “New Accounting
Pronouncements” for information ralating to SFAS No. 123(R),
“Share-3ased Payment,” which was issuad by the FASBin
Cecember 2004 and adopted by the Company on January 1, 2006.

Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock option pians
been cetermined pased on the fair value at grant date con-
sistent witn the provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Basec Compensation,” the Company’s net earnings
anc earnings per share would have been as follows:

Pro Forma Information

2004 2003

(m millions, except%er«sharévda;ie‘:)' o 2005
Ne: earnings — as reporied $238.2 $235.5 $234.2
Decduct: Joiai siock-based empioyee
compenseation expense determinad
uncer fai-vaiue-based method for
all awarcs, net of tax 6.8) (7.4 (5.8}
Net earnings - pro forma $231.4 $228.1 $2284

Zarnings per share:

Basic earnings pershare—asreported $ 198 $ 181 $ 1.87
3zsic earnings par share — nro forma 1.92 1.85 1.82
Diluted earnings pershare—asreporied  1.95 1.88 1.84
189 182 179

Research and development costs Research and development
cosis are charged to expense as incurred and wers $7108.2 mitlion
in 2005, $92.9 miilion in 2004 and $83.1 miilion in 2003. These cosis
are includec within selling, aogministrative and other expensssin
ihe Company’s “Consolidatec Statements of Earnings.”
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New accounting pronouncements 0 V.
issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Cnanges

Changes” and FAS3 Statemen? Ng. 3, “Renorting Accounting
requires retrospective application {o prior periods’ financial
statements for voiuntary changes in accouniing ori
urless it is impracticadle. SFAS No. 154 is effeciive {or
accounting changes anc cerrections of errors made in fiscai
years veginning after jJune 1, 2005. This gid notimpact tne
Company in 2005,

At the March 17, 2C05 Ei7F (Emerging 'ssuss "ask Force) meet-
ing, the Task Force reached a consensus or 'ssug ~Nc, $4-08,
“Accouniing for Stricning Cosis incusrad during 2recuctionin
tne Mining incdustry.” in the mining industry, comoenies mey oe
required to remove overburden and other mine waste meterials
to access minera: geposits. The costs of removing cvergureen
and wasts materials are referred {0 as stripping costs. During
ihe development of a mine (before proeduction begins), itis gen-
erally accepted in practice that strioging cests are canitalized
2s part of the depreciadle cost of suiiding, ¢eve'oping, end
constructing the mine. Those capitalizec cosis are typical y
amortizec over the productive iife of ine mine using the units of
oroduction method. A mining company mzay continue o
remove overpurden and wasie materials, and thersfors incur
sirinping costs, auring the production phass o’ the mine. Tne
£!7TF has reacnhed a consensus that stripping costs incurred
auring the production phase of a mine are variatle production
costs that snould be incluaed in the costs of the inventory pro-
cuced during the period that ine stripping cosis are incuired.
The Board ratified this consensus at its Marcn 30, 2005 meet-
ing. The guidarce in this consensus will oz effactive {or firan-
cial statements issued for fiscal years deginning after
December 15, 2003. The Company adonted EiTF No. 84-03 on
January 1, 2006 and is in the process of implemanting it. 7he
Company expects to record a charge to aguity of approxi-
mately $28 million in the first quarter of 2303 as a resuit of ine
adoption of ZiTF No. 04-08. The Company does nct expact this
standard o have an effect on the Company’s future cash fiows.

in December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Snare-
Based Payment,” which replaces S~AS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes AP3
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock issued to Employees.”
SFAS No. 123(R) reguires compensziion cosis relating to
share-dased paymen: iransactions, including grants of
employee stock options, be recognized in the finarcia, stete-
ments based on their fair values, The pro forma disclosure pre-
viously permitted under SFAS No. 523 wi': nolonger be an
acceptable alternative 10 recognition of expansas in the finan-
cial statements. The Company acopied this sietement on
January 1, 2008. Pricr to adoption, the Company measured
compensation costs related to share-based ceyments uncer
AP3 No. 25, as allowed by SFAS No. 123, and provided discio-
sure in the notes to financial statements as recuirec by SFAS
Nc. 123. SFAS No. 123(R) provides for two transition aiterna-
tives: Mogified-Prospective transition and Modified-
Retrospactive trans:tion. The Company will be using the



Modified-Prospective transition method. Under this method,
compensation cost is recognized beginning with the effective
Cate {g) based on the reguirements of SFAS No. 123(R) for all
share-based payments granted after the effective date and

(b) based on the requirements of SFAS No. 123 for all awards
granted to employees prior {o the eifective date of

Statement 123(R) that remain unvested on the effective date.
The future impact on the Company’s “Consolidated Statements
of Earnings” is expected to approximate the “Pro Forma
Irformation” provided on page 62. The Statement also requires
the Company 10 include the benefits of tax deductions in
excess of recognized compensation expense to be reported as
financing activity in the Gompany’s “Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows.” The future impact on the Company’s
“Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows” cannot be accu-
rately predicted.

2. Derivative Instruments and Hedging

The Company reports all derivative instruments on the balance
sheset at their fair value. Foreign exchange contracts, commod-
ity contracts and interest rate derivatives are recorded within
the “Cther current assets” and “Other current liabilities” lines
on the Company’s “Consolidated Balance Sheets.” Changes in
the fair vatue of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
are initially recorded in accumulated other comprehensive
income and are reclassified to earnings in the period the
hedged item is reflected in earnings. Changes in the fair vaiue
of derivatives that are not designated as either cash flow
hedges cr net investment hedges are reported immediately in
earnings. Cash flows resutting from derivatives accounted for
as cash flow or fair value hedges are classified in the same cat-
egory as the cash flows from the underlying transactions.

In order to maintain an effective control environment and to
achieve operating economies, certain economic hedge trans-
actions are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes.
In those cases, which primarily relate to precious and base
metais, the Company will continue to mark-to-market both the
hedge instrument and the related position constituting the risk
hedged, recognizing the net effect in current earnings.

The Company documents all relationships between derivative
instruments designated as hedging instruments and the
hedged items at inception of the hedges, as well as its risk-
management strategies for the hedges. For the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, there was no gain or loss
recognized in earnings resulting from hedge ineffectiveness.

Foreign exchange contracts The Company designates as cash
flow hedges certain foreign currency derivative contracts
which hedge the exposure to the foreign exchange rate vari-
ability of the functional-currency equivalent of foreign-currency
denominated cash flows associated with forecasted sales or
forecasted purchases. The ultimate maturities of the contracts
are timed to coincide with the expected occurrence of the
underlying forecasted transaction.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the
Company reported after-tax gains of $1.4 million and lossas of
$1.5 million and $1.7 million, respeciively, in accumulated other
comprehensive income relating to the change in the fair value
of derivatives designated as foreign exchange cash flow
hedges. It is expected that cumulative gains of $1.4 million as
of December 31, 2005 will be reclassified into earnings within
the next 12 months. There was no gain or loss reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings as a
resuli of the discontinuance of cash flow hedges due to the
probability of the original forecasted transactions not occur-
ring. As of December 31, 2005, the maximum length of time
over which the Company has hedged its exposure {0
movements in foreign exchange rates for forecasted trans-
actions is 12 months.

A second group of foreign currency derivative contracts
entered into o hedge the exposure io foreign currency fluctua-
tions associated with certain monetary assets and liabilities is
not designated as hedging instrumentis for accounting pur-
poses. Changes in the fair value of these items are recorded in
earnings offsetting the foreign exchange gains anc losses aris-
ing from the effect of changes in exchange rates used to meas-
ure related monetary assets and liabilities.

Commodity contracts The Company enters into contracts that
are designated as cash flow hedges to protect a portion of its
expaosure o movements in certain commodity prices. These
contracts primarily relate to derivatives designated as natural
gas and other commocity cash flow hedges. The ultimate
maturities of the coniracts are timed o coincide with the
expected usage of these commodities.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Gompany reported
an after-tax gain of $6.8 million in accumulated other compre-
hensive income relating to the change in the fair value of deriv-
atives designated as cash flow commodity hedges. The
Company reported after-tax losses of $0.3 mitlion and gains of
$1.6 million in accumulated other comprehensive income for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 20083, respectively.
itis expected that the cumulative gain of $6.5 million as of
December 31, 2005 will be reclassified into earnings within the
next 12 months. There was no gain or loss reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings as a
result of the discontinuance of cash flow commodity hedges
due to the probability of the original forecasted transactions
not occurring. As of December 31, 2005, the maximum length
of time over which the Company has hedged its exposure to
movements in commodity prices for forecasted transactions is
13 months.

The use of derivative metal instruments is discussed in Note 1,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” under
Committed Metal Positions and Hedged Metal Obligations.

To the extent that the maturities of these instruments are mis-~
matched, the Company may be exposed to market risk. This
exposure is mitigated through the use of Eurodollar futures that
are marked-to-market daily along with the underlying com-
modity instruments (see Note 12, “Committed Metal Positions
and Hedged Metal Obligations”).
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‘ndenuary 2305, the Company entered inio two additional #FRA

cortracis, which economically hadged the Company’s interest
reie exposure for the May 186, 2005 and the June 1, 2008 LIBCR
reve reset under (wo pre-existing interest rate swap egree-

ments. ‘ﬂc F3A centracts were termingtec in March 2005 dus

to favoratie markei conditions and the gain was reflecled
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‘ndanuary 2005, the Company entered (70 a Cerivative agree-
et with a tota! notional vaiue of §74.7 miliion maturing in
January 2012. This agreement effectively changes a rental
chligetion that varies directly wiin shori-term commercie!
Daperraies 10 e fixeg paymen: obiigation. The tota! nelicnal
velug and other terms of this agreement are egual {0 the rental
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was reneweg in danuary 2005. This derivative is designaied as
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Deacemiber 31, 2005, the Company reported an aftertax gainof
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Inoune 2004, the Company entered into two aQC'.CT‘x: FRA

~iracts, wnich economically nedged L-.e Company's interest
ate exsosure for the Decembar 1, 2004 33?"’\,[@3 tunger
a pre-existing interestrate swep ";eemeﬁ"' s ?A—. is
markec-‘c-market wid the gain/fioss teing
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'~ Maren 2004, the Compeany eniered imic a =RA centracy,
wrich nedged the Company’s interest rale expesure for tf
Vay 15,2004 Li3CRrale resstunder 2 pre-exi
rate swep agreement. ’

Net investment hedges The Compeny issuad tnres tranchas
(ine first tranche in April 2004, the secend tranchein
/—\"c 15t 2004 and the thixd chmc. e i Awusv 2005} of 5.5 billien
zparese ven notes {aonroximataly $30 mition for each
tranche) with 2 blerced coupen rete of 1.0% and mail -my
cates of Aoril 2008. These neiss ars designatec as an affective

nat investment hedge of a portionefthe Company's yar:-
c¢enomingted investments. As sugh, any foreign currency gains
and Eosses resuting fromthesenolesare e cmmw Torase

comperent of accumuiatad other comorehensive inceme. As of

004, a loss of £7.1 millior revresenied the bal-
ance wwhm accumuiated other comprenensive income relaling
te the mark-to-market of thess mc':es "l 2005, the Company
recorcec anet gfter-tax gain &t § “oninaccumulaled
ciher comprenensive incoms, resu'! 'n znefter~tax gain ne
ance of $5.7 milion at December 31, 2CC5 relating o the mark-
ro-market of these notes.

:n Cctober 2005, ine Company entered inic two J S dcllarto
Zuro cross-currency interest rate derivativa conl C lswina
totai notional valus of 124 million Zu ”o( angroximasely $750 mil-
lfon). This transection eifectively swaps the \_,Oﬂoany’s

U.S. dellar fioating rate exposure for & Zurce ficating rate exgo-
sure. The notional Euro liabiity of this cross-currency swasis
designated zs a netinvestment hedgs of a portion of ine
Company’s Eure-denominated investmen's, 27‘&\.‘ assuchitis
marked-to-market with the gain/floss refiecied in accumuialed
other comprehensive income. As of December 31 2005, the

Company reported an afie~tax gain of $2.0 milllon in eccumu-
lated cther compreneansive income

3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

jaentifiable intanginle assets, sam as patenis an aoe*w %S,

are amortizec using the straight-iine metnod cver their esti-
mated useful lives, whichrange frem 31015 yearc qoodwiil
and cther intengible assets that have indelinite ussfui lives are
not amortized, tut ere tested for impalrmeant basac on ine soe-
cific guicdance of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwil’ 2nd Cther

Intangible Assets.”



The following information relates to acquired amortizabie intangible assets:

(in millions)

As of December 31, 2004

As of December 31, 2005

Gross carrying  Accumulated Grosscarrying  Accumulated

amount  amortization amount amortization
Acquired amortizable intangible assets
Usage right $19.4 $68 $22.2 $63
Supply agreements 181 7.3 19.0 5.3
Technoiogy licenses 115 438 81 35
Cther . . 236 40 - 37 23
~Total 726 $229  $540 $18.4

Yearly 2005 amortization expense was in excess of the change
in the accumulated amortization of intangible assets balance
as of December 31, 2005 due to the negative impact of foreign
exchange rate changes. The increase in the gross carryirg
amount balance as of December 31, 2005 represents approxi-
mately $24 million of additional intangibles primarily related to

$65.5 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
As of December 31, 2005, the estimated aggregate amortiza-
tion expense for each of the five succeeding years is as follows:

Estimated Annual Amortization Expense:

(in millions)
acquisitions, offset by a $4.8 million negative impact of foreign h T
exchange rates. Intangible assets related to acquisitions
incluce customer relationships and technology licenses. 2008 $56
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, and thus not sub-
ject to amortization, are $2.1 million and $1.9 million at 2007 56
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Total accumulated 2008 56
amortization for goodwill amounted to $66.5 million and 2009 5.4
2010 50
The following table represents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:
Appearance &
Environmental Process  Performance

(in_rﬁlﬁg@) Technologies  Technologies  Technologies Al Other o 7__'?3121\
Balance as of January 1, 2004 $13.7 $107.5 $153.4 $ 05 $275.1
Goodwill additions@ 6.0 - 47.4 - 53.4
Foreign currency translation adjustment 0.7 0.6 1.7 - 3.0
other - - ©cn - {09

Balance as of December 31, 2004 $20.4 $108.1 $201.8 $ 05 $330.8
Goodwill adgitions® - 1.5 51.8 29.7 83.0
Purchase accounting adjustments(© - - 4.5) - 4.5)
Foreign currency translation acjustment 1.7 - 5.6) - 7.3)
Goodwill impairment(d (1.3) - - - (13

Balance as of December 31, 2005 $17.4 $109.6 $2435 8302 $400.7

(8} Goodwill additions amount includes $6.0 million related to the Company's acquisition of Platinum Sensors, SrL during the second quarter of 2004 and $47.4 million
related to the Company’s acquisition of The Collaborative Group, Ltd., including its wholly owned subsidiary Collaborative Laboratories, Inc., during the third quarter
of 2004. These amounts represent the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair market value of the net assets acquired.

G
=)

Goodwill additions amount includes $51.8 million related to the Company’s acquisition of Coletica, S.A. during the first quarter of 2005, $29.7 million related to the

acquisition of Almatis AC, Inc. during the third quarter and $1.5 miltion related to the acquisition of the catalyst business of Nanjing Chemical industry Corporation
during the second quarter of 2005. These amounts represent the excess of the purchase price paid over the fair market value of the net assets acquired. The
Company is engaged in the process of assessing the fair value of these assets and liabilities, and thus the allocation of the purchase price is subject to revision.

Purchase accounting adjustments include $4.5 million related to a revision of the allocation of the purchase price of the Collaborative Group, Ltd., including its wholly

owned subsidiary Collaborative Laboratories, Inc. All adjustments were made in accordance with SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations.”

I

=

Goodwill impairment charge of $1.3 million was recorded by the Company in the second quarter of 2005, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other

Intangible Assets,” related to the Company’s discontinuance of manufacturing operations at its Carteret, New Jersey facility.
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4. Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations
Trne Comvany's asset retirement oodiigations primarily reiate to
in mining coerations of its Azpearance and Performanrce
gies segment. In orcer 10 provide kaoiin-tased Droc-
s to the Cempany’s cusiomers anc the =recess Technciogies
12, the Company engages in kasiin mining ooerations.
re kKec!in mining orocess includes exoioration, toosci and
gverburaen removal, extraction of kaolin and the subsecuent
recizmation of minec zrezs. The Company has g iegai odbliga-
on to reclaim mined areas under sigte regulations. Prior to

=N
®» ™
.0

j

[

0

oS

@
-
»
o

4

ticn of SFAS No. 143, “Accouniing for Assst Retirement

ations,” ihe Company exnensed reclamation cosis as tne

¢ zrezs were recizimed.

At January 1, 2003, the Compeny recognized fransition
emounts for existing asset retirement obligation liapilities,
associaied capitelizabie costs and accumulaiec denreciation.
A irensition cnarge of $3.7 million ($2.3 miifion afier tax or

C.02 cershare on a dilvied basis) was recerded on Januery 1,
2003 as the cumulative effect of an accounting change.

=

ne following table represents the change in ine Company's
assei retirament obligation ligbiiity for the years ended
Jecemizer 31, 2005 anc 2004:

2005 2004

Asssiretirement obligation at beginning cfyear  $10.8  $10.5
_iaoliity recognized during the twelve-month

period enced Decamber 31 0.5 1.2
Accration expense 0.6 0.6
Peymenis 1.9 (1.5

'Aséét@%@e%@ﬁ?ggﬁgﬁ end of year B $10.0 $108

5. Acquisitions

:n September 2005, the Company acguired U.S.-based Aimatis
AC, ‘nc., formerly ine adsorbents and catalyst business of
Almatis Holdings 1.25 BY, for approximately $35 miition.
Almatis AC, inc. is a maior developer and producer of alumina-
based adsorpents and purification catalysts for the natural
gas, petrochemical, compressad air and hydrogen oeroxide
markets. The acguisition sirengthens the Company’s leader-
ship cosition in moisture control and purification for & variety of
indusiries arounc tne world. it expanas the Company’s tecin-
nciogy portiolio 1o include high-purity alumina preducts, cata-
wyst supports and alumina-based adsorbents and desiccants.
The Company aiso acquired new procuction capabilities,
inciuding two manufecturing facilities in Port Allen, LA and
Vidalig, LA. The results of operations of this acquisition, inte-
grated into the Ventures group of the “All Other” category, are
included in ine accompanying financia! statements from the
cale of acquisition. A portion of the purchase price has teen
zlioceted to assetis acquired based on their fair vaiues, while
the remaining balance was recorded as goodwill. The Company
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is compieting its review and determination of these jair values,
and thus the allocaticn of the purchasa price is su;ect {0 revi-
sion. Pro forma information is not provided es the impact of the
acguisition does not have a material effec: on the Comnany’s
resu.ts ¢f cperations, casn flow, or financia! position.

:nuune 2005, the Comnany acquired the syngas catalyst busi-
ness of Nanjing Chemical industry Corporaiion (NCIC), e wholly
owned subsidiary of SINOPEC, one of Ching’s largest inte-
grated energy and chemical companies, for epproximaiely

$20 miiiion. As of Decembper 31, 2005, the Company hes caid
aporoximately 7C% of the purcnase price with the remaining
30% recorded in accounts payable anc ex2ected {0 be paid
within the next 12 montis. The Compeany acquirac NC.C's syn-
gas business opearations, catalyst technclogy ana Nenjing-
pased manufaciuring assets. The acquisition supnorisine
Company’'s growth strategy and broadens tine competencias in
surface and material sciences as it expands ine Comeany’s
Dorifolio of served markets and applications. The resulis of
operations of this acquisition, integrated into the Process
Technologies segment, are included in the accemoanying con-
solidated financiai statements frem the dats of acguisition.

A portion of the purchase price has besn aliocaied ‘e essels
acquired based on their fair vaiues, while the remaining bal-
ance was recordec as goodwill. The Company s compieting its
review and determingtion of these fair values, enc thus tne gllo-
cation of the purchase price is sutject to revision. Pro ferme
information is not orovided as the impaci of ine acouisition
does not have a materia! effect on ine Company’s resuiis o°
operations, cash iflow, or financial position.

in Miarch 2005, the Comoany acguired a maiority steke in Coilstice,
S.A., a French company that develops periormance-based,
skin-care compounds and related technologies for the cos-
metic and personal care industry. The Company purchasad
77.87% of Cotetica’s outsianding shares for apgroximately
€50 mittion ($85 million). In the second guarter of 2303, the
Company mace & tender offer and acquired ithe remaining pub-
icly held shares. Tha tota! purchase price of shares amourited
t0 €65.5 miliion ($85 million}, wrich included cash acguired of
approximately $13 million, for 100% ownershic. This acquisi-
tion further strengtnens the Company’s position as a ieading
gicbal supplier of materials techinology to the cosmatic and
personal care industries. Coletica has two faciiities in Lyon,
France and sales offices in Paris, New York and Tokyo. A por-
ion of the curchase price has been allccated to assets
acguired based on thair fair values, while the remaining bai-
ance was recorded as goodwill. The resulis of operaticns of
this acquisition, integrated into the Appearance and Perforimeance
Technologies segment, are included in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
The Company s completing its review and determination of
these fair values, and thus the allocation of the purchase price
is subject to revigion. Pro forma information is not provided as
the impact of the acquisiiion does not have a material effect

on the Company's results of operations, cash flows o

financial position.



During the first quarter of 2005, the Company exchanged a
7.5% interest in its Chinese automotive catalyst operations for
approximately 2.6% of N.E. Chemcat Corporation (NECC), a
publicly-traded joint venture. This transaction was recorded as
an exchange of similar productive assets in accordance with
APB 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions.” The
Company also acauired an additional 0.7% of NECC through a
public tender offer. These transactions increase the Company’s
ownersnip percentage in NECC from 38.8% to 42.1%.

In July 2004, the Company acquired The Collaborative Group,
Ltd., including its wholly owned subsidiary Collaborative
Laboratories, Inc., a unique, high-growth company, located in
Setauxet, New York, that provides products and services to the
cosmetic and perscnal care indusiries for approximately

$62.0 million. This acquisition allows the Company to create a
unique combination of technical capabilities bringing together
its surface and materials science expertise with Collaborative’s
speciai materials capability and in-depth, technical-application
knowlecage in personal care. The transaction strengthens the
Company’s position as a leading supplier of materials technol-
ogy to the cosmetic and personal care industries by expanding
the Company’s capabilities into the growing market for per-
formance-based, skin-care matarials and applications. The
results of operations of this acquisition, integrated into the
Appearance and Performance Technologies segment, are
included in the accompanying consclidated financial state-
ments from the date of acquisition. A portion of the purchase
price has been allocated to assets acquired based on their fair
values, while the remaining balance was recorded as goodwill.
Pro forma information is not provided as the impact of the
acquisition does not have a material effect on the Company’s
results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

in Aoril 2004, the Company acquired Platinum Sensors, Srl, a
worldwide developer and manufaciurer of temperaiure-sens-
ing techrologies for anproximately $7 million. This acquisition
strengthens the Company’s leading position in temperature
sensing by expanding the Company’s technology-development
capabilities anc geographic reach. Platinum Sensors is based
in Rome, !taly, and also has facilities in Singapore. The results
of operations of this acquisition, integrated into the Environmental
Technoicgies segment, are included in the accompanying con-
solidated financial statements from the date of acguisition.

A portion of the purchase price has been allocated to assets
ecquired pased on their fair values, while the remaining bal-
znce was recorded as goodwill. Pro forma information is not
providec as the impact of the acquisition does not have a
material effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows or financial position.

6. Special Charges and Credits

in the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company recorded a net pre-
tax charge totaling $5.3 million ($3.3 million after tax) primarily
related to a management consolidation productivity initiative in
the Appearance and Performance Technologies segment, as
wei as the reversal of prior year special charge accruals in the
Environmental Technologies segment and the “All Other”

category. The amount of the charge reported in the
Appearance and Performance Technologies segmeni was $5.6
million ($4.1 million after tax). Credit amounts of $0.2 million
($0.1 million afier tax) and $1.1 million ($0.7 million after tax)
were reported in the Environmental Technologies segment and
the “All Other” category, respeciively. These amounts are
included in the “Special charge (credit), net” line in the
“Consolidated Statements of Earnings.”

In the Appearance and Performance Technologies segment,
the charge of $6.6 million relates to management’s consolida-
tion of certain manufacturing operations to improve efficiency
at its Middle Georgia operations, which manufaecture kaolin-
based products. These actions are consistent with the
Company’s ongoing efforts to simplify processing and manage
product mix to maximize profitability and growth opportuni-
ties. These actions resulted in the recording of a $1.3 million
employee severance charge and an impairment charge of

$5.3 mitlion for idled equipment. The employee severance
charges related to the actual reduction of 25 salaried employ-
ees. The actions undertaken by the Company in relation to this
charge have been completed.

In the Environmental Technologies segment, the cradit of

$0.2 million relates o the reversal of the remaining liability
associated with the 2003 charge resulting from the closure of the
segment’s Coleford, United Kingdom plant, discussed below.
The actions associated with this charge have been completed.

In the “All Other” category, the credit of $1.1 million relates to
the reversal of a portion of the remaining liability associaied
with the 2000 charge resulting from the Company’s decision to
exit from its desiccani-based, climate control systems busi-
ness. Of this credit amount, $0.7 million relates to warranty
reserve reversals due o expiration of warranties (see Note 8,
“Guarantees and Warranties”).

in 2003, the Company entered into a settlement agreement,
releasing a claim the Company had brought against Research
Corporation and Research Corporation Technologies in
exchange for payment of $38.0 million. Accordingly, ihe
Company recorded a gain of $28.4 million ($17.6 million after
tax) in the first quarter of 2003, net of legal fees and the portion
of the settlement related to future royalties. This gain was
included in the Company’s “All Other” category and in the
“Special charge (credit), net” line in the “Consolidated
Staiements of Earnings.”

Also in 2003, the Company racorded charges totaling $8.7 mil-
lion ($5.6 miltion after tax) primarily related to a management
consolidation and productivity initiative in the Environmental
and Process Technologies segments and within the “All Other”
category. The amounts of $5.3 miilion ($3.5 million after {ax),
$2.6 million ($1.6 million after tax) and $0.8 million ($0.5 miilion
after tax) were reported in the Environmenial Technologies
segment, the Process Technologies segment and the “All
Other” category, respectively. These charges are included in
the “Special charge (credit), net” line in the “Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.”
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. o ere ot
charge of

nthe Ernvironmenta: Technclogies segment, the

$5.3 mm:on ormerily relates to tne closure of the segment’s
Coleford, United Kingdom plent ($2.8 millon)anc e e;.picyee
saverance costs related to preductivity initiatives ($2.5 mi'lion).
reer ...,‘OJee sevcranco charges inciude an actual reducticn
of S8 szlariec .—_no \,.J 'r‘c.my amployees. As 2 resuit ¢f Clos-
! : eri NEs CUisoUrCad the canning ccera—
;ssocmeo with .ms' uUsiness. Theciosureresuitedinan
irment charge of $1.5 mi'on to write down fixed asseis
merexit-ralzied cosis oF $7.3 miliicn. The acticns related
‘nis charge nave been comeieted.

%)

hnologies segment, the cha: ge of $2.6 mil-
Lon primarily ”ela\ 10 emMDioyee SevVerance anc ine iermine-
tlon ¢fan egency agn ema') associated witn sa.gs ic the
chamica:-orocess market. Tne e*ﬂctcyﬁc saverance charges
relate o the ectiual recuctiion of 13 salaried empnloyees. Seill;
activities asscciatec with the tarminetion of this agency

Tnetollowing table sets forin the components of the

agreement will be covered by the segment’s internel saies
i The acticns related to this charge have ceen compieled.

In ihe “All Ciner” category, the charge of $0.8 milion was qo v
amsioyee severance costs relzted to the actual reduction

six salaried empicyees. The actions related to ihis cnarge have
been compieted.

'n 2008, the Company recorded e charge of $7.8 milion
($4.8 miltion afier iax) for ihe fair value of the remaining lease
costs of certain minerals-storage faciiities noionger neede
vecause of productivity initiatives. As o cune 3C, 2803, tne
ComaarysA“pea”‘"of-\ anc Performance Technologles se

ment \.ad CC"S\,CE using these faciities ang, eccerdingly, a pro-
vision for the fair value of remaining iease cosis was reporiad in

[T

the ooemalma”g (crediy), net” éne inthe “Censolidated
Statememnis of Zarnings.”

Company’s reserves for restructuring costs, exciuding reserves “or the Comoany’s

Cerieret, N.J. faciilty that has been ciscontinuad [sez Note 7, “Discontinued Operation
¥

Restructuring Reserves

Séparations Cther )

(nmitons - Pre-2004 2004 Pre-2004 2004 Total
Balznce al Decembar 31, 2002 $C5 $ - $4.3 5 — $48
Ceasaspending (5.2) - 4.5 - en

rovision 53 - 3.3 - 8.8
Heservareversals (0.9) - 10.3) - 0.8
Ieservereclasses L e 2 - R 1))
3ziance at Docemost 2003 c.3 - 20 - 23
Cesh spencing (0.2 Q.1 (0.8} - (C.8)
Zrovision - 1.3 - - 1.3
Reserve reversels (.1} - 0.4 - (C.5

Hesarvereclesses B o - - 0.3 - (0.3}
3elance at December 31, 2004 - 12 0.7 - 1.9
Cash spending - (1.1) 0.7} - {1.8)
Provision L - - - - -
Balance at Decerp_ber 31,2005 $ - $0.1 $ - 8- %01

7. Discontinued Operations

‘n the ssconad guarter of 2005, the Company committedto a
olan tc ciscontinue manufacturing operations at its Carteret,
New Jersey facility, winich manufactured specially precious
meteal oroducis. Operations &t the Carteret, New Jersey faciiity
ceasec in the tnird guarier in accordance witn SFAS.No. 144,
“Accounting for the impairment or Disposzai of Long-Lived
Assets,” ine Company has classified the resuiis of this manu-
facturing operation as Discontinued Operations in trne
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accompanying Consolidaied Siaiements of carnings. As of

Decamier 31, 2005, the Compeanry recordec charges related {o
the discontinuance of operations at iis Carteret facitity of $11.2
mililon. These charges consist of $4.8 milion related o sever-
ance and other employee expenses, $3.3 mition relatec o the
imoeirmant of assets, $1.3 miliion reiziec ic the impairment of
goodwill and $1.8 mitiion related to work-in-process inveniory
not expected {o be compieted or soia. As of December 31,
2005, the Company made payments of approximately $3.8 mii-
lion, resulting in a reserve provision baiance of $1 miilion.



iNet sales from discontinued operations and operating losses
from discontinued operations were as follows:

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Net sales $211 $303 $267
Closure costs (11.2) - -
Cther operatingloss - (1.9 (2.7} 4.7)
Total operating loss (13.1) (.79 4.7
After-tax loss from
_discontinued operations o 8.1) (1.7) {2.9)

The assets and liabilities related to the Carteret manufactur-
ing operaiion have been aggregated and included within
“Other current assets,” “Other intangible and noncurren?
asseis” and “Other current liabilities” in the accompanying
“Consolidated Balance Sheets.” An analysis of these assets
and liabilities follows:

grﬂﬁons) o 2005 2004
Receivables, net $0.1 $3.4
Inventories - 1.7
Other current asseis o - 02
Current assets from discont:nued operations $0.1 $5.3
Property, plant and equipment, net - 8.3
Noncurrent assets from B
discontinued operations - $83
Assets from discontinued operations $01 $136
Accounts payable - %05
Accrued expenses o 1.0 05
Lizbilities from discontinued operations $10 $1.0

8. Guarantees and Warranties

in the normal course of business, the Company incurs obliga-
tions with regard to contract completion, regulatory compli-
ance and product performance. Under certain circumstances,
these obligations are supported through the issuance of letters
of credit. At December 31, 2005, the aggregate outstanding
amount of letters of credit supporting such obligations
amounted to $121.4 million, of which $114.7 million will expire
in less than one year, $1.0 million will expire in two to three
years, $0.2 million will expire in four to five years and $5.5 mil-
lion will expire after five years. in the opinion of management,
such obligations will not significantly affect the Company’s
financial position or results of operations as the Company
anticipates fulfilling its performance obligations.

The Company accrues for anticipated product warranty
expenses on certain products. Accruals for anticipated war-
ranty liabilities are recorded based upon a review of historical

warranty claims experience and other relevant data. Adjust-
ments are made to accruals as claim data and historical expe-
rience warrant. The Company’s accrual is primarily comprised
of warranty liabilities within the non-automotive business of the
Environmental Technologies segment.

The changes in the Company’s product warranty reserves for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are
as follows:

(in millions} - 2005 2004 2003
Balance at beginning of year $87  $100 $1i4

Payments 2.2) 4.5) (4.0)
Provision 04 54 23
Reclass of reservel@ - - 0.8
Reversal of reservelb) 27 @22 (0.2)

Balance at end of year

$42 $87  $100

(a) in 2003, as a result of FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,” the Company reclassed
$0.8 million from its restructuring reserves to its product warranty reserves
related to the Company’s residual, desiccant-based, climate control systems
business that was exited in 2000.

(b} In 2005, the Company reversed $2.7 million of warranty accruals ($1.5 mittion
due to favorable experience related to the Environmental Technologies seg-
ment and $1.2 million due to expiration of warranties). in 2004, the Company
reversed a $2.2 mitlion warranty accrual due to favorable experience
{$1.5 million related to the Environmenta! Technotogies segment and
$0.7 million due to the expiration of warranties related to the Company’s
residual, desiccant-based, climate control systems business, which was
provided for in the 2000 special charge provision). In 2003, the Company
reversed $0.2 million warranty accrual due to the expiration of a warranty.

9. Inventories
Inventories at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

Inventories

2005__ 2004

(in millions}

Raw materials $174.4 $137.2

Work in process 54.6 49.3
Finished goods 287.7 253.8
Precious metals L 15.9 17.7

Total inventories - §5§2._6‘ "§458.0

The majority of the Company’s physical metal is carried in the
committed metal positions line on the balance sheet at fair
value with the remainder carried in the inventory line at histori-
cai cost. The inventory portion of precious metals is stated at
LIFO cost. The market value of the precious metals recorded at
LIFO exceeded cost by $125.7 million and $70.8 miliion at
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12. Committed Metal Positions and Hedged Metal
Obligations

December 31, December 31,
{in millions) 2005 2004

Committed metal positions were
comprised of the following:
Metals in a net spot long position
economically hedgad with
derivatives (primarily forward sales) $572.2 $324.1
Fair value of hedging derivatives

in a “gain” position 8.8 4.2
Unhedged metal positions,
net (see analysis below) 72.1 9.3

Szir value of metals received with

prices {0 be determined,

net of hecged spot seles 251.9 99.9
f;fg":'ai coemmitted metal positions $905.07*_7 %5_7.5

Both spot metal positions and derivative instruments are
statea at fair value. Fair value is based on relevant published
ma-rket prices. The following table sets forth the Company’s
unnedgec metal positions included in the “Committed metal
positions” line on the Company’s “Consolidated Balance Sheets™

Metal Positions Information:

December 31, December 31,
(in millions) 2005 ‘2.(_3_04

Hedged metal obligations were comprised
of the following:

Metals in a net spot short position
economically hedged with derivatives
(primarily forward purchases) —
represents a payable for the return

of spot metal to counterparties $611.5 $265.1
Fair value of hedging derivativesina
“loss” position 29.3 27.8

Total hedged metal obligations 96408 $2929

At December 31, 2005 and Decemberi 31, 2004, hedged metal
obligations relating to 1,272,284 and 603,330 troy ounces of
gold, respectively, were outstanding. These quantities were
sold short on a spot basis generating cash approximating
$612 million and $266 million, respectively. These spot sales
were hedged with forward purchases for the same number of
ounces at an average price of $486.22 ai December 31, 2005
and $441.23 at December 31, 2004. Unless a forward counter-
party failed to perform, there was no risk of loss in the event
prices rose. All counterparties for such transactions are invest-
ment grade.

Derivative metal and foreign currency instruments are used to
hedge metal positions and obligations. As of December 31,

December 31, December 31, 2005, 98% of these instruments have setilement terms of less
2005 2004 than one year, with the remaining instruments expected to
o Net Net - settle within 54 months. The notional value of ihese derivative
fnmiions) position _ Value _ position Value metal and foreign currency instruments is presented below:
. ) P Metal Hedging Instruments:

Platinum group metals Llong $66.3 Llong %194 9ing
Gold Long 3.8 Flat - December 31, December 31,
Siiver Short (1.8)  Short 0.9 . eoos 2004
Base meials Long 38 long 08 (in millions) Buy _ Sell  Buy  Sel
__Jnhedgec metal positions, net $72.1 $19.3

Commitiec metal positions include significant advances made
for the purcnase of precious metzls aelivered to the Company,
but for which final purchase price has not yet been determined.
As of Secember 31, 2005 and 2004, the aggregaie market
value ¢f the metals nurchased under a contract for which a
provisional price had been paid was in excess of the amounts
advanced by a total of $138.9 million and $49.9 million, respec-
fively, ana is included in accounts payable.

Metal forwards/fuiures $1,022.6 $791.4 $625.2 $562.5

Eurodollar futures 89.2 95.9 112 136.6
Swaps 375 18.8 3i.2 9.8
Options 10.0 7.5 3.9 -
Foreign exchange forwards/

futures — Japanese yen - 70.2 - 930.8
Foreign exchange forwards/

futures - Euro - 39.0 - 23.4
Foreign exchange forwards/

futures — Cther 45 - 55 =
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13. Financial Instruments 14. Short-term Borrowings and Long-term Debt
The Company’s nonderivative financial instruments consist pri- At December 31, 2305, the Company had z five-year ravolving
marily of cash in banks, temporary investments, accounis credit agreement in the amount of $80C million, exgiring in
receivable anc debt. The fair value of financial instrumensin Maren 20170. in connaction witn the crecit fagilty, tne Comozany
working capital approximates book value. The fair value of nas agreed to certain covenanis, inciucing maintal & debt-
long-term debt and current maturities of long-term cebt was 10-E3iTDA ratio of less than 311 {as detined In the credit agree-
$564.2 million as of December 31, 2005 and $520.8 million as of ment}. At December 37, 2005, the Compary was fuily compliant
December 31, 2004 based on prevaiing in‘eres® rates at those with ail of its de’ covenanis.
dates, compared with a book valus of $551.3 miifion as of
Decemper 31, 2005 and $513.8 million as of Cecember 31, 2004. in Miay 2005, the Company entered into & new five-yeer com-
i icrToreigh sanks
The Company oeliaves that iis financia! instruments do not on). Thefecilityis
represent a concentration of credit risk because the Company avellaple for general corporaie purposas “or various su-
deals with a variety of maior banks worldwide, and its accounts sidiaries within China.
raceiveble are spread among a numbder of major ingusiries,
customers and geographic areas. A ceniralized credit commit- In 2003, the Company enterec into a seven-year commiited
iee reviews significant credit transactions and risk-manage- revolving credit faciiity with two major foreign banis for
ment issues before granting credit, and an approprizte level of $12 million relating to a piant exzansion in Ching. This credit
reserves is maintained. in addition, the Company moniters the faciity expires in Cctober 2010. Tacility fees are paid to both
financial congition of its customers to nelp ensure co'iecticns banks for this credit line. As of Secember 31, 2C35 and 2004,
and to minimize losses. the Company borrewed $11.3 miticn under this credit facility.
Foreign currency instruments Aggregate foreign exchangs At December 31, 2C05 and 2004, snori-term dank borrowings
transaction gains and lossas were not significant for any year were $20.8 million 2nd $12.0 milicn, respaciive;y. At
presenied. Tne following tavle seis forin, in J.S. dcllars, the December 31, 2005, commercial paner 8o rowirgs ware
Company’s open foreign exchange contracts used for hedging $28.0 milion. The Company did not hoid any commercial paper
other than metal-relaied transactions and net investment borrowings at December 31, 2004. Weightzd-average interest
hedges as cf the respective year-ends (see Note 12, “Cemmitted rates were 3.5%, 7.8% and 12.4% during 2008, 2004 and 2003,
Metal Positions and Hedged Metal Ob'ligations” and Note 2, respectively. Long-term debt due within one year was $120.9 mil-
“Derivative instruments and Hedging,” for further getall): lior at Decemper 31, 2005 aac $C.1 milicn &t Decembier 31, 2004,
Foreign Exchange Contracts Information Unused, uncommiited lings of creci available ware $320.5 mil-
R T — lion and $355.5 m'iton at December 31, 2003 and 2004, respac-
December 31, December 31, tively. The Comnany’s lines of credit witn its baks are availasie
2005 2004 in accordance with normal terms for srime commeicie) boriow-
{in millions) _ Buy Sell Buy Sell ers and are not subject to commitment fees or Gther resirictions.
Japanesa yen $94 $ 73 $25 §$80 The Company issued three tranches (the first iranche in
Euro 77.9 1064 245 401 April 2004, the second tranche in August 2004 and iha third
Thai baht _ 7.7 _ _ 'i'ranche.in Augus‘t 200.5.), of5.5 biiiic‘)n. Japgnese' yen n_otes ‘
South African rand _ 39 _ 170 (approx:marei‘y $50 mition for e.e.xc.'r"srancne} wr}:h 2 b;eige(z
- ) coupon rate of 1.0% and maturity cates of Apri. 20C8. These
Brazilian real - 2.2 - 87 notes are designated as an effective net investment hedge of a
British pouna 03 418 - 0.5 portion of the Company’s yen-denom:nated invesiments. As
Indian rupee - 44 - 06 such, any foreign currency gains anc losses resu.ting from
Singapore dollar - - 0.2 - these notes are accounted for as & componen: of accumulated
Total open foreign ) other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2004, 2 loss
exchange coniracts $87.6 $1737 $272 $579 of $7.1 million reoresented the balance within accumulated

— = other comprenansive income relating to the mark-to-market of
these notes. in 2005, the Company recorded a nat aftar-tax gain
of $12.8 million in accumulatied other comoreneansive incoma,
resulting in an after-tax gain balance of $5.7 miltion at

December 31, 2005 relating to the mark-to-market of these noies.

None of these contracts exceed a year in duration. These con-
tracis were marked-to-market at December 37, 2035 and 2304,
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The following table sets forth the components of long-term
debt at December 31, 2005 and 2004:

Debt Information

{in millions) 2005 2004

Notes, with a weighted-average interest

rate of 10.7%, due 2005 $ 140 $ 140
7.375% Notes, due 2006, net of discount 1003 1017
6.95% Notes, due 2028, net of discount 138.3 129.0
4.25% Notes, due 2013, net of discount 140.7 1440
1.10% and 0.75% JPY Notes, due 2008,

net of discount 1402 1070
Industrial revenue bonds, 5.375%, due 2006 6.5 6.5

Foreign bank loans with a weighted-average
interest rate of 5.1% in 2005 and 3.8% in

2004 due 2010 . 1.3 11.3
Other, with a weighted-average rate of 7.0% in

2C05 and 6.5% in 2004, due 2006-2008 0.1 0.3

5514 513.8

Amounts due within one year 120.9 0.1

Total long-term debt $4305 $513.7

As of December 31, 2005, the aggregate maturities of long-
term debt for the succeeding five years are as follows:

$120.9 million in 2008, $2.3 million in 2007, $3.4 million in 2008,
$145.8 million in 2008 and $279.0 million thereafter.

intersst expense increased to $33.7 million in 2005 compared
with $23.7 million in 2004 due to both higher short-term bor-
rowing rates and higher average debt levels, partially offset by
the issuance of yen-denominated notes at low interest rates.
Higher debt levels were driven by acquisitions and working
capital requirements.

15. Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense are shown in the fol-
lowing table:

Income Tax Expense

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003

Current income tax expense

Federal $232 $255 $2i.1
State and local 134 8.0 54
_ Foreign 30.2 33.1 47.8

66.8 64.6 74.3

Deferred income tax expense (penefit)

Federal 6.3) (10.5) 17.1
State and local (1.1) 0.8) 6.0)
Foreign 0.3) 4.4 (19.5)
7y G2 @4

Income tax expense $59.1 $574 $659

The foreign portion of earnings before income tax expense was
$126.6 million in 2005, $143.8 million in 2004 and $120.1 million
in 2003. Taxes on income of foreign consolidated subsidiaries
and affiliates are provided at the tax rates applicable to their
respective foreign tax jurisdictions.

The following table sets forth the components of the net
deferred tax asset that results from temporary differences
between the amounts of assets and liabilities recognized for
financial reporting and tax purposes:

Net Deferred Income Tax Asset

(in millions}) 2005 200&

Deferred tax assets
Accrued liabilities $103.0 $ 1175
Noncurrent liabilities 56.2 59.1
Unrealized net loss - pension liability 60.7 535
Tax credits/attribute carryforward amounts 12563 1215
Total deferred tax assets 3452 39516
Valuation allowance ;:A N (38.1) —7_(4'4.;2)
Total deferred tax assets,
net of valuation allowance 3071 3074
Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid pension expense (56.7) (45.7)
Property, plant and equipment ©2.1) (88.7)
Timing of dealing resutis - (23.9)
Other assets . (B82) 467
Total deferred tax liabilities ] (207.0) (205.0)
Net deferred tax asset $100.1 $102.4

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of temporary dif-
ferences batween the amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and amounts as measured for tax
purposes. The Company will establish a valuation allowance if
itis more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The valuation allowance is reviewed and adjusted
based on management’s assessment of realizable deferred
tax assets.
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16. Related Party Transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has related
party transacticns with its equity affiliaies, including N.E.
Chemecat, HDZ, and Heesung-Engelhard. The Company’s
transactions with sucn entities amounted to: purchases-from
of $34.8 million in 2005, $28.6 million in 2004 and $29.0 million
in 2003; sales-to of $223.3 million in 2005, $226.6 million in
2004 and $154.5 million in 2003; other income earned-from of
$3.1 million in 2005, $2.7 million in 2004 and $2.4 million in 2003
and metai leasing-to of $0.3 million in 2005, $0.6 million in 2004
and $0.6 million in 2003. Net amounts due from such entities
totaled $8.8 million and $5.6 million at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

Citibank, N.A., a subsidiary of Citigroup Inc., which reported
beneficial ownership of more than 5% of the Company’s
Common Stock for a part of 2005, participated with other
lenders in lines of credit available to the Company under revolv-
ing credit facilities. Citibank’s total commitment was
$39,000,000 through March 2005, none-of which was drawn in
2005. In 2003 and 2004, Citibank received initial fees of
$10,000 and $6,000, respectively, for these facilities. Citibank
received annual facility fees of aporoximately $6,400, $35,500
and $34,000 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for these
facilities. Citigroup received $85,000 in underwriting fees in the
Company’s May 13, 2003 note offering. The Company uses
subsidizries of Citigroup, as well as other firms, to provide cash
management services to the Company. Fees to subsidiaries of
Citigroup for these services aggregated less than $15,000 in
2005 and less than $30,000 in each of 2004 and 2003. In addi-
tion, Barclays Giobal Investors, N.A., which reported beneficial
ownership of more than 5% of the Company’s Common Stock
prior to July 2003, provides certain investment management
services to the Company’s pension plans. Fees for such serv-
ices aggregated approximately $165,000 in 2005, $156,000 in
2004 and $135,000 in 2003.

Barclays Bank, plc, an affiliate of Barclays Global Investors,
subsidiaries of Citigroup and other firms, engage in foreign
exchange and commodities transactions with the Company in
the ordinary course of business. All of these transactions are

negotiated at arm'’s length as principals in competitive mar-
kets. Foreign exchange transactions with subsidiaries of
Citigroup aggregated approximately $17,03C,000 in 2005,
$57,000,000 in 2004 and $126,600,000 in 2003. Metals trans-
actions with Barclays Bank, plc aggregated approximaiely
$537,000,000 in 2005, $656,000,000 in 2004 and $330,000,000
in 2003. Metals transactions with Citigroup, Inc. aggregated
approximately $145,000,000 in 2005. In addition, during 2004
and 2003, the Company provided services in precicus metals
financing transactions in which subsiciaries of Citigroup and
Barclays Bank, plc received funds from third parties. The
Company received approximately $150,0C0 in 2004 and
$157,000 in 2003 from subsidiaries of Citigroup and net rev-
enues of approximately $1,500 in 2004 and $8,000 in 2003 from
these transactions in which Barclays Bank, plc participated.

included in the assets held by the Company’s pension trusts
are approximately 65,000 and 108,000 shares of Citigroup Inc.
common stock having a market value of $3.2 million and

$5.2 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectivaly.
Citigroup paid an annualized dividend of $1.75 and $1.60 per
share during 2005 and 2004, respectively. Purchases and sales
of this security were macde by independent investment man-
agers and were not material.

State Street Bank and Trust Company (State Street), which
reported beneficial ownership of more than 5% of the
Company’s Common Stock for a part of 2005, provides asset
management services for the Company’s domestic pension
plans. Plan assets under State Street's management are
$52,857,328 and $51,721,370 at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Fees paid by the Company’s pension plan trust
totaled $26,918 and $27,635 for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively.

Vanguard Group, an affiliate of Vanguard Windsor Funds,
which reported beneficial ownership of more than 5% of the
Company’s Common Stock for a part of 2005, received
$97,353, $121,260 and $100,293 for administering 401 (k)
plans for the Company’s employees during 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.
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17. Benefits
The Company nas comestic and foreign pension plans covering subs’iantiaity ail employees. Piars covering mest selaried amzicyses
generally provice benefits based on years of service and the empioyae’s final ave*ago compensation. F.ans covaring most houny dai-
gaining unit mambers generaliy provide benefits o7 stated ameunis for each year cf sarvica. The Company meaxes contr! '::‘.'..o..s iothe
nlans as reguired anc to such exient contributions are currently Geductible for iex purnoses. Pian assels primariy corsist of listed
siocks, fixed income securities and cash.
The Tfoilowing tabis sets fori the plans’ funded status:
Funded Status
(nmilions) 2005 o 2004
. o - A o Ds;nuees—tic; o ﬁforgigrrj—: j_ﬂ_“__DEmrefticr - 7» x':_o_rreig_ni_~ “.To'—na'
Change in projected benefit obligation
Projected benafit abligation at beginning of year $547.3 $165.2 $7125 $495.2 $144.3 $ 8485
Service cost 201 43 244 18.7 3.2 25.8
Interest cost 32.0 8.3 40.3 30.2 7.5 38.1
Plen amendmenis - 0.8 0.8 G.7 - G
Empioyee contributions - 06 0.6 0.5 C.5
Aciuvaria! losses 64.6 19.3 83.9 32.3 4.3 35.8
Benefits naic (32.4) 6.8) (39.2) (20.2) 8.5 (35.8
roreign excnenge - (19.8) (19.8) - ¥se 91b
3 D'o,eutﬂc: benefit obhga’uon atendefyear ' $631.6 h $171 9 $ 8035 = §$547.3 $71852  §7125
Change in plan assets
cair veiue of nlan essets at bagirning of year $ 421.8 $145.6 $567.4 $387.2 $725.2 $513.%
Actual gain on plan asseis 473 22.1 69.4 482 i 5.3
Empioyer contribution 545 5.0 59.5 4.8 5.1 28.0
Employee contribution - 0.6 0.6 - C.8 C5
3enefits paic (32.4) 6.8) (39.2) (3C.2) 8.5 (35.8)
Foreign excnange - (17.0) (17.0) -
Fair vaiue of plan assets at end of year _ $4912  $1495 $640.7 $421.8 $745.8 §557.4
Funded siatus $(1404)  $(224) $(162.8) $(125.5) $(10.6) $(145.1)
Unrecegnized net aciuarial loss 257.1 5141 308.2 274.5 51.8 233.3
Unrecognized prior service cost 9.1 35 126 “0.3 3.6 3.7
Fourtn C’UETIQ{QQ“ITFibu"CiO-’] - 17 1.7 - G5 G5
 Prepaid pension asse $1258 $339  $1597 $ 981 §33  §1354
Amcuints recognized in the consolicaied financia!
statements consisi of:
Prepeid benafit cost $ 542 $ 338 $ 88.1 $ 477 $ 330 $ 837
Accrued benefit liabiiity (67.8) (14.4) (82.2) {73.4) (5.4 {84.8)
intangible asset 1.0 34 4.4 1.6 3.5 5.1
Accg*r}glm ¢ other comprenensive loss 1384 11.0 149.4 123.2 8.2 1314
st amount recognized $1258 $ 339 $159.7 $ 991 $§ 383
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The prepaid benefit costs of $88.1 million and $83.7 million at
Decembper 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively, and
the intangible asset balances of $4.4 million and $5.1 million at
Dscember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, are included in
other intangible and noncurrent assets in the Company’s
“Consolidated Balance Sheets.” Tha Company recorded a min-
imum pension liability loss of $17.9 million ($10.7 million after
tax) in 2005 and a minimum pension liability loss of $26.8 mil-
lion ($16.0 million after tax) in 2004. These adjustments were
reported in "*Accumulatea other comprehensive income (loss)”
within shareholders’ equity.

Included in the Projected Benefit Obligation is an unfunded lia-
bility of $38.4 miilion related to the Supplemental Retirement
Program of Engelhard Corporation (SERP) and a liability of
$13.5 million related to an unfunded plan in Germany, which
does not have funding requirements or tax benefits. Excluding
these two liabilities, the plan would be underfunded by
$110.9 million, or 85% funded. The SERP is an unfunded pro-
gram that provides enhanced benefits for certain executive
officers, as well as makes up for the amount that cannot be
paid out of the qualified plans due o Internal Revenue
Service limitations.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Plans benefit obligations:

2005 2004

(in millions) :_ j___- - Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign - _17'<->t7a.|
Accumulated Benefit Obligation $550.4 $158.0 $708.4 $485.9 $150.3 $636.2
Aggregate Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO) for those

plans with PBOs in excess of plan assets 538.1 70.9 609.0 466.7 62.2 528.9
Aggregate fair value of assets for those plans with

PBOs in excess of plan assets 390.5 450 4355 333.4 417 3751
Aggregate Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) for

those plans with ABOs in excess of plan assets 419.3 59.9 479.2 3911 50.3 4414
Aggregate fair value of assets for those plans with

ABOs in excess of plan assets 351.6 45.0 396.6 317.7 417 359.4
The components of net periodic pension expense for all plans are shown in the following table:
Net Periodic Pension Expense

S 2005 2004 2003

(in millipﬂslm Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total
Service cost $20.1 $43 $244 $18.7 $32 $21.9 $15.6 $29 $185
Interest cost 32.0 8.3 40.3 30.2 7.9 38.1 28.6 5.9 345
Expected return on

plan assets (38.9) 9.8) (48.7) (38.8) ©.5) (48.3) (35.6) 6.7) 42.3)
Amortization of prior

service cost 1.7 0.4 2.1 1.8 1.7 35 1.4 0.7 241
Recognized actuarial loss 12.7 1.8 14.5 8.7 2.1 10.8 6.4 2.2 8.6

Net periodic pension expense $27.6 $50 $32.6 $20.6 $5.4 $26.0 $16.4 $5.0 $214
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continued

neasurement dzle for vension assets and [labilities. T
letermine the subseqguent years’ net periodic pensi o
uSed in determining the woridwide projected benef

2005 2004 2003
Domestic Foreign Domestic Formor’ ~ Damestic Foreign

oarelil osligation 5.50% 471% 6.00% 5.42% 6.25% 5.50%

™ 3 nemde . y A
Siscounirete usad to celerming nat

6.00% 5.48% 6.25% 5.50% 5.75% 577%
3.75% 3.37% 3.75% 3.45% 3.75% 5.35%
3.75% 3.39% 3.75% 3.54% 3.75% 5.84%
. 8.90% 701%  S.00% 7.00% 800% 7.LL%

Tre Comnany’s weignted-everage asset ellccations at December 31, 2005 and 2004 by asset category ere as fcliows:

2005 2004
i Domestic Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total
72% 53% 67% 7C% 44% 84%
27% 47% 32% 29% 8% 35%
1% - 1% “% - %
- B B 100% ~100% 100% 1C0% ’CO% - 100%
nefollowirg denefit payments, which reflect expected Tuiure nvestment risk is centrolied by alaci*zg investmeants in various
service, are sxpecied 1o be paid: assetclasses us'ng a combdination of active and passive invesi-
ment strategies. The pension plan assels are al'ocaizsd to mui-
(in mllhons) tiple investment management firms. These firms covar e broad
- s e - + at " y A 2oy that
Yearls) Domestic  Forelgn Total range of myesimen. s.y!e§ a:“:cs a.gcpmp.nce inaway i at
T o T T T T T seeks to diversify canitalization, sty:e blases and interest
4 . ; rate exposures.
2008 $31.5  $60  $375 P
~ey 4 o —_ " . R . f . .
2037 33.1 6.2 383 Engelhard, througn its pension consuliants and actuaries, oer-
an [~ n . . . . y .
2008 34.3 8.1 40.4 ‘orms periodic asse/iiabllity studies which seek an invesimen:
2308 37.2 6.2 43.4 strategy to provide the optimal investment risk/return sceneric
2012 379 5.5 44,4 for meeting the future retirement nlan obligations. Thasa siud-
2049-2G15 2338 372 2708 ies are a tool used for determining tne allocation of invest-
T T T T ments among various asset ciasses. invesimen's are dlaced

: Zmoloyee 3enefit Pians Commitiee, a com- predominantly in the following asset classes:

mittee curren !y comprised of four memoers of ine Engelnard

St
Corporation 2oard ¢f Direciors, is estadiisned to review pen- < Equity: Common stocks of large, medium anc smell ccwu.«,—
sicn-reia‘*ed metiers, sei corporaie invesiment nolicy and mon- nies including equity securities issued oy companies ¢ ucled
performeance. outsiae the U.S. and in ceposiiory receip’s thai represent own-

ership of securities of non-U.S. comnanies.
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= Debt: Fixed income securities issued or guaranteed by the
U.S. government, and to a lesser extent by non-U.S. govern-
ments, or by their respective agencies and instrumentalities,
mortgage backed securities, including collateralized mortgage
obligations, corporate debt obligations and dollar-denominated
obligations issued in the United States by non-U.S. banks and
corporations (Yankee bonds).

In certain circumstances, investment managers are given the
authority for the limited use of derivatives. Futures contracts,
options on futures and interest rate swaps are occasionally
employed in place of direct investment in securities to gain
efficient exposure to markets. Derivatives are not used to
leverage portfolios.

The Company used an 8.9% return to calculate its domestic
net periodic pension expense in 2005 and will use an 8.8%
return to calculate its domestic net periodic pension expense
in 2006. This calculation was based on the following:

Market Active All-in
expected management expected Portfolio

return  expectation return  weight
Equity Securities 8.7% 1.0% 97% 73%
Debt Securities 6.1% 1.0% 71% 27%
Total Domestic Portfolio 7.9% 1.0% 89% 100%

The Company used the weighted-average 7% return to calcu-
late its foreign net periodic pension expense in 2005 and will
use the weighted-average 7% return to calculate its foreign net
periodic pension expense in 2006. This calculation was based
on the following:

Market Active All-in

expected management expected Portfolio

return  expectation return  weight
Equity Securities 9.3% 04% 97% 53%
Debt Securities 3.6% 03% 39% 47%
Total Foreign Portfolio 6.6% 04% 7.0% 100%

The Company expects to contribute approximately $3.0 million
to its domestic pension plans and $4.6 million to its foreign
pension plans during 2006.

The Company also sponsors three savings plans covering certain
salaried and hourly paid employees. The Company’s contri-
butions, which may equal up to 50% of certain employee contri-
butions, were $4.8 million in 2005, $4.7 million in 2004 and

$4.6 million in 2003. These amounts were recorded as an expense
in the Company's “Consolidated Statements of Earnings.”

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company Stock Fund of the
Salary Deferral Savings Plan of Engelhard Corporation has

been designated as an Employee Stock Ownership Plan
(ESOP) as permitted under the Internal Revenue Code.
Contributions to the plan may be made directly by the
employee or as part of the employer matching contributions
noted above. Employer contributions are recorded as expense
at fair market value in the period in which they are earned.
Dividends are paid on these shares to the extent a dividend is
declared and paid on the Company’s common stock. Divi-
dends are charged to retained earnings when they are declared.
As of December 31, 2005, the ESOP held 1,849,972 shares of
Company Stock. These shares are considered outstanding for
determining basic and diluted earnings per share.

The Company also currently provides postretirement medical
and life insurance benefits to certain retirees (and their
spouses), certain disabled employees (and their families) and
spouses of certain deceased employees. Substantially afl U.S.
salaried employees and certain hourly paid employees are eli-
gible for these benefits, which are paid through the Company’s
general health care and life insurance programs, except for
certain medicare-eligible salaried and hourly retirees who are
provided a defined contribution towards the cost of a partially
insured health plan. In addition, the Company provides
postemployment benefits to former or inactive employees after
employment but before retirement. These benefits are sub-
stantially similar to the postretirement benefits, but covera
much smaller group of employees. Effective January 1, 2003,
the Company eliminated postretirement benefits for those
employees (excluding employees under collective bargaining
agreements) hired on or after January 1, 2003.

The following table sets forth the components of the accrued
postretirement and postemployment benefit obligation, all of
which are unfunded.

Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits

(in millions) 2005 2004

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $141.4 $159.7

Service cost 4.0 4.0
Interest cost 8.1 8.6
Actuarial {gains) losses 5.4 (18.8)
Foreign exchange 0.4) 0.2
Benefits paid {12.6) (123

Benefit obligation at end of year $145.9 $141.4
Unrecognized net loss (202) (159

0.7 2.9
$126.4 $1284

Unrecognized prior service cost
Accrued benefit obligation

The postretirement and postemployment benefit balances of
$126.4 million and $128.4 million at December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004, respectively, are included in other non-
current habilities in the Company’s “Consotidated Balance Sheets.”
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Continucd

1se for these postreiirement
e srow in the Tollowing table:

The componants of the net exoen
znd postempioyiment benefits 2

Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits

(in millions) ) 2005 2004 2003

Components of net periodic
benefit cost

arvice cost $40 $4C 834
‘nierest cost 8.1 8.5 9.3
Netamortizetion (14 (.5 1“9
Nel periodic oanen.co& - $107 11.5 $7.8

i

he we Gh'ted~average ciscoun?rate used in getermining the
ciuerial present value of the accumuieisd posuetiremen": ana
osLemp;oymcm benefii obligation is 5.50% for 2005 and
.JC% for 2004. The average assumec healin care cost irenc
rete used for 2005 is 5% t0 8%. A 1% increase in the assumed
healih care cost irend rate wou'd have increased aggregaie
service and interest cost in 2005 by $0.4 miliicn and the accu-
mulated posiretirement and nostemployment bensfit ovliga-
tion as of Jecember 31, 2005 by $2.8 miiion. A 1% decrezse in
the assumed health care cost irend rate wou'ld have cecreased
aggregaie service and interest cost in 2005 by §2.4 mitfon and
the accumulated nosiretirament and postempioyment benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2005 by $2.5 miliion.

DG M

~he foliowing benefit payments, which refieci expecied fuiure
service, are expecied 1o be paid:

—
Yeér(s)_ _ 7 T T Domesti—g
2303 $12.9
2007 13.3
2008 137
2009 13.8
204G ' 14.1
2011-2C15 75.5

On December 8, 2003, ine President cf the United States
sighed into law the Mecicare Prescrintion Drug, improveme

o

and Modernization Act of 20C3 (the Act). Tnis Actinlreduces a
orescrintion drug benefit under Viedicare (Viedicare Pari 3), as
well 25 a federa! subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care ben-
efit plans t .ﬂc.k orovide a benefit that is at least actuarially
eguivalent to Mediceare Part ©. Afier a review of the Company’s
oian oesrgn, the Company and its consulting actuaries balieve
tne Company’s plan is ectuarially equivalent to V.edicare

Part 3. In accorcance with FAS3 Steff Position (FSP) No. 105-2,

80

“Accounting ar‘.d Disclosure Reguirement Reiatec o the
Maagicare Prescriniion 2rug, improvement end Modernization
Act cf 2003, the Com any revalued the sensfit ob!ll gatﬂoﬁ. ana
determined that the reduction in the accumuleiea oost-
retirement benefii obligation for the subsidy related ‘o bensfits
attributed to past service is $15 million. The Company was abie
‘o reduce its net postretirement benefit cosis by $2.2 mitlicn as
a resu't of the Act during 2C05 and $7.8 miiicnin 2004,

The Company expects the foliowing reimbursements undar tne

sudsidy oortion of the Medicere Prescripticn Drug, imarovement

and Moedernization Act of 2303:

(Er?ﬁ'mons) o -

Years) N e

2005 $2.0

2307 2.2

2038 2.3

2309 2.4

231C 25
011-2015 B - ) 2.8

18. Stock Option and Bonus Plans

Tre Company’s Stock Option Plans of 1688 and 18Q1, as
amended ({the Key Option Pians), generally provids for the
granting of options to key employees io purchess an aggregaie
of 5,500,000 and 15,875,000 common shares, respeciivaly, at
fair market value on the date of grant. No options under th2

tock Option Pians of 189S and 1897 may be granted afier
Jecember 16, 2009 and June 33, 2003, respeciively.

in 1995, the Company estabdlished the Birectors Stock Ogtion

Plan, wnich generally provides for the annuzi granting to each
non-employes director the option to purchase up to 3,000 com-
mon shares at the fair market value on the date of grani.

Cn May 2, 2002, sharehoiders approved the 2002 _ong-Term
:ncentive Compensation Plan. The plan Dreovides for the grant
1o eligible employees and direciors of stock options, share
appreciation rights (SARs), restricied shares, restricled share
units, performance units and other share-based awards. An
aggregate of 6,000,000 shares of common stock irave been
reserved for issuance under the pian, of wnich no more than
503,000 shares may be issued in connection with awarcs other
than options and SARs. Aii terms and conditions of eacn grant
have baen set on the cate of grant, inciuding the grant price of
options which is based on the fair market value on the day of
grant. No grants may be made under ihe plan after Marcn 7, 2012.



Options under all plans become exercisable in four install-
ments beginning after one year, and no options may be exer-
cised after 10 years from the date of grant. The Company

on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model. The foilowing assumptions were used:

amortizes the pro forma expense attribution method over 2005 2004 2003
fouryears. However, if an employee is eligible to retire, the
pro forma expense is recognized on the date of grant. Dividend yield 15-18% 15% 15-2.0%
iR - 190, _ 1240, _12R0,
The weighted-average fair value at date of grant for options Efpected. volatility 30 32f 32 340%) 35 365’
granted during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $10.12, $9.83 ard Risk-free interest rate 39-45% 35-38% 32-38%
$8.42, respectively. Fair value of each option grant is estimated Expected life (vears) 6.75 6-7 6-7
Stock option transactions under all plans are as follows:
2005 2004 v—if_ 2003
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
average average average
exercise exercise exercise
Number of price Number price Number price
shares per share of shares per share of shares per sLafg
Qutstanding at beginning of year 10,738,154 $22.15 11,013,511 $20.88 11,520,857 $20.34
Granted 1,138,028 $2996 1,119,856 $28.82 1,351,892 $24.28
Forfeited/expired (116,516) $20.79 (120,510) $16.67 (111,459) $19.39
Exercised {1,081,605) $21.76  ({1,274,703) $18.42  (1,747,779) $190.36
Qutstanding at end of year 10,678,061 $23.04 10,738,154 $22.15 11,013,511 $20.98
Exercisable at end of year 7,841,136 $21.27 7,677,476 $20.50 7,411,837 $19.57
Available for future grants 5,219,033 6,481,495 7,579,411

The following table summarizes information about fixed-price options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Opticns outstanding

Options exercisable

Weighted-
average Number Weighted- Number Weighted-
remaining outstanding average exercisable average
contractual at exercise at exercise
Range of exercise prices life (years) 12/31/05 price 12/31/05 _price
$18.56-23.88 -2 1,467,454 $19.49 1,487,454 $19.49
17.34-21.69 34 2,386,034 18.72 2,386,034 18.72
16.84-26.90 56 2,026,180 2117 2,026,190 2147
20.47-29.99 7-8 2,571,344 25.04 1,659,883 2523
27.29-30.09 910 2,227,039 29.40 301,575 28.82
70,678,061 23.04 7,841,136 21.27
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The Company’s Key Employee Stock Bonus Plan, as amended
(the Bonus Plan) provides for the award of up to 15,187,500 com-
mon shares to key employees as compensation for future serv-
ices, not exceeding 1,518,750 shares in any year (plus any
canceled awards or shares available for award but not previ-
cusly awarded). The Bonus Plan terminates on June 30, 2C08.
Shares awarded vest in five annual instaliments, provided the
recinient is still employed by the Company on the vesting date.
Compensation expense is measured on the date the award is
granted and is amortized on a straight-line basis over five
years. Shares awarded are censidered issued and outstanding
at the date of grant and are included in shares outstanding for
purposes of computing diluted earnings per share. Employees
nave both dividend and voting rights on all unvestad shares.

in 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company granted 118,620; 107,260
end 148,805 shares to key employees at a fair value of $30.08,
$28.64 and $20.47, respectively, per share. Unvested shares
were 415,255; 480,894 and 596,670 at December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Shares available for grant under
this plan are 1,124,215 at December 31, 2005.

Compensation expense relating to stock awards was $4.4 mil-
fion in 2005, $5.2 million in 2004 and $4.7 miition in 2003.

The Company has certain deferred compensation arrange-
ments where shares esarned under the Engelhard stock bonus
plan are deferred and placed in a “Rabbi Trust.” Shares he!d in
the trust are recorded as treasury stock with the corresponding
liability recorded as a credit within shareholders’ equity. At
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Rabbi Trust held 519,939 and
513,518 shares, respectively, of Engelhard Corporation
Common Stock. The value of the Rabbi Trust at historical cost
was $12.8 million and $12.2 million at December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively.
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19. Earnings Per Share

SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” specifies the computa-
tion, presentation and disclosure reguirements for pasic and
diluted earnings per share (EPS). The following table repre-
senis the computation of basic and diiuted £PS as reguired by
SFAS No. 128:

Earnings Per Share Computations

Year ended December 31

(irjrmillions, except per-share data) 2005 2Q04 o ZO_QS

Basic EPS computation
income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax (8.1) (1.7) (2.9
Net earnings applicable to
common shares

$246.3 $237.2 $237.1

$2382 $2355 $234.2

)&\}éré_ggnumber of shares
outstanding—basic 120.3
Basic earnings per share
from continuing operations
Basic earnings per share
from discontinued operations 0.07) (0.01) (0.02)
‘Basic earnings per share $ 198 $ 191 $ 1.87

1232 1254

$ 205 $ 193 $ 1.8¢

Diluted EPS computation
Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations,
net of tax (8.1) (1.7) 2.9
Net earnings applicable to
common shares

$246.3 $237.2 §237.1

$238.2 $2355 §234.2

Average number of shares
outstanding — basic
Effect of dilutive stock options and

1203 1232 1254

__other incentives 1.9 2.2 1.9
Average number of shares
outstanding - diluted 1222 1254 1273

Diluted earnings per share from
continuing operations

Diluted earnings per share from
discontinued operations 0.07) (001 (0.02)

Diluted earnings per share $195 $ 188 3:&4

$202 $18 $ 1886

Options to purchase additional shares of common stock cf
1,634,316 (at a price range of $29.36 to $30.09), 551,084 (at a
price range of $22.36 to $29.99) and 1,820,004 (at a price range
of $26.90 to $29.89) were outstanding at the end of 2005, 2004
and 20083, respectively, but were not included in the computa-
tion of diluted EPS because the options’ exercise prices were
greater than the average annual market price of the

common shares.



20. Business Segment and Geog}aphic Area Data

The Company has four reportable business segments:
Environmental Technologies, Process Technolcgies, Appearance
and Performance Technologies and Materials Services.

The Environmental Technologies segment, located principally
in the United States, Europe, South Africa, Brazil and Asia,
markets cosi-effective compliance with environmental regula-
tions, enabled by sophisticated emission-control technologies
and systems. The segment aiso orovides products made prin-
cipally from precious metals, as well as thermal spray and
coating technologies.

The Process Technologies segment, located principally in the
United States, Europe and China, enables customers to make
their processes more productive, efficient, environmentally
sound and safer through the supply of advanced chemical-
process catalysts, additives and sorbents.

The Appearance and Performance Technologies segment,
located principally in the United States, South Korea, China,
France and Finland, provides pigments, effect materials, per-
sonal care and performance additives that enable its cus-
tomers to market enhanced image and functionality in their
products. This segment serves a broad array of end markets,
including coatings, plastics, cosmetics and personal care,
automotive, construction and paper. The segment’s products
help customers improve the look, performance and overall cost
of their products. In addition, the segment is the internal supply

source of precursors for most of the Company’s advanced
petroleum-refining catalysts.

The Materials Services segment, located principally in the
United States, Europe and Japan, serves the Company’s tech-
nology segments, their customers and others with precious
and base metals and related services. This is a distribution and
materials services business that purchases and sells precious
metals, base metals and related products and services. It does
so under a variety of pricing and delivery arrangements struc-
tured to meet the logistical, financial and price-risk manage-
ment requirements of the Company, its customers and
suppliers. Additionally, it offers the related services of precious-
metal refining and storage, and produces precious-metal salts
and solutions.

Within the “All Other” category, sales to external customers
and operating earnings are derived primarily from the Ventures
business. The sale of precious metals accounted for under the
LIFO method, royalty income, expenses from the Strategic
Technologies group and other miscellaneous income and
expense items not related to the reportable segments are
included in the “All Other” category.

The majority of Corporate operating expenses have been
charged to the segments on either a direct-service basis or as
part of a general aliocation. Environmental Technologies and,
to a much lesser extent, Process Technologies, utilize metal in
their factories in excess of that provided by customers. This
metal is provided by Materials Services.
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The following tabie presents ceriain data by business segment:

Business Segment Information

Appearance
and Reportable
Environmentail Process  Performance Materials Segments

(in miilions) o Technologies Technologie_sﬁ Technologies Services Subtotal All Other{d) Total
2005

Nei sales to exiernal cusiomers $1,008.7 $687.1 $726.1 $2,006.3 $4,518.2 $ 788 $4,597.0
Operzting earnings (loss) 1409 98.0 65.6 28.4 332.9 (34.3)) 298.6
interestincome ~ - - - - 8.2 8.2
nterest expense ~ - - - - 33.7 33.7
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 312 28.8 46.6 26 109.2 232 132.4
Equity in earnings of affiliates 15.2 0.5 - - 15.7 16.9 32.6
income taxes ~ - - - - 59.1 591
Totelassets 691.4 701.8 920.7 946.0 3,259.9 619.1 3,879.0
Zouity invesimenis 68.2 - - 68.2 127.8 196.0
Capital expendiiures 29.9 421 34.3 3.7 110.0 31.6 141.6
2004 -
Net sales {0 exiernal cusiomers $ 883.3 $515.2 $680.2 $1,885.0 $4,083.7 $ 52.4 $4,135.1
Cperating earnings (loss) 138.3 87.3 88.5 6.8 3108 {34.7)0} 278.2
Special charge (credit), net (0.2) - 6.5 - 8.4 {1.1) 5.3
interestincome ~ - - - - 52 5.2
interest expense ~ - - - 23.7 23.7
Depreciation, depietion and amortization 206 26.7 498 23 108.4 23.3 128.7
Equity in earnings of affiliates 143 0.3 - - 14.4 232 376
Income texes ~ - - - - 57.4 57.4
Total asseis 808.5 848.7 830.9 487.8 25738 804.7 3,178.6
Equity investments 85.5 - - 855 111.5 177.0
Capiial expenditures 31.4 387 276 2.7 100.4 22.8 123.2
2003 '
Nzt sales to exiernal customers $ 814.8 $580.2 $653.8 $1,588.2 $3,635.0 $ 518 $3,587.8
Opereting earnings (loss) 124.0 85.8 69.5 101 280.5 (13.2)(b) 2856.3
Special charge {credit), nat 52 2.6 7.8 - 15.6 27.5) (12.0)
interestincome - - - - 40 4.0
interest expense - - - - - 24.3 243
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 298 25.0 491 1.9 106.5 217.1 127.7
Zqguity in earnings of affiliates 12.0 - - - 12.0 274 394
‘ncome taxes - - - - - 858 652
“otal asseis 574.% 614.3 783.0 389.5 2,340.9 582.1 2,233.0
zguity invesimenis 49.8 - - 49.6 102.8 152.5
Capitel expendiures 20.8 28.5 30.6 7.0 87.9 257 113.6

{a) All other includes total assets; depreciation, depletion and amortization; and capital expenditures from discontinued operations. See Note 7, “Discontinued

Operations” for more information.

(b) includes pretax gains on the sale of certain precious metals accounted for under the LIFO method of $2.5 miltion in 2005, $2.6 million in 2004 and $5.2 million in 2003.
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The foliowing table presents certain data by geographic area:

Geographic Area Data

(inmillionsy 2005 2004 2003

Net sales to external customers:
United States
international
Tota! consolidated net sales
to external customers

$2,092.0 $1,954.2 $1,834.7
2,505.0 2,171.9 1,853.1

$4,597.0 $4,136.1 $3,687.8

Long-lived assets:
United States $1,258.3 $1,162.1 $1,089.0
International 334.9 288.1 255.1

Total long-lived assets

The Company’s international sales are predominantly to cus-
tomers in furope.

The following table reconciles segment operating earnings
with earnings before income taxes as shown in the Company’s
“Consolidated Statements of Earnings™

Segment Reconciliations

(in millions) 2005 - 2004 - 2003

Net sales to external cusiomers;
Net sales for
reporiable segments $4,518.2 $4,083.7 $3,636.0
Net sales for other business units 76.0 503 435
All other 2.8 2.4 8.3
Total consolidated net sales ' h
to external customers

| $4597.0 $4,136.1 $3,687.8

Earnings before income taxes:
Operating earnings for

reportable segments $ 3329 ¢ 3109 $ 2995
Operating earnings for
Ventures business 6.1 32 -
Other operating loss — Corporate
___andother (40.4) 37.9) (13.2)
Total operating earnings $ 2986 $ 2762 $ 286.3
Interest income 8.2 5.2 4.0
Interest expense (33.7) (23.7) {24.3)
Equity in earnings of affiliates 32.6 37.6 39.4
Loss on investment (0.2) 0.7) -

Earnings beforeincometaxes $ 3055 $ 2046 $ 305.4

Total assets:
Total assets for
reporiable segments $3,259.9 $2,573.9 $2,340.8
Assets for other business units 112.7 38.3 38.4
All other 506.4 566.4 553.7

Total consolidated assets %8@0}3175@@93@

Equity investments for

reportable segments $ 682 % 655 % 496
Equity investments - All other 127.8 1115 102.9
Other investments not carried on

the equity method 85 2.1 6.2

Total investments $ 2045 $ 1791 $ 1587

No customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s
net sales in 2005, 2004 or 2003.
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continued

21. Lease Commitments

Tne Company rents real property and equipment under long-
term operaiing leases. Rent expense and sublease income for
all coerating leases are summarized as follows:

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003
Renis paid $33.8 G422 $444
Less: sublease income (0.7) (1.2) (1.2)

_Rent axpense, net 8331 _$4i0 9432

n
«Q
©
o1
.
@
Q
c
@
Q

Future minimum rent daymenis at December 37

under noncanceilable operating leases, having init
remaining iease terms in excess of ore yezay, are as follows:

(in millions) o o -
2008 $ 249
2007 ' 24.1
2308 246
200¢ 21.8
2010 23.%
Thereafter 81.6
Total minimum lease payments ol
Less: minimum sublease income 4.9}
Net minimum lease payments 7 %1780

in January 2005, the Company renewed its operating lease for
mechinery anc eguipment that is used in the Procass
Technologies segment. The term of ine lease is seven years. :n
1068, ihe Company eniered into a sale-leaseback fransaction
for $57.2 million for property that serves as the principal exec-
utive and administrative offices of the Company and its operat-
ing businesses. The term of this operating lease is 20 vears.

22. Environmental Costs

With the oversignt of environmentai agancies, the Company is
currently orenaring, has under review, or is implementing envi-
ronmental investigations and cieanup pians at severai currently
or formerly owned and/or operated sites, including Plainvilie,
Viassacnusetis. The Company continues {o investigate and
remediate contamination at Plainvilie under 2 1993 2greement
with the United States Environmente! Protection Agency (ZPA).
The Company coniinues to address decomimissioning issues at
Plainville uncer authority delegated by the Nuclear Reguiatory
Commission to the Commonwealth of Messachusetts.

n addition, as of December 31, 2005, 14 sites have been iden-
tifiec at which the Company balieves iiabiiity as a ootentially
responsitle party is probadle under the Comprehensive
=nvironmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1880, as emended, or similar state laws (collectively referred to
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as Superfund) for tha cleanup of contamination and naiural
resource damagss resuiting from the nistoric disposal of naz-
ardous substances alieged.y generated by the Company,
among others. Superfund imposes strict, joint and several lia-
bility under certain circumstances. in many cases, the doiiar
amount of the claim is unspecified and claims have basnr
asserted against a number of otner entities for the same relief
sought from the Company. 3ased on existing information, the
Company believes that it is & de minimis contributor of naz-
argdous substances at a number of the sites referenced above.
Subjecti to the reopening of existing settlemant agreements for
extraordinary circumstances, discovery of new information or
natural resource damages, the Company has seitied a number
of other cleanup proceecings. The Company has also
responded to information requests from EPA and staie regula-
tory authorities in connection with other Superiund sites.

The accruals for environmental cleanup-related costs reporied
in the consolicated balance sheets ai December 31, 2005 and
2004 were $18.0 million ana $19.1 million, respeciively, includ-
ing $0.1 mitlion at December 31, 2005 and 2004 for Superfund
sites. These amounts represent those undiscounied cosis that
the Company believes are probable and reasonasly estimabis.
Based on currently available information and analysis, the
Company’s accrual represenis approximeie'y 3¢% of what it
pelieves are the reasonably possinie environmental cleanup-
relaied costs of a noncapital nature. The estimate of reasonabdly
possidle costs is less certain than the probebis estimate upon
which the accruaiis based.

Cash payments for environmental cleanup-relzted maiters
were $1.2 miilion in 2005, $1.3 milion in 2004 and $1.8 millionin
2003. In 2003, the Company recognized a $2.C mitiion liabiity
for a faciiity in France.

For the past three-year neriod, environmental-related capitel
projects have averaged less than 10% of the Company’s iotal
capital expenditure programs, and the expense of environmen-
tal compliance (e.g., environmental testing, permits, consuli-
ants and in-house staif) was not material.

There can be no assurances that environmentai iaws end regu-
lations will no change or that the Company witll not incur signif-
ican* costs in the future to compiy with such laws and
regulations. 3ased on existing information and current environ-
mental laws anad reguiations, cash caymen?s for environmental
cieanup-related matters are projected to be $2.5 miliion for
2005, which has already been accrued. Further, the Company
anticipates ihat the amounts of capitalized environmential projecis
and the expense of environmenta! compliance wii aporoximaie
current levels. The Company has an Environmental, Healih

and Safety (EH&S) department that implements and assesses
compliance to policies, procedures and conirols ercund the
Company’s environmentai exposures and pessible liabilities.
These policies, procedures and controis are intended to assure
that the Corporate ZH&S depariment is aware of all issues that



may have a potential impact on the Company. While it is not
possible to predict with certainty, management believes envi-
ronmental cleanup-related reserves at December 31, 2005 are
reasonable and adequate, and environmeantal matters are not
expected to have a material adverse effect on financial condi-
tion. However, if these matters are resolved in a manner differ-
ent from the estimates, they could have a material adgverse
effect on the Company’s operating results.

23. Litigation and Contingencies

The Company is one of a number of defendants in numerous
proceedings that allege thai the plaintiffs were injured from
exposure to hazardous substances purportedly supplied by
the Company and other defendants or ihai existied on company
premises. The Company is elso subject to a number of environ-
mental contingencies (see Note 22, “Environmental Costs,” for
further detail) and is a defendant in a number of lawsuits cover-
ing & wide range of other matters. In some of these matters, the
remedies sought or damages claimed are substantial. While it
is not possible to predict with cartainty the ultimate outcome of
these lawsuits or the resolution of the environmental contin-
gencies, management believes, after consultation with coun-
sel, that resolution of these matters is not expected io have a
material adverse effect on financial condition. However, if
these matters are resolved in a manner different from manage-
ment’s current expectations, they could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s operating results or cash flows.

The Company is involved in a value-added tax dispute in Peru.
Management believes the Company was targeted by corrupt
officials within a former Peruvian government. On December 2,
1988, Engelhard Peru, S.A., (now Engelhard Peru S.A.C. en lig-
uidacion or “Engelhard Peru”), a wholly owned subsidiary, was
denied refund claims of approximately $28 million. The
Peruvian tax authority also determined that Engelhard Peru is
liable for approximately $63 million in refunds previously paid,
fines and interest as of December 31, 1999. Interest and fines
continue to accrue ai rates established by Peruvian law. The
Peruvian Tax Court ruled on February 11, 2003 that Engelhard
P=ru was liable for these amounts, overruling precedent to
apply a “form over substance” tneory without any determina-
tion of frauduient participation by Engelhard Peru. Engelhard
Peru filed a constitutional action against the Peruvian tax
authority and Tax Courti. On May 3, 2004, the judge in this
action ruled that none of the findings of the Peruvian tax
authorities were properly applicabie to Engelhard Peru based
on several grounds, including improper use of a presumption of
guilt with no actual proof of irregularity in the transactions of
Engelhard Peru. The government of Peru prevailed on appeal
to the Superior Court and prevailed again on appeal to Peru’s
Constitutional Court. Although management believes, based
on consultation with counsel, that this is an extracrdinary deci-
sion that is plainly inconsistent with the law and the facts, no
further appeal in Peru is likely to be productive. Management
believes based on consultation with counsel, that the maxi-
mum economic exposure is limited to the aggregate value of all

assets of Engelhard Peru. That amount, which is approximately
$30 mitlion, including unpaid refunds, has been fully provided
for in the accounts of the Company.

In late October 2000, a criminal proceeding alleging tax fraud
and forgery related to this value-added tax dispute was initi-
ated against two Lima-based officials of Engelnard Peru. In
September 2005, a Superior prosecutor concluded that there
was no basis for the criminal proceedings agzinst several
defendants, inciuding both officials of Engelhard Peru. Final
dismissal of those criminal charges rermains subject io judicial
review and determination of the Supreme Prosecutor.
Although Engelhard Peru is not a2 defendant, it may be civilly
liable in Peru if its representatives are found responsible for
criminal conduct. In its own investigation, and in detailed
review of the materials presented in Peru, management has
not seen any evidence of tax fraud by these officials.
Accordingly, Engelhard Peru is assisting in the vigorous
defense of this proceeding. As noted above, management
believes the economic exposure is limited to the aggregate of
all assets of Engelhard Peru, which amount has been fully pro-
vided for in the accounts of the Company.

On January 4, 2006, Scott Sebastian, who alleges thatheisa
stockholder of the Company, commenced a purported class
action on behalf of the stockholders of the Company against
the Company and all of its directors in the Chancery Division of
the New Jersey Superior Court for Middlesex County. The
complaint alleges that the defendants breached their fiduciary
duties in connection with their response to BASF’s proposal to
acquire the Company and seeks declaratory and injunctive
relief and damages. On January 4, 2006, Hindy Silver, who
alleges that she is a stockholder of the Company, commenced
a purported class action on behalf of the stockholders of the
Company against the Company and all of its directors in the
Chancery Division of the New Jersey Superior Court for
Mercer County. The complaint alleges that the defendants
breached their fiduciary duties in connection with their
response o BASF's proposal {0 acauire the Company and
seeks injunctive relief and an accounting. On January 17, 2006,
the plaintiffs in the Sebastian and Silver actions moved to
transfer the Sebastian action to the New Jersey Superior Court
for Mercer County and to consolidate the two actions in that
Court. The defendants cross-moved to stay the New Jersey
actions until the Delaware actions, described below, have been
resolved or, in the alternative, to dismiss the New Jersey
actions for failure to state a claim, and plaintiffs moved for
expedited discovery. Plaintiffs opposed defendants’ cross-
motions and requested leave to file an amended complaint if
the Court was inclined to grant defendanis’ motion to dismiss.
The proposed amended complaint adds, among other things,
allegations that the Schedule 14D-¢ filed by the Company with
the SEC fails to disclose material information that the pro-
posed amended complaint alleges is needed by Engelhard
shareholders o be able to make an informed decision con-
cerning whether to tender their shares to BASF. The proposed
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amended complaint seeks deciaratory and injunctive relief and
damages. Defendants opposed plaintiffs’ motion for expecited
ciscovery aind motion to amena their complaint. Argumeant cn
all motions and cross-motions was held on February 9, 20C8 in
the New cersey Superior Court for Mercer Courty. The Court
staied that the motion to consolidate would be granied and
took the other matters under advisement.

On January 5, 2003, Laura Beniamin and Sam Cohn, and on
January 8, 2003, Stewart Simon, all of whom purport to os
stockholders ¢f the Company, each commenced a purported
class action on banalf of the siockhelders of the Company
against the Comoany and aii of its direciors in the Defaware
Court of Chancery for New Castie County. Each complaint
alleged tnat tne defencants breached tneir figuciary duties in
connection witn their response tc BASH's proposal io acouire
the Company and sougnt injunctive rellel The Benjamis and
Cohn complaints also sought damages and the Simen com-
plaint sougnt an accounting. On January 13, 2003 these three
actions were consclidaied under ths czption inre: Tngeinard
Corporation Sharehoiders Litigation, Consolicated C.A.

No. 1871-N, in the Delaware Court of Chancery for New Cestie
County, and a Consolidatec Amended Complaint was filed and

24, Comprehensive Income

served which names the same defendants anc contains alle-
getions similar to inose made in the complaints initizily filad in
the underlying actions, ana seaks injunctive reief end dam-
ages. On the same day, plaintifis served a reguas? for produc-
tion of documents. On January 17, 2008, the court eriered an
crder governing the proteciion ana excnange ¢f confidential
information. On January 24, 2003, the Court enterec a casa
management order. Sefendanis have begun tc produce docu-
menis to plaintiffs. On January 25, 2003, with defencdanis’ con-
sent, the Court granted plaintifis leave tc file 2 Secend
Consolidated Amended Comptaint. The Second Consolicated
Amended Complaint adds, among oiner inings, alisgations
that the Schedule 140-8 filed Dy the Company with the SEC
falls to disclose materiai information concerning what ine
Company and its Board of Direciors are deing with respect fo
the exploration of strategic alternatives to 3ASF's oifer and faiis
o disclose information that is materizl to evailating the opinion
Merrill Lynch grovided to the Compeany's Board of Directors that
BASF’s offer is inadeqguate from a financial zoin? of view.

Tne Company and the individual defendants bellzve the claims
made in each of (he putative ciass actior suiis cescrided
ebove are without merit and intend to vigorously defend
against these suiis.

Changes in accumuiated other comorenensive income (loss) are as follows:

(in millions)

3Balance at December 31, 2002
Period cnange -

3alance at December_?fl, 2003
Periodchange - .
‘Balance at December 31 , 2004 o )
Periodchange -
_Balance at December 31,2005

The cash ilow derivative acdjustment is shown net of income tax
{expense) benefit of $(7.6) million, $1.7 mitiion and less than
$0.1 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The foreign currency transiation adjustments are not currently
adjusted for income texes as they relate to permanent invest-
ments in non-U.S. entities, nowever the balance as of
December 31, 2005 is shown net of income tax expense of
$5.1 million, related to the mark-to-market of the Company’s
net investment hedges.
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Minimum Total

Cash flow Fareign pension accumulated
derivative currency liabifity investment other
adjustment, iranslation adjustment, adjustmant, comprehensive
netoftax  adjustment netoftax  netoftax  income (loss)
${.2) $31.7) $83.1) $({C.2) $(115.2)

] (C.1) 77.8 2.1 C5 g8.3
(3 45.1 (32.0) 03 (159
_ ¢y %7 (080 0% 208
{1.8) 84.8 {78.0) - 5.0

AT IO N (13 O <2t/
$92 3348  $@87) % -  $ (447

The minimum pension Eability adjusiment is shewn net of
income tax (expenss;} benefit of $7.2 miliicn, $10.8 million and
$(8.3) million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The invastment adjustment is shown net of income tax
(expense) benefit of $0.2 million anc ${0.3) million in 2034 and
2003, respectively.



25. Supplemental Information

The following table presents certain supplementary information
to the Company’s “Consoclidated Statements of Cash Flows™:

Supplementéry Cash Flow Information

(in millions) 2005 2004 2003

Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 337 $ 269 $ 258

Income taxes o 44.0 55.9 46.2
Materials Services related: -
Change in assets and

liabilities — source (use):

Receivables $ 33 % (27 % 118
Committed metal positions (357.0) (144.8) 3418
Inventories 0.1 0.3 0.8
Other current assets 0.7 0.1 (0.2)
Other noncurrent assets 0.1 - -
Accounts payable 115 1241 4.6
Hedged metal obligations 346.5 8.6) (225.0)
Other current liabilities 2.6 - (26.2)
Net cash flows from changes in
assets and liabilites $ 62 $ (31.8) $1076
All Other:
Change in assets and liabilities -

source (use):
Receivables $(1262) $ 93 $ (8.1)
Inventories (73.0) (2.4) 19
Qther current assets 9.2) 3.9) 4.4
Other noncurrent assets 038 74 (29.6)
Accounts payable 82.4 (7.5) (23.4)
Cther current liabilities 30.0 (14.5) 0.4
Noncurrent liabilities (6.6) 177 57

Net cash flows from changes in

assets and liabilities $(101.8) $ 6.1 ${48.7)

The above changes in assets and liabilities exclude the impact
of foreign currency changes on existing balances. Changes in
foreign currency accounts are translated at appropriate aver-
age rates.

The following tables present certain supplementary informa-
tion to the Company’s “Consolidated Balance Sheets™

Supplementary Balance Sheet Information

{(in millions) L EOCAJS - 200_4
Other current assets:
Prepaid insurance $ 90 $ 93
Current deferred taxes 102.6 99.1
Fair value derivative instruments 14.9 10.5
Current assets from discontinued operations 0.1 53
Other B 18.8 16.5
Other current assets $1454 $1407

Other current liabilities:

Income taxes payable $ 622 $ 393
Payroli-related accruals 769 734
Deferred revenue 14 3.1
Interest payable 6.7 6.7
Non-income tax accruals 55 7.3
Restructuring reserves 0.1 1.9
Product warranty reserves 42 8.7
Fair value derivative instruments - 7.3
Accrued professional fees 4.8 5.2
Accrued insurance expense 7.6 3.8
Current liabilities from discontinued operations 1.0 1.0
Other 95.0 92.0

Other current liabilities $265.4 _$2§%

26. Subsequent Events

In January of 2006, BASF announced a tender offer for all

of the outstanding shares of the Company’s stock, for

$37.00 per share. Since then, the Company’s stock has
traded above $40.00 per share. As a result, many employees
and former employees exercised vested stock options result-
ing in proceeds of $59.7 million and an increase in the shares
cutstanding of 2.8 million shares as of February 21, 2006. As
a result of the BASF Offer, the Company was required to fund
a trust account for certain previously unfunded retirement
programs for current and former senior executives and direc-
tors, resulting in a cash payment to this trust of approximately
$111 million in January 20086. Should a change in control of
the Company occur at a price of $37.00 per share, additional
cash payments of approximately $85 million will be due to
certain employees.
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Our management is responsible for estabiishing and maintain-
ing adeguate internai controf over financial reporting, as such
termis defined in Excnange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Uncer the
supervision and wiln tne participation of cur managemen,
incluging our principai executive officer anc princinel financial
officer, we conducied an evaluatjon of the effectiveness of our
internel contro! over financial reporiing based on the criteria
gstabiished in iniernzal Coniro! — integrated Framework issued
ay the Commitiee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
“readweay \Jowmission {CCS0). Based 07’ ou eveluation undar
this framework, our management concludeag that our internal
conircl over financial reporting was effective as of

Zscemper 31, 2005.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our
internai control cver financial reporting as of December 31,
2005 has oeen audiied by =rnst & Young :_J_P, anin ,oeoende 7
registered punlic accounting firm, as stated in their report
which is included herein.

h

Rarry W. Perry

Chairman ana Cnief Executive Cfficer

//Zr;ﬂ//%@aféﬁ/ = %‘GMM\

Michae! A. Spercuto
Vice President and Chief Financiai Cfficer

The Company has filed certifications of its Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuanti to Section 302

of the Sarbanes-Cxley Act regarding disclosure conirols

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g)
and 15d-15(e)) of the Company as an exhibit to its Form 10-K.
In 2605, the Company also submitted the Chief Executive
Cificer’s certification regarding Corporate Governance listing
standards to the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) pursuant
to NYSE Listed Company Manual Section 3G3A.72(a).
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Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Engelhard Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of Engelhard Corporation as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, and the related consolidated statements of earnings,
cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Our responsibility is tg express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-
cial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
inciudes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above pres-
ent fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Engelhard Corporation at December 31, 2005 and
20C4, and the consolidated results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Engelhard Corporation’s internal controt
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on cri-
teria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated March 2, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

As described in Note 4 to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Company adopted Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (“Statement”) No. 143, Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations, effective January 1, 2003.

é/wvt ¥ LLP

Ernst & Young LLP
MetroPark, New Jersey

March 2, 2006

N
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The 3oard of Direclors and Shareholcers of
=ngeinard Cerporation

We have audiied management’s assessment, inciuded in the
accompanying Management's Report on [nternal Control Over
Financial Reporting, that Engelhard Corporation mainiained
effective internal controf over financial reporting as of
Secember 31, 2005, based on criteria established in internal
Cortrol - integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee of
Soonsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
CCSC criteria). Engethard Corporation’s management is
responsiole for maintaining effective internal control over
financiel reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internai control over financial reporting. Our responsiditity is
ic express an opinion on management's assessment ana an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal contro!
cverfinancial reporting based on our audit.

We cencucied our audit in accordance with the standards of
tne Public Company Accounting Oversignt 3oard {LUnited
Staies). Those siandards require that we plan and perform the
audil io odtain reasonadle assurancs about whether effective
internal control over financiai reporting was maintained in all
meterial respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
irg of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating man-
agement’s assessment, tesiing and evaluating the design and
ocerating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such otner procedures as we considered necessary in the cir-
cumstances. We believe that our audit brovides a reasonable
besis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporiing is a
2rocess designed o provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of finan-
cial statements for external purnoses in accordance with gen-
erally accepied eccourting principles. A company’s internal
control over financia!l reporting includes those policies anc cro-
ceciures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of recoras that, in
reasonable getail, accurately and fairiy reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide ree-
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scneble assurance tnat fransactions ere recerdac as neces-
sary to permit preparaticn of financial statements in accor-
dance wiin generaily accepied accounting pringin'es, and that
receinis and expanditures of the comany are teing made only
in eccordance with authorizetions of management and direc-
tors of the compeny,; and (3} provids reascnable assurance
regarding orevention or timely detection of Lneuthorized ecgui-
sition, use, or a’sposition of the compeny’s essets ihet could
nave 2 material effect on the financiel statements.

Becauss of ifs inherent iimitations, internal contrei cvarfin
ciai reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Al
orojections of a1y evaluation of e™fectiveress to fuiu:

are subjact to ine risk that controls may becom
Decause of changes in conciticns, or thatihed
ances with the policies or procediures may deter

in our opinion, management’s assessment tha
Corneration maintal :
reporiing as of Secember 31, 2085, is 1

{overfinancial

Il Bt | oy
iriy stated, in gl mate-

riai respacts, basea ont the CCSC critariz. Also, in our opinion,

=zngelnard Corporation mainiaired, in 2!l material respects,
effective internal control over financie! rencriing as of

December 31, 2005, vased on tne CCSO criteria.

1 ine stancards of the

We alsg nave sudited, in accerdance wit
Fubdlic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
tne 2205 consolidated financial statements ¢f Sngeinaid
Corporation and our report datecd March 2, 2005 exnressed an
ungualified opinior thereon.

[ o
SAREL

&'\\v// L

- , oY
Snst & Young LL?
MetroRark, New Jersey

March 2, 2005
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Board of Directors

Barry W. Perry1.5
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
Engelhard Corporation

Marion H. Antonini!34
Principal
Kohlberg & Company

David L. Burner25
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
Goodrich Corporation

James V. Napier235
Retired Chairman of the Board
Scientific-Atlanta, inc.

Henry R. Slack35
Chairman
Terra Industries Inc.

Douglas G. Watson!24
Chief Executive Officer
Pittencrieff Glen Associates

1 Executive Committee
(Barry W. Perry, Chairman)

2 Audit Committee
{Douglas G. Watson, Chairman)

3 Compensation Committee
(Marion H. Antonini, Chairman)

4 Nominating and Governance Committee
(Douglas G. Watson, Chairman)

5 Pension and Employee Benefit Plans Committee
(James V. Napier, Chairman)
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Elected Officers

Barry W. Perry
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Gavin A. Bell
Vice President,
Investor Relations

Arthur A. Dornbusch, Il
Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

Mark Dresner
Vice President,
Corporate Communications

John C. Hess
Vice President,
Human Resources

Mac C. P Mak
Treasurer

Alan J. Shaw
Controller

Michael A. Sperduto
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Edward T. Wolynic
Vice President and
Chief Technology Officer
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Operating Management

Frank A. Bozich, Jr.
Group Vice President,
Enierprise Technologies and Ventures

George C. Hsu

Vice President, Asia Pacific
Engelhard Corporation
President,

Engelhard Asia-Pacific, LLC

Eric P. Martens
Group Vice President and
General Manager, Materials Services

Michael T. McDonnell
Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Environmental Technologies

Millicent W. Pitts

Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Appearance and
Performance Technologies

Victor L. Sprenger

Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Process Technologies

David M. Wexler
Vice President,
Mergers and Acquisitions
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Office of Investor Relations

=ngelhard Corporation

101 Wood Avenue

P0. 3ox 770

iseiin, No 08830-0770
‘nvestor.Relations@sngelhard.com
1-800-458-9823

1-732-205-5000

Securities Listings

New York Sicck Zxchange (Symbol: EC)
Chicago 3card Octions Exchange
SWX Swiss Exchange (SWX)

SEC Form 10-K

Dividend Disbursing Agent, Dividend Reinvestment Agent,
Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar

Meilon investor Services LLC

20. 20x 3315

Scutn Hackensack, NJ 07605-1815
1-800-310-5891

or the hearing and speech impaired, ieiecommunications
Cevices for the deaf (YDD) are available at 1-800-231-5459.
Celiers from ouiside the United States may call at 1-201-328-8660.
www.meilon-investor.com

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Engeinarc Corporation offers shareholders the opporiunity to
participate in a conveniant and cosi-saving prograim that auto-
maticaliy reinvesis dividends in the purchase of additional
sheres of common stock. For infcrmation on the plan, contact
Miellon investor Services.
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Duplicate Mailings

Shareholders receiving multiple cooles of Engelnard renoris
can help reduce printing and mai'ing costs. Please netify us of
dup'icate mailings by providing the appropriate namas anc
account numbers to:

Mellon investor Services

Recoid Keeping

85 Challenger Road

Ridgefield Park, NJ 07630

(Notification will not affect dividend or proxy maitings.)

Trademarks

Procuct designations appearing in italics throughout this oubli-
cation are either registered or unregistered frademarks ana serv-
ice marks of =ngelthard Corporation and its various operations.

Additional Information

A comprenensive guide to company develooments, inclucing
current earnings reports, aividend information, stock price per-
formance and key investment. ratios, is avaiiadie on Engelnard’s
web site at www.engelhara.com. Click on investor Relations.

This annual repori is printac on daper enhance
Engelhara’s high-performance kaolin-based pi

Common Stock Data (unaudited)
As of February 28, 2008, there were 4,125 holders of record of

Engelhard’s common stock. The range of market orices and
cash dividends paid for each guarteny period were:

Cash
dividends
NYSE Market Price paid per
_____ -High - ?vx; sha{e
2005
First quarter $30.82 $28.64 $0.12
ccond quarter 31.37 27.68 0.12
Third quarter 29.96 27.35 0.12
Fourth quarter 31.11 2680 0.2
2004
First quarter $30.28  $28.68 $0.11
Second quarter 32.31 27.55 0.1
Third quarter 32.72 25.63 0.11
Fourth quarter 30.28 26.49 A










